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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 11 MARCH 2021  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Myburgh ,  good  

morn ing  eve rybody.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Good morn ing  DCJ.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A re  you ready?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes we a re  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   DCJ today we a re  go ing  to  s ta r t  w i th  

the  ev idence o f  Mr  Gama.   He i s  here .   You w i l l  f ind  Mr  

Gama’s  exh ib i t  in  Bund le  7  tha t  i s  Exh ib i t  BB28.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Gama has thus fa r  f i l ed  two  

a f f idav i t s  wh ich  we w i l l  obv ious ly  ask  you to  admi t  in to 

ev idence when he is  sworn  in .    

 But  perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  say  th is  by  way o f  

background i f  I  may?  You a re  aware  Cha i rperson  tha t  the  

par t ies  have reached an ag reement  to  the  e f fec t  tha t  we 

w i l l  a f fec t i ve ly  r ing  fence ev idence in  re la t ion  to  

locomot ives  and I  suppose i t  i s  impor tan t  fo r  me to  exp la in  

tha t  when we ta l k  about  ev idence  and locomot ives  we are  20 

ta lk ing  about  the  acqu is i t ion  o f  locomot ives  as  we l l  as  any 

t ransact iona l  adv i se  and agreement  and a lso  re loca t ion .  

 So e f fec t i ve ly  we  w i l l  no t  dea l  w i th  anyth ing  dea l ing  

w i th  locomot ives  today.   The agreement  i s  tha t  Mr  Gama 

we have prov ided h im wi th  what  we cons ider  to  be  the  
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re levant  par t s  o f  the  Fundudz i  Repor t  wh ich  we have 

inv i ted  h im to  dea l  w i th .   The agreement  i s  tha t  an  a f f idav i t  

w i l l  be  pu t  in  by  next  week Fr iday as  I  unders tand.  

 So i t  i s  ou r  in ten t ion  today to  dea l  w i th  four  main  

top ics  ou ts ide  o f  the  locomot ives .   

 The f i rs t  re la tes  to  Mr  Gama’s  re ins ta tement .  

 The second re la tes  to  GNS/Aba loz i .  

 The th i rd  re la tes  to  a l leged ass i s tance prov ided by  

Mr  Sagar  o f  McK insey to  Mr  Gama in  respect  o f  the 

comple t ion  o f  h is  NBA.  10 

 And then four th l y  i t  had been our  in ten t ion  to  dea l  

w i th  d r i ver  2  bu t  I  unders tand there  may be some issues 

f rom Mr  Gama’s  s ide .   I  w i l l  d iscuss tha t  w i th  my  learned  

f r iend over  the  tea  b reak hopefu l l y  we can come to  some 

ass is tance or  a r rangement .   Apparent ly  i t  i s  a l leged tha t  

there  is  s t i l l  some in fo rmat ion  ou ts tand ing  and apparent ly  

Mr  Gama wants  t o  c ross-examine Dr iver  No.2  so  tha t  m ight  

have to  be  pu t  on  ho ld  as  we l l .   Bu t  cer ta in ly  we can a t  

leas t  today dea l  w i th  re ins ta tement ,  GNA and Mr  Sagar.   

The benef i t  o f  tha t  as  we l l  i s  t ha t  a f te r  ou r  examinat ion  o f  20 

Mr  Gama and any  re -examinat ion  I  guess tha t  we w i l l  a l l  be  

in  a  pos i t ion  then  to  dea l  inso fa r  as  Mr  Gama pers is ts  w i th  

the  app l i ca t ion  to  c ross-examine Mr  Todd and tha t  shou ld  

be  someth ing  tha t  cou ld  be  determined qu i te  eas i l y  in  the  

l igh t  o f  our  examinat ion  o f  Mr  Gama.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  I  wou ld  imag ine  tha t  any re -

examinat ion  wou ld  have to  happen  when he has comple ted  

a l l  h is  ev idence.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Comple te  h is  ev idence.  

CHAIRPERSON:   On every th ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then as  you a re  aware  Mr  Gama 

as you know is  represented by  Counse l  he  is  here  i f  you  

wou ld  l i ke  h im to  p lace  h imse l f  on  record?  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   You may do so  f rom where  you are  

i f  your  m icrophone is  work ing .  

ADV OLDWADGE:   Good morn ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Morn ing .  

ADV OLD WADGE:    Mr  Cha i r.   O ldwadge KC;  

Johannesburg  Bar,  B r ian  Khan Incorpora ted  my a t to rneys.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV OLDWADGE:    And i t  i s  a  mat te r  o f  record  tha t  I  have  

been represent ing  Mr  Gama f rom the  outse t .   Thank  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you ve ry  much.   Okay you are  20 

ready?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes we a re .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morn ing  Mr  Gama.  

MR GAMA:   Good  morn ing  DCJ how are  you?  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am a l r igh t  how are  you?  
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MR GAMA:   Grea t  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good.   P lease  admin is te r  the  oa th  or  

a f f i rmat ion .  

REGISTRAR:   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record .  

MR GAMA:   S iyabonga Innocent  Gama.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any  ob jec t ion  to  tak ing  the  

prescr ibed oath?  

MR GAMA:   No.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you cons ider  the  oa th  b ind ing  on  your  

consc ience?  10 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you so lemnly  swear  tha t  the  ev idence  

you w i l l  g i ve  w i l l  be  the  t ru th ;  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  

bu t  the  t ru th ;  i f  so  p lease ra ise  your  r igh t  hand and  say,  so  

he lp  me God.  

MR GAMA:   So  he lp  me God.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am not  sure  whether  they wou ld  –  the  

t ranscr ibers  wou ld  have heard  Mr  Gama’s  responses le t  us  

doub le  check we might  have to  repeat  i t .   Must  do  i t  aga in?   

Okay I  am so r ry.   Jus t  speak up a  b i t  so  they can hear  and 20 

i t  can  be recorded.  

REGISTRAR:   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record .  

MR GAMA:   S iyabonga Innocent  Gama.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay no,  no  I  do  no t  th ink  tha t  i s  up  tha t  

i s  loud enough.   So t ry  –  t ry  aga in .  
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MR GAMA:   Okay  t ry  and speak c loser.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe c loser  to  the  m icrophone ja .  

MR GAMA:   S iyabonga Innocent  Gama.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any  ob jec t ion  to  tak ing  the  

prescr ibed oath?  

MR GAMA:   No.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you cons ider  the  oa th  b ind ing  on  your  

consc ience?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you so lemnly  swear  tha t  the  ev idence  10 

you w i l l  g i ve  w i l l  be  the  t ru th ;  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  

bu t  the  t ru th ;  i f  so  p lease ra ise  your  r igh t  hand and  say,  so  

he lp  me God.  

MR GAMA:   So  he lp  me God.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you;  you may –  you may s i t  down.   

Thank you Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Mr  Cha i rman.   Mr  Gama 

the  pro toco l  i s  I  am jus t  go ing  to  take  you to  your  a f f idav i t  

and get  them entered as  exh ib i t s .   I  know tha t  you w ish  to  

make an open ing  address.   You are  more  than we lcome 20 

tha t  le t  us  jus t  en ter  your  a f f idav i t s  fo rmal ly  and then… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I f  he  wou ld  l i ke  to  make an open ing  

address I  w i l l  p re fer  tha t  I  see wha t  he  is  go ing  to  say.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   F i rs t  because I  a l lowed Mr  Br ian  Mole fe 
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to  make an open ing  address w i thout  see ing  h is  s ta tement  

and i t  imp l ica ted  cer ta in  peop le .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sure .  

CHAIRPERSON:   So  –  so  I  wou ld  l i ke  tha t  you see i t ,  I  see  

i t  f i rs t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   So  tha t  we are  jus t  sure  tha t  i t  does not  

imp l ica te  anybody because i f  i t  does they  shou ld  

procedura l l y  f i rs t  be  served w i th  3 .3  Not ices .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   I t  i s  –  th is  i s  someth ing  we 10 

have ra ised w i th  ou r  learned f r iends.   Mr  Cha i rpe rson  

perhaps can I  suggest  then tha t  what  we do is  we get  Mr  

Gama’s  a f f idav i t s  en tered and then we perhaps  have a  

shor t  ad journment  where  we can be prov ided w i th  the  copy  

o f  Mr  Gama’s  open ing  address and  we can then read i t  and 

then reconvene.   Or  wou ld  you  l i ke  to  ra ther  see the  

open ing  address now? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  no ,  no ,  I  th ink  we can do i t  the  way 

you are  suggest ing .   I t  may be ca l led  an  open ing  address  

bu t  i t  may be tha t  whether  he  makes i t  now or  somet ime 20 

la te r  m ight  no t  make a  d i f fe rence but  o f  cou rse  he  or  h i s  

counse l  w i l l  ind ica te  whether  i t  makes a  l o t  o f  d i f fe rence or  

as  long as  he  gets  a  chance a t  some s tage to  –  to  make i t .   

Bu t  cer ta in l y  we can have h i s  a f f idav i t s  admi t ted .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   And then maybe take  a  shor t  

ad journment ,  we  look a t  i t .  I t  may be tha t  i f  i t  does not  

imp l ica te  anybody he can then go ahead.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   YEs.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And make i t .   I f  i t  does imp l ica te  

somebody i t  may be tha t  i t  m igh t  have to  wa i t  and o ther  

a r rangements  m ight  be  made fo r  another  t ime .   Mr 

O ldwadge do you  want  to  say anyth ing  in  th is  regard  or  no t  

rea l l y?  

ADV OLDWADGE:    Mr  Cha i r  I  fu l l y  respect fu l l y  in  10 

agreement  w i th  the  proposed way fo rward .   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay a l r igh t .   Thank you.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Mr  Gama you have 

Bund le  7  Exh ib i t  22  in  f ron t  o f  you .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr  Myburgh maybe pu l l  your  m ic rophone 

a  l i t t le  to  –  ja ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Mr  Gama I  th ink  i t  i s  the 

f i le  in  f ron t  o f  you.   I t  i s  Bund le  –  so r ry  Bund le  7  Exh ib i t  

28 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  you look on  the  – you look  a t  the 20 

sp ine  o f  the  f i le  t o  see wh ich  bund le  i t  i s  and then you can  

go ins ide  the  f i le  to  look  a t  the  ac tua l  exh ib i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  tu rn  to  

page 7  and there  you w i l l  f ind  an  a f f idav i t  and i t  s ta r ts  a t  

page 7 .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry.   I t  i s  Bund le  7  he?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bund le  7  Exh ib i t  28 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Where  do  I  f ind  Exh ib i t  28?  What  page? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I s  i t  no t  the  f i rs t  par t  o f  the  f i le  DCJ? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh is  i t  a f te r  BB24?  No tha t  i s  G igaba.   

I s  the  pag ina t ion  o f  the  bund le  no t  sequent ia l  because i f  

you te l l  me the  page number?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  i f  –  what  I  have is  Exh ib i t  28 

tha t  i s  then pag ina ted by  i t se l f .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.   Le t  me t ry  and look fo r  i t .   The 10 

best  i s… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   DCJ do you have Bund le  7?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Sor ry?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Do you have  Bund le  7?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes tha t  i s  the  one I  have.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  Bund le  7  has go t  a  tab  in  the  

f ron t  tha t  says BB28.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  have got  –  I  have –  I  have now reached 

Mr  Gama’s  a f f idav i t  wh ich  appears  on  page 116.   116 Mr  

Gama wou ld  be  the  b lack  116 a t  the  top  le f t  o f  the  page.   20 

D isregard  fo r  now the  red  numbers  on  the  r igh t  hand corne r  

un less  you are  spec i f i ca l l y  asked to  use i t .   I  must… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   DCJ I  am a f ra id  tha t  fo r  some reason 

we –  our  documents  are  d i f fe ren t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Perhaps I  cou ld  –  pe rhaps. . .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   I  00 :11 :04 the  same as tha t  dec is ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  do  no t  know what  –  okay how come your  

one is  d i f fe ren t  f rom mine Mr  Myburgh they shou ld  be  the  

same.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   May I… 

CHAIRPERSON:   The  one tha t  I  have in  f ron t  o f  me Mr  

Gama’s  a f f idav i t  i s  one deposed to  on  the  31s t  o f  August  

2020.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   O f  January  –  31 s t  January  2021.   I s  tha t  

–  i s  tha t  the  one you were… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   No.  

CHAIRPERSON:   No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   DCJ may I  ask  –  pe rhaps suggest  

tha t  we –  we take  a  shor t  ad jou rnment .  

CHAIRPERSON:   We take the  ad journment  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  I  can sor t  tha t  ou t  and we  can t ry  

and dea l  w i th  the  s ta tement  i ssue then.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  okay le t  us… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  w i l l  speak to  your  Reg is t ra r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Le t  us  do  tha t  because i t  i s  go ing  to  

cause prob lems i f  we do not  have  the  same th ings .   Okay  

we ad journ .  
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REGISTRAR:   A l l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  real ise that  Mr Gama’s opening 

statement was much longer than I  –  I  had ant ic ipated and 

going through i t  would take qui te some t ime so that  is why I  

sent  the message that  we wi l l  have to  start  and I  would have 

to read i t  some other t ime.  

 Having said that  I  do real ise that  there may be 

certain port ions or certain top ics that  he deals wi th that  may 10 

be might  not  create any problem so one opt ion is  that  i f  

there is  agreement about  certain port ions that  are not  – do 

not  impl icate anybody that  he could deal  wi th those and 

maybe can leave out  for now those that  may impl icate other  

people for later.  

 Or – or he could make the ful l  statement at  a later 

t ime when we have al l  had a look but  I  have seen that  he – I  

th ink he – there are port ions that  may impl icate certain 

people i f  I  am not  mistaken.   I  do not  know Mr Myburgh what 

is – are you able to say? 20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Chairperson we have ident i f ied I  th ink 

three or four points that  may certain ly be problemat ic.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  – f rom our s ide I  th ink the real  

int roductory stuff  about  the purpose of  the statement i f  Mr 
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Gama wishes to  complain about  how he has been t reated by 

the – by the Transnet ’s st ream we do not  have any di ff icul ty 

wi th him deal ing wi th that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We spoke wi th the invest igat ion,  his 

mot ivat ion to jo in Transnet,  h is achievements at  Transnet  so 

real ly up unt i l  page 6 we do not  have a di ff icul ty and that  

would probably fa l l  typical ly wi thin an opening statement.    

 But  then he deals wi th the – the var ious wi tnesses.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  seems to me also there I  suppose 

potent ia l  problem is that  real ly evidence and along the way 

he does say some things that  might  – they impl icate people 

outside of  the ordinary sort  of  course of  argie barg ie of  

l i t igat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So I  mean one possibi l i ty is  that  Mr 

Gama be afforded an opportuni ty of  perhaps just  par ing th is 

down and then we could go through the rest  of  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  in the course of  his evidence insofar  20 

as he is – so far as he may deal  wi th the evidence of  certain  

wi tnesses obviously that  is f ine but  one assumes that  he 

would deal  wi th  those wi th in  the context  of  the – of  his 

aff idavi t  which i f  they impl icate those people would have 

served on those people and – but  I  do not  know whether 



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 14 of 242 
 

what  he says here is conf ined towards his – in his aff idavi ts 

about  those wi tnesses or whether i t  might  be going beyond 

that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  you – we have ident i f ied two or  

three pages where we think he is going beyond that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   When – another – another possibi l i ty i f  

I  could suggest  th is.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We –we are conf in ing ourselves today.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   To reinstatement GNS, Abalozi ,  Mr 

Sagar and Dr iver 2.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Dr iver 2 may have to be put  on hold.   

The reinstatement in GNS topics effect ive ly deals wi th Mr 

Todd’s evidence.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Perhaps i f  Mr Gama deal  wi th the 

int roductory mater ia l  in his opening statement and then deal  20 

wi th whatever he wants to say about Mr Todd that  may be 

re levant  to the examinat ion that  we are going to undertake 

today Chai rperson and then we can see i f  we can deal  wi th  

the other th ings on the next  occasion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   Let  me hear what Mr Gama’s counsel  
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has to say.  

ADV OLDWADGE:  Mr Chair  thank you I  am somewhat in 

agreement albei t  not  fu l ly in agreement wi th  what has been 

proposed by Mr Myburgh.   I  do bel ieve that  the purpose of  

th is statement is an int roductory topic to th is opening 

statement is important .  

 There is and I  want to say this at  the outset  when 

there is ment ion made in the opening statement  of  the 

prejudice that  my cl ient  has suffered i t  is as a consequence 

of  non-provision of  informat ion and documentat ion by the 10 

legal  team. 

 I t  should not  be in any way interpreted that  i t  is  

aimed at  you Mr Chai r ;  none whatsoever and I  emphasise 

that  point .  

 His discontent  f lows over  into for instance the aspect  

concerning wi tness number 2.   My cl ient ’s approach to the 

matter is that  he has indicated that  he wishes to  cross-

examine but  he wants certain informat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV OLDWADGE:  You know so i t  f lows over.   So to 20 

compartmental ise as i t  were certain aspects of  the statement  

is di ff icul t .   But  I  do bel ieve and I  do not  wish to speak on 

his behal f  he has given me the nod thus far and i f  he is not  

in agreement wi th  me f rom where he is he wi l l  indicate to me 

but  I  do bel ieve what is important  is that  we deal  wi th that  
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second paragraph and i t  is a lso important  in the context  of 

the evidence that  has been given wi th reference to his 

performance and in part icular cer tain matters such as re-

instatement and in fact  the fact  that  he had been ident i f ied 

as being a candidate for the posi t ion of  Group Chief  

Execut ive Off icer of  Transnet.  

 I t  is important  to have regard to one part icular th ing 

and that  is his achievements wi thin  Transnet.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV OLDWADGE:    And speci f ical ly how he came through 10 

the ranks.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV OLDWADGE:   I t  is not  as though he parachuted in.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   No,  no.  

ADV OLDWADGE:   L ike some of  others did.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The achievements are qui te in  order 

because he does not  impl icate anybody in any wrongdoing in   

regard to that .  

ADV OLDWADGE:   Thank you Mr Chai r  might  I  make this 

f inal  submission … 20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV OLDWADGE:   On that  score of  matters.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV OLDWADGE:   The posi t ion is I  am not  ent i re ly sure that  

there is meri t  to a f inding that  he is  impl icated in the context  
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of  state capture others.   What my cl ient  does say is  that  in 

re lat ion to evidence that  has served before you he is not  

sat isf ied that  in a l l  mater ia l  respects i t  is accurate,  correct  

and t ruthful .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV OLDWADGE:   And I  th ink that  is the gis t  of  h is 

complaint .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  no,  no that  is f ine.   I  th ink what we 

should do and I  th ink we – we are al l  agreed at  least  on th is 

and I  say al l  because so far I  take Mr Gama I  take you 10 

Counsel  to be represent ing you but  I  wi l l  g ive you a chance 

to say something.  

 I  th ink i t  – I  th ink Mr Myburgh is probably correct  that  

maybe the f i rst  f ive and a hal f  pages could – do not  seem to 

impl icate anybody in anything.  

 Now I  have not  read the – the statement so I  do not  

know whether – here the statement  you make is correct  but  

maybe i f  he is ab le to cover  the f i rs t  f ive and a hal f  pages to 

go to just  – to deal  wi th those.  

 Insofar as the rest  of  h is statement  may appear to be 20 

his response to certain wi tnesses maybe we should say i f  

and when – I  mean those – a lot  of  those wi tnesses I  th ink 

wi l l  not  feature in today’s evidence because of  the scope 

that  has been agreed.  

 When he comes back i t  may be that  everything wi l l  
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have been cleared for him then to  make – to deal  wi th the 

rest  of  h is opening statement.   That  is – that  is what I  am 

thinking.  

 So in the end he wi l l  get  a chance to deal  wi th  them i t  

is a quest ion of  when and a lso the procedure.   I  th ink we 

would be largely in agreement wi th that? 

MR GAMA:   Mr – can I  add Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes thank you.   Mr Gama you wanted 

to say something? 

MR GAMA:   Yes I  just  want to add Chai r.   Chai rperson I  have 10 

not  spoken here about  anybody who has not  al ready spoken 

about me. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   So there are no new … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   There are no new names and also Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   When one provides context .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   To something that  someone said.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   I  am not  impl icat ing.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   I  am … 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  remember that  I  have not  read i t .  
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MR GAMA:   Yes.   But  I  am just  te l l ing you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   ( Inaudible).  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   The elegant  way to deal  wi th i t  would be to do 

those things that  we have agreed that  we should do.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   But  also I  th ink as Counsel  indicates to go 

further and talk a l i t t le bi t  about  the – the other  issues 

beyond page 6 about the topics that  we wi l l  be discussing 10 

here today.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   And then at  a later date I  can then come back.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   To the other issues but  here I  am not  impl icat ing 

people I  am giving context .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   To the unt ruth that  I  th ink I  have been vis i ted 

upon me.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No,  no,  no but  as I  understand you 20 

you – you have no quarrel  wi th the proposi t ion that  insofar 

as you seek to respond to certain wi tnesses that  can be 

done later.   Ja.   Okay alr ight .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Just  put  another way DCJ what I  had  -  

would be comfortable wi th.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Is obviously the int roductory mater ia l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Must  be deal t  wi th as you said the f i rst  

f ive and a hal f  pages.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then as I  have ment ioned.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We are going to deal  pr incipa l ly wi th 

Mr Gama’s re- instatement in GNS and that  relates to the 10 

evidence of  Mr Todd.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Gama does at  page 10 paragraph 

8.3 deal  wi th Mr Todd’s test imony and statement.   I f  he 

wishes to deal  wi th that  and obviously subject  to your 

di rect ion we would have no di ff icul ty wi th i t  because i t  then 

deals wi th the evidence we are about to t raverse now. 

CHAIRPERSON:   So our – af ter page 6 you say he deals 

wi th Mr Todd’s evidence f rom page 10.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   At  paragraph 8.3.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   And that  goes up to when? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  th ink i t  is  just  that  ser ies of  sub-

paragraphs.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh just  those 8.3? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Gama wi l l  correct  me i f  I  am wrong.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  i f  he refers to Mr Todd anywhere 

else we would have no di ff icul ty wi th  him.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja,  ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Deal ing wi th that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Okay that  is f ine.   Let  us do i t  that  

way then.  

ADV OLDWADGE:   Mr Chai r  just  one f inal  request .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV OLDWADGE:   From me i f  you wi l l  permit  me? 10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,   yes.  

ADV OLDWADGE:   I  a lso request  that  my cl ient  be permit ted 

to read out  into the record f rom page 14 which is the page 

that  incorporates  his conclusion in the matter i f  he wi l l  be 

permit ted to read that  into the record as wel l?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Okay.    

ADV OLDWADGE:   I t  is not  a long… 

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no I  th ink – I  th ink when I  just  glance 

at  i t  i t  looks l ike there should be no problem with that .  

ADV OLDWADGE:   Thank you Mr Chai r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.   Mr Myburgh I  do not  see – i t  

does not  look l ike there is a – should be a problem wi th that? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Just  glancing at  i t  br ief ly,  no 

Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.   Ja,  no,  no.   So – so basical ly  
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then i t  is f rom the beginning of  your statement Mr Gama up 

to paragraph 7.9.9 at  page 6 and then you can skip up to – 

go to  page 10 paragraph 8.3 deal ing wi th Mr Todd.  I f  there 

is anything else relat ing to Mr Todd elsewhere you can 

include i t  but  otherwise you then skip to your conclus ion and 

then at  a later date you wi l l  be able to cover what you are 

not  able to – we are not  able to al low you to cover today.   Is  

that  al r ight?  Okay al r ight .   I  g ive you the chance to do that  

now.  Just  switch on your microphone and you can keep i t  on 

throughout.    10 

MR GAMA:   Chai rperson thank you very much for the 

opportuni ty to deal  wi th those aspects.   I  hope i t  is not  

st ranger but  i t  is just  to give … 

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  is just  a matter of  t ime.  

MR GAMA:   Context  to those because of  t ime.   Chai rperson I  

would l ike to take the opportuni ty therefore to just  thank you 

for making – for al lowing me to make th is opening address.  

 F irst  I  would l ike to address the aspect  of  the 

prejudice that  has suffered by me at  the hands of  the 

commission’s legal  team.  20 

 Aspects relat ing to me being cal led to provide 

evidence.   I  w i l l  speak a l i t t le  bi t  about  why I  jo ined 

Transnet,  my history and then I  wi l l  ta lk  as we have agreed 

wi l l  r ing fence I  wi l l  ta lk a l i t t le b i t  about  one of  the 

wi tnesses.  
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 Chair  var ious test imonies have been provided by 

wi tnesses in th is commission who have sought to impl icate 

me.  But  what I  want  to do is I  want to highl ight  some of  the 

glar ing discrepancies,  some of  the inconsistencies in thei r 

test imonies,  some of  the improbabi l i t ies and some of  the 

fals i t ies that  re late to i t .  

 But  f i rst  I  start  wi th the commission’s legal  team.  

The commission has been tasked with the responsibi l i ty to  

interrogate matters in the ir  search for the t ruth.   However the 

legal  teams are set  that  they would not  merely presume a 10 

part icular set  of  facts.  

 Witnesses may give di fferent  even contradictory 

vers ions in relat ion to a part icular factual  al legat ion or set  of  

facts.  I t  is therefore the funct ion of  the commission and 

yoursel f  Chai rperson the Commissioner to consider  al l  the 

re levant  mater ia l  and any and al l  vers ions in  the search for  

the t ruth.  

 I  would l ike to address the commission on the issue 

of  the prejudice which has suffered at  the hands of  the legal  

team since May 2019 up to the present  day.  20 

 Al though in recent  days things have improved 

dramat ical ly.   When I  f i rst  addressed and engaged the 

commission in May 2019 i t  is when I  received my second 

Rule 3.3 Not ice.  

 I  set  out  the fa i lure of  the legal  team in terms of  
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adequately informing me as a wi tness in terms of  what I  

needed to do to  test i fy at  the commission and also in  

impl icat ing me and conduct  which al legedly forms part  of  

state capture.  

 The fai lure to provide me with  suff ic ient  not ice 

severely pre judiced me as I  was of ten caught unaware that  

such a l legat ions were being level led against  me. Somet imes 

I  would wake up and turn on the television and there is 

somebody who was speaking about me and I  do not  even 

have the Rule 3.3 Not ice.   Somet imes I  get  i t  two weeks 10 

later.   Somet imes I  do not  get  i t  at  a l l .  

 So by way of  example maybe I  should just  skip  that  in 

the interest  of  t ime but  short ly af ter  the second Rule 3.3.  

Not ice was served on me my at torneys have been engaging 

and in constant  communicat ion wi th the commission and the 

evidence leaders concerning the wi tness statements and the 

documents referred to in such statements.  

 Between May 2019 and September 2020 we got  one 

standard 00:18:30 f rom the commission and we acknowledge 

receipt  of  your communicat ion our legal  team wi l l  look at  and 20 

that  is i t .   And there was never any fol low up as a resul t  of  

that .  

 By engaging wi th the commission at  every turn  

whenever there were wi tnesses I  demonst rated my 

wi l l ingness to par t ic ipate in the inqui ry wi th a clear proviso 
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that  I  required to  be provided wi th  the documents and facts 

to by the wi tnesses t imeously in order to be able to  test  or  

chal lenge thei r  vers ions i f  and when necessary and to 

exercise my r ight  in terms of  inter a l ia Rule 3.4 of  the Rules.  

 The commission has at  al l  re levant  t imes been aware  

of  the fact  that  I  take the al legat ions against  me ser iously 

and do not  appreciate being ambushed by the tact ics that  

have been qui te  evident ly in employed by the evidence 

leaders tasked with al legat ions concerning Transnet  and 

mysel f .  10 

 One such example is the late provision of  certain 

reports which have been read into the record.   Numerous 

requests by my at torneys of  record for important  and 

re levant  documents including wi tness statements,  aff idavi ts 

and t ranscr ipts have gone unanswered as I  have indicated.  

 Now i t  is regret table Chai r  that  the commission 

Secretar iat  or legal  teams have conducted themselves in a 

way where you f ind that  the provision of  matter  that  is  

sought f rom the commission for  instance the request  for 

copies of  my diary dur ing my tenure at  Transnet .   I  have 20 

asked for i t  s ince September 2020.  

 I t  cannot be d i ff icul t  Chai r  to f ind a diary.   I t  cannot 

be di ff icul t  to f ind certain minutes of  meet ings that  I  have 

indicated took place at  Transnet  and I  have g iven dates to  

say these meet ings took place on these dates in the minutes 
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there is th is document.   I t  cannot be too di ff icul t .  

 So I  st i l l  have not  received copies of  my diary despi te  

my at torneys request ing this on numerous occasions.   We 

have been given something l ike meet ing requests which is of  

no use to me to deal  wi th – wi th i t  and being told that  no that  

is the only th ing that  we have which is an aspect  of  your 

diary.  

 I  do bel ieve Chai r  that  in the ordinary course  such 

diary is spel t  somewhere wi thin the records of  Transnet i t  

must  be.    10 

 On 21s t  of  October 2018 the commission served the 

f i rst  Regulat ion 3.3 Not ice in relat ion to me which was by – a 

statement by Barbara Hogan.  I t  served to inform me that  I  

had possibly been impl icated by the evidence of  Hogan and 

that  I  was ent i t led to at tend the hear ing of  her evidence 

which would be presented.  

 This was the f i rst  t ime that  I  had engaged with the 

commission.   Fol lowing on f rom that  f i rst  not ice as I  have 

indicated i t  went  quiet  unt i l  24 Apr i l  2019 when I  received 

that  second Rule – Regulat ion 3.3 that  I  have just  discussed 20 

wi th you.  

 The not ices came with a huge body of  documentat ion 

and almost  also – there was also outstanding documentat ion 

– a lot  of  i t  which was requested by me and my legal  team on 

numerous occasions.  
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 And as I  have ind icated the informat ion was just  not  

forthcoming and there has been informat ion for instance 

where I  have asked the commission that  I  saw my name 

being ment ioned that  there were certain vaul ts somewhere in  

Gauteng and that  I  was an owner of  a vaul t  and I  have asked 

for informat ion f rom the commission relat ing to that .   A l l  I  get  

is that  the legal  team is going to come back to me about i t .  

 But  these are ser ious al legat ions that  are being 

level led against  you when you know of  no such but  your 

name gets dragged and tainted into those things.  10 

 Chairperson in November 2020 I  have received my 

second Regulat ion 10.6 Not ice which cal led upon me to 

provide an answer wi thin 21 days to deal  wi th the test imony 

of  Siyabulela Mapoma and Christopher Todd.  That  test imony 

in respect  of  Regulat ion 10.6 sought  to  impl icate me in 

misconduct  and f raud.  

 I  deny any and al l  a l legat ions Chai rperson of  

misconduct  and i t  – as i t  re lates to state capture in the 

st rongest  terms.  

 Ul t imately on 8 t h February 2021 I  received the 20 

summons to at tend the commission in order to  provide 

evidence and to be quest ioned regard ing my aff idavi ts of  29 

and 31s t  January respect ful ly  and to  00:24:07 to 

approximately 20 matters under invest igat ion and ranging 

f rom Transnet ’s acquisi t ions,  locomot ives,  internat ional  t r ips 
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which afferent ly coincided wi th t r ips of  the Gupta fami ly.  

 Chairperson I  just  want to share wi th you why I  

decided to jo in the state owned ent i ty and part icular ly 

Transnet in 1994 af ter having had a promising career in 

banking which inc luded a st int  in Wal l  St reet  in New York.  

 At  the dawn of  our democracy Chai r  I  was convinced 

that  i t  was my duty to cont r ibute what business ski l ls I  had to 

the growth and development of  a new count ry.   An 

opportuni ty which I  be l ieve is not  a fforded to many people.  

 So addressing the nat ional  quest ion f rom a 10 

perspect ive of  creat ing a moderately prosperous nat ion has 

always been my guiding object ive.   

 The concept of  helping to bui ld a new count ry 

therefore was an exci t ing proposi t ion post  the success of  the 

f i rst  democrat ical ly held elect ions in  our country.   

 At  the heart  of  th is exci tement on my part  was the 

possibi l i ty to cont r ibute to the aspi rated dismant l ing of  the 

immoral  apartheid system.  

 And too to create a new society where redress and 

the redist r ibut ion of  weal th would help to br ing about many 20 

previously marginal ised people especial ly black people and 

women to the mainframe of  the economy moving them from 

the per iphery to the cent re.  

 I  was convinced that  Transnet  had the capabi l i ty to  

contr ibute substant ia l ly to a sustainable development heal th 
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state.   I  bel ieved as I  st i l l  do that  SOC – SOE’s can make a 

contr ibut ion towards moving the masses of  our people f rom 

the per iphery to the cent re.  

 The major i ty  who are largely part ic ipants in the 

second economy of  have-nots have the possibi l i ty to be 

assisted to  move towards the f i rst  economy through 

deployment of  state resources they are targeted order ly and 

considered way.  

 Training ski l ls  development the promot ion of  suppl ier  

development hubs are at  the foref ront  of  the nat ional  10 

in i t iat ive to improve the product ive capaci ty of  our country.  

 In al l  my deal ings Chair  I  have pract iced pr inciples of  

fa i rness,  pr inciples of  ethical  leadership and I  have played 

pivota l  roles in the redress of  the growth and equal i ty in our  

count ry and especial ly as i t  re lates to youth employment and 

business opportuni t ies.  

 Those who have worked wi th  me wi l l  at test  to the 

posi t ive energy that  I  have brought into the workplace to  

inspire young people to st r ive for excel lence through 

bel ieving in onesel f  in order for them to succeed.  20 

 So I  could never stand by and ignore the immoral i ty  

of  the concentrat ion of  our economy on a few leaks.   Our 

count ry Chairperson needs to cont inue the conversat ion of  

how more people can part ic ipate in the economy especial ly 

st rategies to address youth unemployment and to give hope 
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to those who have never enjoyed the d ividend of  a  stable 

democracy.  

 We must cont inue the conversat ion of  how we can 

uni te our div ided count ry by addressing the Nat ional  

quest ion you wi l l  I  am sure Mr Chai rman we agree 

Chairperson that  the goal  of  a uni ted nat ion l iv ing 

prosperously under a const i tut ional  democracy remains a 

dream.  

 I  now turn br ief ly and indeed not  exhaust ively to deal  

wi th my achievements that  I  obta ined dur ing my tenure at  10 

Transnet.  

 My career in Transnet started in 1994 Mr Chai r  there 

are some who would want you to bel ieve that  i t  started in – 

when Minister Gigaba assumed the posi t ion of  Min ister of  

Publ ic Enterpr ises i t  is not  t rue.  

 I  have worked as a senior  execut ive at  Transnet  

under var ious Ministers includ ing the late Minister Stel la  

Siqcau,  Minister Jeff  Radebe, Min ister  Alec I rwin,  Minister  

Br iget te Mabandla and Hogan pr ior to Gigaba’s appointment.  

 Chairperson dur ing this t ime I  worked as a senior  20 

execut ive under many chief  execut ives and also I  worked as 

a chief  execut ive mysel f  of  var ious divis ions wi thin Transnet .   

But  also there were Group Execut ives such as Sakhe 

Matozo,  Maf ika Mkwanazi ,  Maria  Ramos and last ly Br ian 

Molefe that  I  served.  
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 When I  was appointed as the Chief  Execut ive of  

Spoornet  which is the largest  div is ion of  Transnet  I  was 

speci f ical ly approached by the then Group Chief  Execut ive 

Maria Ramos in  2005 to intervene and apply my sk i l ls and 

expert ise to effect  a turnaround for Spoornet .  

 I  welcomed the opportuni ty because i t  was part  of  

my dream unfo ld ing.   In the year that  I  jo ined Spoornet  they 

had made a loss of  R100 mi l l ion despi te a turnover of  some 

R13 bi l l ion at  the end of  March and to me i t  was a t ravesty 

that  in  the  year  tha t  I  have jo ined  Spoornet ,  they  have  10 

made a  loss  o f  hundred mi l l ion  desp i te  a  tu rnover  o f  

R 13 b i l l i on  a t  the  end o f  March.   And to  me i t  was t roub led  

tha t  you cou ld  have such a  huge  tu rnover  and no t  make  

money,  no t  make a  pro f i t .  

 And i t  was one o f  the  th ings tha t  I  dec la red to  

everybody tha t  we w i l l  no t ,  no t  make a  pro f i t  aga in .   So 

f rom tha t  day onwards,  we worked hard ,  16  to  18-hours  a  

day to  make sure  tha t  we tu rn  around tha t  bus iness.    

 The fo l low ing year. . .   Le t  me jus t  say  tha t  du r ing  

the  preced ing  pe r iod ,  the  f i ve  year  per iod  be fore  I  went  to  20 

Spoornet ,  I  had been runn ing  the  Por t  Author i t y  D iv is ion  o f  

Transnet  wh ich  o f  the  ladders  con t r ibu ted  to  p ro f i tab i l i t y  in  

the  Transnet .    

 Dur ing  2007,  i t  was two years  a f te r  I  had been 

appo in ted  a t  Spoornet ,  the  d iv is ion  was renamed Transnet  
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Fre igh t  Ra i l ,  CFR.   I t  a lso  became the  l a rgest  cont r ibu tor  

to  the  pro f i t s  o f  Transnet  in  2008  wh ich  was th ree  years  I  

jo ined.  

 So under  my s tewardsh ip ,  TFR over took the  Por t  

Author i t y  D iv is ion  and became the  lead ing  d iv i s ion  in  

Transnet  in  te rms  o f  the . . .   I  have documented some o f  the 

successes tha t  I  and my team managed to  br ing  to  the 

Ra i lways Act  2008.    

 The success can  be a t t r ibu ted ,  Cha i rperson,  to  

our  p roper  unders tand ing  o f  Transnet ’s  opera t ion  wh ich  we  10 

documented and  wh ich  cont r ibu ted  to  a  sus ta inab le  

overa l l . . .  

 I f  I  were  to  h igh l i gh t  a  few there  m i les tones and 

ach ievements  du r ing  my tenure  a t  Transnet ,  i t  wou ld  be  

noted tha t  Transnet  became the  f i rs t  ever  SOE to  be  

accred i ted  and cer t i f ied  as  a  top  employer  by  the  Top  

Employer ’s  Ins t i tu te .  

 CFR won the  best  A f r i can Ra i lway Opera tor  

Awards fo r  two years  runn ing  between 2011 and 2012.   I  

was the  Nat iona l  Bus iness Leader  o f  the  Year  in  2008.   I  20 

was a lso  the  Young Bus iness Leader  o f  the  Year  in  2004  

wh ich  is  awards tha t  a re  awarded by  the  Nat iona l  Bus iness 

Awards.  

 A t  TFR in  con junct ion  w i th  the  G lasgow 

Caledon ian  Un ive rs i t y  and the  Un ivers i t y  o f  Johannesburg  
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wh ich  spearheaded and in t roduced the  f i rs t  ever  un ive rs i t y  

accred i ted  ra i lway qua l i f i ca t ion  in  Opera t ions Management  

up  to  master ’s  leve l .    

 We launched the  f i rs t  ever  Ch ie f  Execut ive  

Ta len t  Nat iona l  P rog ramme for  fu tu re  leaders  and we  

pr ided ourse l ves  in  ach iev ing  a  year-on-year  g rowth  and  

revenue and p ro f i t  a lways fa r  above CPI .  

 We won var ious  log is t i cs  na t iona l  awards and  

even in te rnat iona l  acco lades fo r  the  longest  t ra ins  375. . .  

t ra ins ,  as  an  example .   I  have been inducted,  Cha i rperson,  10 

to  the  G loba l  Ha l l  o f  Fame fo r  my  cont r ibu t ion  to  work  in  

the  Mar i t ime Sector.    

 I  have a lso  he ld  pos i t ions  as  the  Pres ident  o f  

bo th  the  Pan A f r i can Board  Assoc ia t ion  be tween 2003 and 

2004 wh ich  is  the  cont inenta l  assoc ia t ion  w i th  a l l  boards in  

A f r i ca .    

 I  was a l so  the  Pres ident  o f  the  Un ion  A f r i can 

Ra i lways between 2006 and 2009 and I  ho ld  the  t i t le  o f  

L i fe t ime Pres ident ,  Honour  and L i fe t ime Pres ident  o f  the 

Ra i lway.  20 

 In  2003,  Cha i rpe rson,  in  Durban we hosted the  

Wor ld  Por t  Conference wh ich  was the  f i rs t  t ime tha t  th is  

t ype o f  conference had ever  been hosted by  on  the  

cont inent  o f  A f r i ca .  

 I  now tu rn ,  Cha i rperson,  to  the  tes t imony o f  the  
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repor t .   Cha i rperson,  Todd sought  to  m is lead the  

Commiss ion  to  the  e f fec t  tha t  I  was a t  TFR not  on  mer i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry.   Jus t  repeat  tha t  sentence.  

MR GAMA :    He sought  to  m is lead the  Commiss ion  to  say 

tha t  I  was a t  TFR not  on  mer i t s  bu t  because Gigaba had  

handp icked me so  tha t  I  can con t r ibu te  to  the  pro jec t  o f  

what  i s  now known as S ta te  Captu re .  

 A phenon ium,  Cha i rperson,  where  you as 

Cha i rperson,  a re  requ i red  to  make a  de terminat ion  as  to  

h is  de format ion  where  you are  requ i red  to  make a  10 

determinat ion  as  to  th is  na ture ,  fo rm and contex t  as we l l  

as  what  cha racte r ise  th is  and i f  i t  i s  ex is ts  and who the  

key-p layers  are .    

 Todd ’s  content ion  is  tha t  I  d id  no t  qua l i f y  fo r  the  

job  o f  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  a t  Transnet  bu t  he  does not  

ind ica te  what  he  bas is  h i s  fa lse  asser t ions  on .   He has not  

p ro fessed to  the  ra i l  o r  a  po r t ’s  pe rson who know what  the  

qua l i f y  the  person fo r  the  post  o r  the  job  as  the  Group  

Ch ie f  Execut ive  o f  Transnet .    

 I  th ink  tha t  h is  a l legat ions a re  worse  than fa lse .   20 

They are  v ind i c t i ve  and they are  v ind i c t i ve  because Todd 

was invo lved in  my d isc ip l inary  hear ing  in  2009  

rep resent ing  the  company and I  w i l l  come back to  tha t  la te r  

in  my tes t imony Cha i rperson.  

 Todd has never  had s igh t  o f  my per fo rmance 
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ra t ings  over  the  years  ye t  he  deems h imse l f  an  exper t  and  

has persona l  knowledge o f  my pe r fo rmance. . .  a t  Transnet  

wh ich  he  knows noth ing .  

 I t  shou ld  be  noted tha t  Transnet  has a  

Per fo rmance Management  System which  erad ica tes  non-

per fo rmance.   So i f  I  had non-per fo rmed I  wou ld  have 

known about  i t .   I  wou ld  no t  have been there .  

 But  s ign i f i can t ly,  Todd makes fa lse  asser t ions  

tha t  there  was no  ev idence regard ing  the  bas i s  upon wh ich  

the  Board  o f  Transnet  re ins ta ted  me wh ich  has now been 10 

cont rad i c ted  by  a  number  o f  w i tnesses and on a  number  o f  

occas ions and even by  h imse l f  as  he  successfu l l y  f i l es  

d i f fe ren t  a f f idav i t s  to  the  Commiss ion .  

 I  w i l l  sk ip  my o ther  cont r i bu t ion  Cha i r  to  another  

day.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR GAMA :    And. . .   But  Cha i r,  I  must  ind i ca te  t o  you,  

Cha i rperson,  today I  am f ina l l y  de l igh ted  to  have the  

oppor tun i ty  to  address you.   On a l l  o f  the  mat te rs  tha t  have  

been brought  to  the  a t ten t ion  o f  the  Commiss ion  20 

concern ing  myse l f  and I  be l ieve  tha t  you w i l l  d is t i l  the  t rue  

s ta te  o f  a f fa i r s  f rom the  fa l s i t ies  t ha t  have been advanced 

about  me befo re  you.    

 There  are  s t i l l  many issues tha t  are  ou ts tand ing  

tha t  I  wou ld  w ish  to  address in  th is  fo rum.   However,  I  t ru ly  
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be l ieve  tha t  my vers ion  and na r ra t ion  o f  events  shou ld  be  

pre fe r red  or  above tha t  o f  journa l i s ts ’ na r ra t ions tha t  have 

been made by  peop le  such as  Todd.  

 I  be l ieve ,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  you a re  env ied  w i th  

a  des i re  to  de termine t ru th  and to  remove in jus t i ce ,  tha t  

you w i l l  be  fa i r  to  a l l  o f  us  who have appeared before  you  

and more  so  o f  those o f  us  who have been un jus t l y  

accused by  peop le  who have ident i f ied  us ,  peop le  who 

have def ined us  and as  the i r  enemies where  to  be  ta in ted  

and to  be  de f i led  w i thout  p rov id ing  the  Commiss ion  w i th  10 

ac tua l  ev idence.  

 I  have come here ,  Mr  Cha i rperson,  in  o rder  to  

p rov ide  you w i th  an  honest  vers ion  o f  events  so  as  to  

ass is t  the  Commiss ion  in  i t s  f ind ings.   Transnet ,  as  a  

d iscern ,  was my l i fe long pass ion  and p lace o f  emp loyment  

and i t  p rov ided me and my  fami ly  w i th  su f f i c ien t  

sus tenance.  

 The success o f  Transnet  was my labour  o f  love  

and I  wou ld  never  do  to  Transnet  anyth ing  tha t  d id  no t  

advance i t s  g rowth  and deve lopment .    20 

 I  have met  and worked w i th  more  than 60 000 

co l leagues a t  Transnet  who in  some shape o r  fo rm and  

whethe r  to  a  lesser  o r  to  a  greater  ex ten t  re l ied  upon on 

my exper t i se  or  who re l ied  on  my  in tegr i t y  and who re l ied  

on  my commi tment ,  and tha t  o f  the  count less  ha rdwork ing  
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ind iv idua ls  who were  w i th  me day in ,  day ou t  and as  I  have 

ind ica ted ,  most  days a t  Transnet  tu rns  in to  n igh ts  wh i le  we 

advanced and p ro tec ted  Transnet ’s  in te res t .  

 My des i re  to  con t r ibu te  to  the  bu i ld ing  o f  a  new 

nat ion  wou ld  be  incomple te  i f  Transnet  were  no t  to  succeed 

in  i t s  quest  to  fac i l i ta te  we l l -c lass  log is t i cs  to  s t rengthen  

our  count ry ’s  supp ly  cha in .    

 A successfu l  Transnet  to  me wou ld  no  doubt  

cont r ibu te  to  the  ob jec t i ves  o f  c rea t ing  a  susta inab le  and a  

capab le  deve lopmenta l  s ta te .   I  thank you Mr  Cha i rperson.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you Mr  Gama.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You w ish  to  say  anyth ing  in  response to  

any aspect  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Not  a t  th is  s tage.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Not  a t  th is  s tage?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    We may la te r  say  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   No,  I  w i l l  –  I  jus t  want  to  touch on  

a  few mat te rs ,  maybe two or  th ree .   Thank you  fo r  your  

s ta tement  Mr  Gama and thank you  fo r  coming to  pa r t i c ipa te  20 

in  the  Commiss ion  and to  pu t  you r  vers ion  and to  p resent  

yourse l f  fo r  ra t ion ing  on  any o f  the  mat te rs  tha t  the  

Commiss ion  is  look ing  a t .  

 I  jus t  want  to  say someth ing  about  the  

Commiss ion ’s  Lega l  Team and your  compla in ts  a re  about  
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p re jud ice .   I t  may be tha t  Mr  Myburgh in tended do ing  so  

f rom the  po in t  o f  the  Lega l  Team and he may do so  or  say  

someth ing  a t  some s tage but  I  wan t  to  say someth ing .  

 To  the  ex ten t  tha t  you were  no t  g iven documents  

tha t  you shou ld  have been g i ven  or  you were  no t  g iven 

t imeous ly  documents  tha t  you shou ld  have been g iven by  

the  t imeous ly,  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  tha t  s i tua t ion  tha t  i s  no t  

the  way the  Commiss ion  w ishes to  opera te .  

 But  I  must  say  tha t  desp i te  the  Commiss ion ’s  

best  e f fo r ts  and  the  Lega l  Team’s  best  e f fo r ts  and the  10 

Secre tar ia t ’s  bes t  e f fo r ts ,  there  have been occas ions w i th  

d i f fe ren t  w i tnesses and d i f fe ren t  imp l ica ted  persons,  there  

had been occas ions where  th ings  have not  happened the  

way they shou ld  have been.    

 So the  acknowledgement  can be g i ven and i t  has  

happened open ly  and so  on ,  and  you may or  may  not  be  

aware  tha t  there  have been occas ions where  I  have been  

harsh  on the  Lega l  Team when some o f  the  fa i lu res  have  

happened.    

 So w i th  regard  to  the  spec ia l  re fe rence to  what  20 

happened in  your  case,  I  m igh t  no t  be  aware .   I  am jus t  

speak ing  in  genera l  tha t  tha t  – there  had been occas ions  

when such fa i lu res  have occur red .   Somet imes w i th  an  

exp lanat ion  tha t  ge ts  g i ven wh ich  i s  sa t is fac tory,  

somet imes not  sa t is fac tory.   So.  



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 39 of 242 
 

 Bu t  we d id ,  as  you may be aware  or  a t  leas t  you r  

lega l  team may be aware  is  tha t ,  when we d ra f ted  the  ru les  

we inc luded a  prov i s ion  tha t  says  i f  any  person be l ieves  

tha t  they have not  been g i ven adequate  no t ice  i n  te rms o f  

he  ru les ,  they may app ly  to  the  Cha i rperson fo r  such a  

re l ie f  as  wou ld  undo tha t  p re jud ice  tha t  they may have 

su f fe red  o r  tha t  they may fear  tha t  they w i l l  su f fe r.  

 Now,  o f  course ,  t ha t  i s  jus t  a l l  abras i ve .   I t  i s  no t  

–  i t  m igh t  no t  be  very  c lear  bu t  i t  re f lec ts  tha t  in ten t ion  tha t  

i f  there  i s  some pre jud ice  tha t  anybody has su f fe red ,  we 10 

wou ld  l i ke  to  look  a t  how we can mi t iga te  tha t  o r  how tha t  

can be addressed .    

 Of  course ,  you have sa id  tha t  in  recent  t imes  

there  has been a  change o f  a t t i tude in  te rms o f  the  Lega l  

Team prov id ing  in fo rmat ion .   So tha t  I  have noted but  I  

must  a l so  say tha t  there  was a  t ime in  the  l i fe  o f  the 

Commiss ion  when the  Transnet  work  s t ream,  wh ich  is  the 

work  s t ream under  wh ich  you fa l l ,  had cer ta in  cha l lenges  

because some – there  were  changes in  the  Lega l  Team tha t  

was hand l ing  Transnet  and tha t  took some t ime.    20 

 Mr  Myburgh was not  a lways here .   He jo ined the  

Lega l  Team on ly  f rom a  ce r ta in  t ime,  las t  yea r.   So there  

had been –  i t  had –  the  Transnet  work  s t ream had been 

hand led  by  o the r  peop le  be fore .   So tha t  a lso  may have 

caused some p rob lems and maybe tha t  m ight  exp la in  why  
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a t  some t ime you  might  have rece ived le t te rs  tha t  says the  

Lega l  Team wi l l  look  a t  i t  and then noth ing  comes back bu t  

tha t  i s  no  jus t i f i ca t ion .   I t  i s  jus t  to  exp la in  tha t  there  were  

these cha l lenges.  

 So I  thought  I  wou ld  jus t  touch on tha t .   And then 

I  th ink  I  need to  say,  you w i l l  dea l  w i th  Mr  Todd ’s  ev idence.   

I  d id  no t  unders tand h i s  ev idence to  be  to  the  e f fec t  tha t  he  

was doubt ing  your  competence or  per fo rmance in  te rms o f  

your  work .   I  unders tood h im to  be  say ing  because  cer ta in  

f ind ings had been made aga ins t  you in  the  d i sc ip l inary  10 

inqu i ry,  he  had a  ce r ta in  v iew a r is ing  ou t  o f  tha t ,  bu t  o f  

course ,  tha t  can be t raversed in  case I  m isunders tood h im.  

 I  th ink  tha t  i s  what  I  wanted to  say and o the r  

than a l so  to  say.   I t  i s  qu i te  impor tan t  tha t  you use th i s  

oppor tun i ty  to  pu t  your  s ide  o f  the  s to ry,  p rov ide  whatever  

exp lanat ion  because i r respect ive  o f  what  I  as  Cha i rpe rson  

w i l l  f ind ,  i t  i s  impor tan t  tha t  peop le  know what  your  vers ion  

is ,  peop le  know what  your  response is  to  cer ta in  

a l legat ions.  

 Because,  you know,  whatever  I  m ight  f ind ,  20 

peop le  m ight  say  bu t  we heard  Mr  Gama’s  exp lanat ion .   We 

wi l l  be l ieve  what  he  sa id .   The Cha i rman can f ind  whatever  

bu t  we unders tand what  he  had  to  say.   So i t  i s  ve ry  

impor tan t  to  use  the  oppor tun i ty  to  pu t  you r  s ide  o f  the  

s to ry  and dea l  w i th  whatever  a l legat ions.   So I  thought  I  
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wou ld  jus t  ment ion  tha t .    

 Bu t  I  must  a l so  say tha t  I  be l ieve  tha t  as  you  

acknowledge the  –  tha t  there  has been pos i t i ve  change on 

the  Lega l  Team in  te rms o f  fu rn ish ing  you w i th  in fo rmat ion ,  

documents  tha t  my impress ion  a lso  is  tha t ,  a t  leas t  in  

te rms o f  what  I  have seen in  the  past  few days,  you and 

your  lega l  team have been  coopera t ive  w i th  the  

Commiss ion  and tha t  i s  apprec ia ted .  

 Okay a l r igh t .   Le t  us  cont inue then Mr  Myburgh.   

I  th ink  we can s ta r t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you DCJ.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  Gama,  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  take  

another  good shot  in  t ry ing  to  admi t  your  a f f idav i t  in to 

ev idence.   So we  are  in  Bund le  7 ,  Exh ib i t  28 .   Tha t  i s  the  

f i rs t  par t  tha t  i s  be fore  you,  DCJ,  205.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.   I  hope we –  you and  I  have  

the  same . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  we do.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The f i rs t  par t .   And cou ld  I  ask  you  

to  go  to  page 22,  p lease?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay I  have got  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  Gama? 

MR GAMA :    Ja ,  I  am in tend ing  to .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    You w i l l  f ind  an  a f f idav i t  tha t  s ta r ts  

a t  page 22.   We are  on ly  us ing  the  b lack  numbers  and runs 

th rough to  page 115 inc lud ing  annexures.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Jus t  remember  to  move the  m ic  towards  

you aga in  Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Do you conf i rm tha t?  

MR GAMA :    115?   Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   And cou ld  I  then take  you to  

the  s ignature  page o f  the  a f f idav i t ,  page 57? 

MR GAMA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]   10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wi l l  you  conf i rm tha t  you deposed to  

th is  a f f idav i t  on  the  29 t h  o f  January  2021?  

MR GAMA :    Cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And w i l l  you  conf i rm the  t ru th  and 

accuracy o f  the  a f f idav i t?  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  you vo i ce  goes down Mr  Gama.   

So jus t  t ry  and speak up.  

MR GAMA :    Le t  me s i t  c loser  to  the  m ic  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  ja .   That  i s  much bet te r.   D id  you  20 

proceed to  the  second a f f idav i t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  d id  no t .   Sor ry.   D id  I  m iss  your  

response?  You conf i rm the  t ru th  and accuracy  o f  the  

a f f idav i t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  in  respect  o f  the  f i rs t  o r  the  

second?  

MR GAMA :    The f i rs t  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And cou ld  I  take  i t  one a t  a  t ime,  

DCJ?  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  f ine .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Cou ld  I  ask  you,  p lease,  I  am go ing  

to  admi t  th is  a f f i dav i t  s igned on the  29 t h  o f  January  2021  10 

as  Exh ib i t  28 .3 .1?  

CHAIRPERSON:    As  Exh ib i t . . .?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]   

CHAIRPERSON:    As  Exh ib i t . . .?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    28 . . .  

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Po in t  3  po in t  1 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   So the  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  S iyabonga 

Innocent  Gama which  s ta r ts  a t  page 22 is  submi t ted  and 

w i l l  be  marked as  Exh ib i t  28 .3 .1 .  20 

FIRST AFFIDAVIT  OF SIYABONGA INNOCENT GAMA IS  

SUBMITTED AND MARKED AS EXHIBIT  28 .3 .1  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you .   Mr  Gama,  cou ld  you 

then,  p lease,  tu rn  to  your  second  a f f idav i t?   That  you w i l l  

f ind  commencing  a t  page 116 and  i t  runs th rough a  ser ies  
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o f  annexures to  page 234.  

MR GAMA :    Okay I  have got  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Do you conf i rm tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then i f  we go to  the  s ignature  

page o f  th is  a f f idav i t .   That  you w i l l  f ind  a t  page 169.   And  

wou ld  you conf i rm tha t  you deposed to  th is  a f f idav i t  on  the  

31 s t  o f  January  2021?  

MR GAMA :    I  conf i rm.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And wou ld  you conf i rm the  t ru th  and 10 

accuracy o f  the  a f f idav i t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Cha i rperson,  cou ld  I  then ask  you to  

admi t  Mr  Gama’s  a f f idav i t  deposed to  on  the  

31 s t  o f  January  o f  th is  yea r,  commencing  a t  page  116 as  

Exh ib i t  28 .3 .2?  

CHAIRPERSON:    The a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  S iyabonga Innocent  

Gama which  s ta r t s  a t  page 116 is  submi t ted  as  an  exh ib i t  

and w i l l  be  marked as  Exh ib i t  28 .3 .2 .  

THE SECOND AFFIDAVIT  OF SIYABONGA INNOCENT 20 

GAMA IS SUBMITTED AND MARKED AS EXHIBIT  28 .3 .2  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you Cha i rperson.   Mr  Gama,  I  

want  to  s ta r t  by  ask ing  you a  few quest ions jus t  to  make  

sure  we a l l  app rec ia te  the  t ime a t  wh ich  you served  as  the  

CEO of  TFR and  then as  the  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive .   In  
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what  years  were  you the  CEO of  Transnet  F re igh t  Ra i l?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Jus t  one second Mr  Myburgh.   We 

probab ly  wou ld  need to  have Mr  S iyabonga ’s  open ing  

s ta tement  a lso  admi t ted  bu t  you might  w ish  to  dea l  w i th  

tha t  la te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  w i l l  f ind  a  p lace fo r  tha t  a t  tea-

t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    DCJ,  to  work  ou t  where  i t  wou ld  best  

f i t .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja-no,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  Gama,  in  what  years  d id  you 

serve  as  the  CEO of  TFR? 

MR GAMA :    I t  was between 2005 and 2015.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then I  unders tand,  and you must  

cor rec t  me i f  I  am wrong,  tha t  you ac ted  as  the  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive  o f  Transnet  f rom Apr i l  2015 to  Apr i l  2016.   I s  

tha t  r igh t?  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you were  then appo in ted  as  the  20 

Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  o f  Transnet  in  Apr i l  o f  2016? 

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you  he ld  tha t  pos i t ion  un t i l  

October  o f  2018?  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    And as  we  unders tand i t ,  you  took 

over  f i rs t  in  your  pos i t ion  as  the  ac t ing  GC and then a f te r  

tha t  had been appo in ted  as  GC f rom Mr  Mole fe .   I s  tha t  

cor rec t?  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Good.   Pe rhaps I  cou ld  a lso  ask  you  

to  conf i rm,  i f  I  have i t  cor rec t l y,  tha t  the  Group Ch ie f  

F inanc ia l  Off i cer  under  Mr  Mole fe ,  Mr  S ingh,  he  a l so  was  

seconded and them became employed a t  Eskom and tha t  

the  Group Ch ie f  F inanc ia l  Off i cer  tha t  se rved under  you,  10 

e f fec t i ve l y  Mr  S ingh ’s  rep lacement ,  was a  Mr  P i ta .   I s  tha t  

cor rec t?  

MR GAMA :    Tha t  i s  cor rec t .   Mr  S ingh a lso  served under  

me fo r  a  b r ie f  pe r iod  when I  was ac t ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Was tha t  be fo re  he  was seconded to  

Eskom? 

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  wou ld  l i ke  now to  tu rn  to  the  20 

quest ion  o f  you r  v is i t s  to  Saxonwold  and your  connect ion  

w i th  the  Gupta ’s .   You exp la in  in  your  a f f idav i t  how you 

came to  v i s i t  the  Saxonwold  compound o f  the  Gupta ’s .   I  

th ink ,  i f  my memory  se rves me co r rec t ly,  on  one occas ion .   

Cou ld  you exp la in  tha t  to  us ,  p lease?  
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MR GAMA :    Yes .   Thank you very  much.   You want  me to  

g ive  background and contex t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Anyth ing  tha t  you w ish  to  in  tha t  

contex t ,  yes .  

MR GAMA :    Okay.   Yes,  I  had th rough my in te rac t ions a t  

Transnet ,  we had  an ent i t y  tha t  was ca l led  Reg iments  and 

tha t  was ass is t ing  us  on  a  number  o f  opera t iona l  i ssues 

together  w i th  McK insey,  ma in ly  dea l ing  w i th  some 

reeng ineer ing  work  where  we are  t ry ing  to  make sure  tha t  

we improve and increase our  capac i ty  a round the  coa l  l ine 10 

f i rs t  and fo remost .  

 But  a lso  they had done some work  fo r  us  when 

we were  look ing  a t  the  Maputo  Cor r ido r  and look ing  a t  how 

best  we cou ld  reeng ineer  tha t  co r r idor  because i t  was a l so  

a  cor r ido r  wh ich  was fu l l  o f  –  there  were  many t rucks  on  

the  road,  espec ia l l y  to  the  Por t  o f  Maputo .  

 And so  I  had on  occas ion  met  a  fe l low by  the  

name o f  Sa l im Essa.   I  th ink  on  one occas ion  in  tha t  

meet ing .   And I  be l ieve  tha t  he  was pa r t  o f  Reg imen ts .  

 I  then,  on  a  d i f fe ren t  occas ion ,  accosted 20 

Mr  Essa.   He was in  our  o f f i ces .   And I  had gone  to  see 

Mr  S ingh who was in  h is  o f f i ce .   I t  was jus t  a  few met res  

f rom mine.   And he was there .   So I  spoke to  Mr  S ingh 

br ie f l y  and they were  togethe r.    

 And I  jus t  sa id :   Look,  can I  chat  w i th  Mr  S ingh.   
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We had a  d i scuss ion .   And then he sa id  to  me:   Look,  a t  

some po in t ,  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  have a  chat  w i th  you.   I  sa id  to  

h im:   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   Jus t  ask  Mr  S ingh to  g ive  you my 

number  and we can get  togethe r.   I t  i s  no t  a  p rob lem.  

 So we le f t  i t  a t  tha t  and I  th ink  somet ime la te r,  

Mr  Essa had then  t r ied  to  ca l l  me.   He ca l led  severa l  t imes 

but  I  was not  ava i lab le  bu t  I  th ink  –  I  rea l l y  do  no t  have the  

da tes  Cha i r.    

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   Ja .  

MR GAMA :    I  do  no t  have the  da tes .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR GAMA :    But  I  have . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    [ Ind is t inc t ]   

[Par t ies  in te rven ing  each o the r  –  unc lear ]  

MR GAMA :    I  have got  an  approx imate  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR GAMA :    To  say,  I  th ink  i t  must  have been  around 

October  o r  November  o f  2015 . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m,  h ’m.  

MR GAMA :    . . .when I  eventua l l y  agreed tha t ,  okay,  we w i l l  20 

meet .   He gave me an address and I  went  there .   I t  then  

tu rned out  a f te rwards when I  went  there  tha t  th is  was 

ac tua l l y  no t  an  o f f i ce  bu t  i t  was ac tua l l y  the  Gupta 

res idence.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  Mr  Myburgh? 
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ADV MYBURGH:    Yes,  you want to carry on with your v is i t  to 

Saxonwold?  What happened then?  I  am sorry,  Mr Gama, i f  I  

may say you are more than welcome to look at  your aff idavi t  as 

I  am asking you these quest ions.   Do you want to turn to page 

47? 

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink he thought you might  have a further 

quest ion. 

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes,  I  do. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay. 

ADV MYBURGH:    So now the further quest ion is,  as I 10 

understand i t ,  you say that  Mr Essa effect ively invi ted you to a 

meet ing and that  is how you found your way. 

CHAIRPERSON :    47 wi l l  be the black numbers, Mr Gama. 

MR GAMA:    Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Not the red numbers,  you can ignore the 

red numbers,  top lef t  corner of  which page, b lack numbers,  47.  

Mr  Myburgh  is not  going to say Transnet  07-047, he wi l l  just  

say page 47,  so you know what he is ta lk ing about.   Okay, I  

th ink you might wish to repeat your quest ion,  Mr Myburgh. 

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes, so as I  understand i t ,  you were invi ted 20 

to a meet ing by  Essa, that  is how you found your way to the 

Saxonwold residence of  the Guptas.   Could you expla in what 

happened there p lease? 

MR GAMA:    Yes,  at  that  venue I  met with Mr Essa, he was 

wait ing me outside.   We went inside,  we went into something 
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that looked l ike a boardroom and we sat  there and we 

exchanged pleasantr ies and after a few minutes somebody that 

was introduced to me as Tony Gupta who I  la ter found out  is 

a lso known as Rajesh Gupta .   He came and greeted me and 

we had a d iscussion.    

 I t  was not  a very long discussion but Mr Gupta  was 

just  indicat ing to me that  they had fo l lowed my career with in 

Transnet  and we thought that  I  had done very wel l  in  the 

company and that  they had certa in businesses and that  i t  was 

their  v iew that  at  some point  maybe we could have a 10 

discussion around how Transnet  and those businesses could 

cooperate going forward but  there was not  real ly anything in 

part icular at  that point in  t ime in terms of  what i t  is that  he 

thought that  wi l l  do but he was saying look,  I  th ink we can 

probably meet again at  a later date when we have enough t ime 

and then I  can take you through some of the ent i t ies that  we 

have which I  th ink might  have a bearing on some of the work 

that  you do at  Transnet ,  so  …[ in te rvenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    And  th is  was Tony  Gupta ta lk ing? 

MR GAMA:    Yes ,  yes.   So just  enqui red to  h im to  say what 20 

wou ld  be the nature  o f  that  re la t ionsh ip  tha t  you  a re  ta lk ing 

abou t  but  the re  was no t  rea l ly  any th ing spec i f ic .   So I  was a 

b i t  annoyed  because one  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    D id  you  fee l  l i ke  your  t ime had  been 

wasted? 
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MR GAMA:    Ja ,  I  th ink  the  f i rs t  th ing was tha t  I  thought  that  

I  am go ing to  meet  Essa  a t  h is  o ff i ces and  then  I  rea l ised 

that  no,  we  a re  ac tua l ly  a t  the boardroom of  the i r  res idence 

and there was not  rea l ly  any th ing –  I  mean,  i f  they had to ld  I  

am go ing to  somebody ’s  home I  probab ly  wou ld   no t  have 

even agreed  to  the… 

CHAIRPERSON :    And  was Mr  Essa a round  as  Mr Tony  Gupta 

was ta lk ing  to  you? 

MR GAMA:    Yes ,  no,  he  was w i th  me a l l  the  t ime.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  10 

MR GAMA:    In  fact  he  wa lked me out  as I  le f t  and  I  

expressed  my dissat isfact ion to  h im to  say  look,  you  shou ld 

not  ambush  me and b r ing  me to  peop le ’s  homes when I  

thought  that  you  wanted  to  ta lk  about  the bus iness .   So he 

just  sa id  look ,  I  jus t  though t  I  must  in t roduce you to  Mr  Tony,  

as he ca l led h im because th is  fami ly  does a  lo t  o f  bus iness 

and,  you  know,  they  a re  in f luent ia l ,  I  though t  i t  would  be 

good  fo r  you  and Transnet  to  work  w i th  them bu t  obv ious ly 

you a re  in  a  hur ry  bu t  maybe a t  fu tu re  date  you cou ld  f ine ,  

you  know,  t ime to  ta lk  about  …[ in te rvenes ]  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    When you  met  Mr  Tony Gupta was he  the 

f i rs t  Gupta b ro ther  tha t  you  had  met ,  tha t  you were meet ing .   

In  o ther  words,  you  had  no t  met  any  o f  the  o ther  Gupta 

b ro thers  a t  that  t ime? 

MR GAMA:    I  th ink at  that  t ime the popular Gupta  brother in 
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that  I  had seen in the newspaper was Atul  Gupta. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay. 

MR GAMA:    I  a lways used to see his p icture in the news. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes. 

MR GAMA:    Yes.   But  I  had never met h im. 

CHAIRPERSON :    You had never met h im, ja. 

MR GAMA:    Ja. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  Mr Myburgh? 

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes, thank you.  So,  as I  understand i t ,  Mr 

Gama, you say that  is the one and only t ime that  you went to 10 

the Saxonwold residence of  the Guptas? 

MR GAMA:    That is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH:    And did you subsequent ly …[intervenes] 

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  just want to say i t  is  interest ing that 

Mr Gama says – I  th ink that  Mr Essa said that  the Guptas were 

a very inf luent ia l  fami ly because that  seems consistent  wi th 

what Mr Henk Bester says he to ld h im when they had a 

meet ing in 2014.  Mr Henk Bester said …[intervenes] 

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON :    He said we are very powerfu l ,  you know, 20 

something l ike they were very powerfu l ,  we have decided that 

the next boss of  Eskom wi l l  be Mr Brian Molefe, so Mr Essa to 

you say,  you know, the Guptas are a very inf luent ia l fami ly.  

Ja,  okay. 

ADV MYBURGH:    Do you wish to add anything to that ,  Mr 
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Gama? 

MR GAMA:    No, no,  no, I  am not privy to – I  do not  know who 

Mr Bester is.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No, that is f ine. 

ADV MYBURGH:    So as you say at  paragraph 31.1 of  your 

aff idavi t  that  was the only t ime that  you went to the Saxonwold 

residence of  the Guptas? 

MR GAMA:    Yes. 

ADV MYBURGH:    Did you af ter that have occasion to interact 

at  a l l  wi th Tony Gupta? 10 

MR GAMA:    No, no,  I  have not . 

ADV MYBURGH:    Did you have occasion to interact  at  a l l  wi th 

Ajay Gupta? 

MR GAMA:    No, I  have not . 

ADV MYBURGH:    And Mr Essa? 

MR GAMA:    Yes,  Mr Essa I  d id. 

ADV MYBURGH:    In what context d id you interact  wi th Mr 

Essa and over what per iod of  t ime? 

MR GAMA:    I  have probably seen Mr Essa maybe four or f ive 

t imes, I  do not  know.  The next  t ime that I  would see him was 20 

in Dubai,  a month or two later.   He was always I th ink in th is 

management consult ing sort  of space, as I  understood i t  then.  

When I  t ravel led to Switzer land, which was to the World 

Economic Forum, on my way back I  had a  stopover in Dubai 

and that  is where I  met h im. 
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ADV MYBURGH:    So that  was the next  t ime you met h im? 

MR GAMA:    That was the next  t ime that  I  met h im. 

ADV MYBURGH:    I  understand, please correct me i f  I  am 

wrong, that  you said that  you met h im subsequent ly on four or 

f ive occasions.   Could you descr ibe the other occasions to us 

p lease? 

MR GAMA:    I  probably have met h im – I  th ink i t  was the th ird 

or the fourth occasion when I  met h im at  the Gupta residence.  

I  met h im once in Dubai.   I  probably met h im one more other 

t ime af ter he came back to the country. 10 

ADV MYBURGH:    Chairperson, would th is be a convenient 

t ime to take the tea adjournment? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  let us take the tea adjournment,  i t  is 

quarter past so we wi l l  resume at  half  past.   We adjourn. 

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Thank you,  Cha i rperson.   So we had  

s topped a t  the  po in t  tha t  you were  te l l ing  us  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    One second,  Mr  Myburgh?  Okay,  thank  20 

you.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Thank you.   We had s topped a t  the  po in t  

where  you were  you were  te l l ing  us  I  th ink  about  your  th i rd  

meet ing  w i th  Mr  Essa.   So you met  h im – we l l ,  you  have 

exp la ined how you went  to  the  Saxonwold  compound  where  
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you  met  h im.   You sa id  a  month  o r  so  l a te r  you met  h im in  

Duba i  and then you las t  in te rac t ion  w i th  h im,  when was 

tha t  and what  was i t  a round?  

MR GAMA:    So  I  th ink  I  have met  h im –  I  have seen h im –  

I  d id  no t  have a  meet ing  per  se ,  bu t  I  am say ing  I  have  

seen h im a f te r  Duba i ,  I  have seen  h im somewhere .   I  th ink  

I  saw h im he was  in  a  res tau rant .  

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t ,  sor t  o f  a  –  you casua l ly  saw h im? 

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t .   Have you ever  been to  Mr  Essa ’s  10 

o f f i ce  wh ich  I  unders tand to  have been in  Mel rose A rch?  

MR GAMA:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Had you ever  been to  h is  apar tmen t?  

MR GAMA:    No.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  both  he  and Mr  Tony Gupta  never  

fo l lowed up on what  they ta lked about  wh ich  seems to  be  

tha t  they wanted to  have fu r ther  meet ings or  fu r ther  

d iscuss ions to  do  bus iness togethe r?  

MR GAMA:    No,  there  was not  a  fo l low-up.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  20 

MR GAMA:    Because I  th ink  I  had  sa id  to  Mr  Essa tha t  no ,  

I  was not  rea l l y  in te res ted ,  you know,  meet ing  peop le  in  

the i r  houses and  th ings l i ke  tha t .   I  was qu i te  annoyed I  

th ink  on  tha t  day,  so  I  on ly  spoke to  h im la te r  when we 

were  in  Duba i  and we were  ta l k ing  about  –  he  was th ink ing  



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 56 of 242 
 

about  se t t ing  up  what  he  ca l led  a  BEE consu l t ing  en t i t y  

tha t  he  was th ink ing  about  tha t  he  thought  wou ld  be  –  

wou ld  have a  lo t  o f  b lack  peop le ,  espec ia l l y  women and a l l  

o f  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Mr  Gama,  i f  I  cou ld  jus t  take  you to  your  

a f f idav i t  p lease a t  page 47.   The f i rs t  t ime tha t  you met  Mr  

Essa,  you dea l  w i th  tha t  a t  paragraph 31.2 .1  where  you say 

i t  was du r ing  20  …[ in tervenes]  

MR GAMA:    Page 40… 

ADV MYBURGH:    47 .  10 

MR GAMA:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Paragraph 31.2 .1 .  

MR GAMA:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH:    You say tha t  was in  2015 you a t tended a  

meet ing  w i th  Reg iments ,  wou ld  tha t  meet ing  have been a t  

the  Car l ton  Cent re?  

MR GAMA:    No,  no t  th is  pa r t i cu la r  meet ing ,  I  th ink  i t  was 

a t  TMR.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  was th is  a t  a  t ime then before  

you had become presumably  the  –  you ac ted  as  the  Group 20 

Ch ie f  Execut ive?  

MR GAMA:     Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  i t  was probab ly  in  the  ear ly  par t  

o f  2015.  

MR GAMA:     Tha t ’s  cor rec t  ja .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then you say a t  paragraph 31.3 ,  

the  next  t ime you  met  h im tha t  was Ju l y /August  2015,  tha t  

was in  Mr  S ingh ’s  o f f i ce ,  th is  then,  was a t  a  t ime when you  

were  the  ac t ing  Group Ch ie f  Execu t ive .  

MR GAMA:     Tha t ’s  cor rec t ,  i t  was  a t  the  Car l ton  Cent re .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And i t  was a lso  a t  the  t ime then,  

be fore  Mr  S ingh went  to  Eskom,  th is  must  be  the  t ime when  

he was repor t ing  to  you?  

MR GAMA:     Yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And do I  unders tand f rom paragraph  10 

31.2 .1  and 31.2 .2  tha t  you assumed,  when you f i rs t  met  Mr  

Essa tha t  he  worked fo r  Reg iments?  

MR GAMA:     Yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And when d id  you come to  learn  tha t  

tha t  wasn ’ t  so?  

MR GAMA:     Much la te r,  much la te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    When?  

MR GAMA:     I  th ink  –  and I  th ink  he  was a lso  on  the  same 

page w i th  me  to  say,  okay  I  th ink  i t ’s  Reg iments  

Management  Consu l tan t  and he  was te l l ing  me about  20 

management  consu l t ing ,  bu t  I  th ink  much la te r,  i t  must  

have been somet ime in  2016.   When Reg iments  wanted to  

cede the i r  contac ts  w i th  Transnet  to  Tr i l l i on  then h is  name 

was not  appear ing  amongst  the  D i rec tors  and i t  was  

ac tua l l y  P i l lay  and not  Essa tha t  was appear ing  so  then I  
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rea l i sed tha t  I  may have made  a  m is taken assumpt ion  

about  tha t ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  I ’d  l i ke  now,  to  tu rn  to  the  

MBA issue,  cou ld  I  ask  you to  –  the  a l leged ass is tance 

g iven to  you by  Mr  Sagar /McK insey in  re la t ion  to  your  

MBA.  

MR GAMA:     Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Perhaps,  Mr  Gama,  in  fa i rness th is  

i s  no t  someth ing  tha t  you dea l t  w i th  in  your  a f f idav i t  so  le t  

me take you to  the  documents  tha t  a re  re levant  and then  10 

we can go th rough them and then o f  cou rse ,  you ’ l l  be  

a f fo rded an oppor tun i ty  to  say  what  you wou ld  l i ke  to .  You 

were  issued w i th  a  33  Not ice  by  the  Money F low team in  

la te  November  2020,  tha t  you f i nd  a t  page 235 o f  your  

Exh ib i t  and a t tached to  tha t  Ru le  33  Not ice  was an  ex t rac t  

o f  an  a f f idav i t  f rom a  Mr  Maza la  and tha t  you f ind ,  the  

ex t rac t  commencing  a t  page 240,  a re  you there?  

MR GAMA:     Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I ’m  go ing  to  take  you  th rough these 

ex t rac ts  i f  I  may.   A t  240 i t  s ta tes  tha t ,  20 

“The growing body o f  ev idence prov ided by  the  

Commiss ion  tha t  suggests  a  pa t te rn  o f  m isconduc t  

by  Reg iments  a t  these ent i t ies ,  th is  inc ludes,  in  

par t i cu la r,  Reg iments  hav ing  en tered in to  an 

agreement  w i th  Mr  Sa l im Essa and  o ther  ind i v idua ls  
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l i nked,  pub l i c ly  to  S ta te Capture  engaged in  a 

pa t te rn  o f  t roub l ing  payments  tha t  we were  unaware  

o f  a t  the  t ime,  the  work  was be ing  conducted ( I  

leave open he re  and in  the  next  parag raph the  

poss ib le  except ion  o f  Mr  Vikas  Sagar  a  fo rmer 

par tner  o f  ou r  f i rm whose c i rcumstances are 

d iscussed,  fu l l y  be low)” .  

 And then i f  I  cou ld  take  you to  page 243,  the  

second paragraph between the  two lo t ,  

“Whi le  the  med ia  has repor ted  on  a l legat ions 10 

re la ted  to  Reg iments  and the  Commiss ion  has now 

presented ev idence re la ted  to  concern ing  behav iou r  

by  Reg iments ,  we have not  found ev idence tha t  

anyone a t  McK insey knew o f  th is  ac t i v i t y  a t  the  t ime 

i t  was occur r ing  ( I  leave open here  the  poss ib le  

except ion  o f  Mr  Sagar )  whose c i rcumstances are  

d iscussed more  fu l l y  be low” .  

 And tha t  then br ings us  to  page 244 a t  parag raph  

7 .2 .1  be tween the  two da rk  boxes,  

“MBA ass is tance in  Ju ly  o f  2017 McKinsey was f i rs t  20 

prov ided in fo rmat ion  tha t  ind ica ted  tha t  Mr  Sagar,  

wh i l s t  w i th  McK insey may have he lped/coord ina te  

research  suppor t  and d ra f t  cou rse  work  fo r  the  MBA 

s tud ies  o f  Transnet ’s  then CEO,  Mr  S iyabonga 

Gama in  la te  2015 and ear l y  2016” ,  
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 And then i f  you go to  page 245,  a t  the  foo t  o f  the  

page,  parag raph 7 .2 .4 .1 ,  

“ In  add i t ion  to  the  MBA ass i s tance and the  9  

February  2016 le t te r  (bo th  d iscussed in  more  de ta i l  

be low) ,  our  i ssues o f  concern  w i th  Mr  Sagar  a l so 

s tem f rom the  fo rens ic  ana lys i s  conducted on h is  

compute r  and phone a f te r  co l lec t ion  in  2017 as  par t  

o f  the  invest iga t ion” .  

 And then i f  I  cou ld  take  you p lease to  page 242 a t  

the  top ,  paragraph 7 .2 .4 .2 .1 ,  10 

“Of  par t i cu la r  impor tance the  document  se t  inc ludes 

an emai l  da ted  16 November  2015  f rom Cl ive  Ange l  

to  Mr  Sagar  and Mr  Wood copy ing  Mr 

Essa…[ in te rvenes] ” .  

CHAIRPERSON:     D id  you say 242?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    246.  

MR GAMA:     Ja ,  m ine is  b lank .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mine  is  b lank too .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    246.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh,  246 I  th ink  you sa id  –  you may have 20 

sa id  242,  okay,  a l r igh t .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  th ink  what ’s  happen ing  DCJ,  i s  I  

m igh t  have been look ing  a t  the  red  numbers ,  I ’m  sor ry.  

CHAIRPERSON:   [Laughter ] .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Gama,  can I  jus t  take  you  back,  I  
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re fe r red  you jus t  now to  page 243,  you saw tha t  par t ,  b lack  

numbers ,  you saw tha t  par t  in  the  m idd le .  

MR GAMA:     243 ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then 244 the  MBA ass is tance  

par t ,  you saw tha t  244?  

MR GAMA:     Yes ,  you read th rough tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then 245 we ’ve  dea l t  w i th  I  was  

on 246,  where  there ’s  re fe rence to  Mr  Essa and then I  want  

to  dea l  w i th  the  next  sub-paragraph a t  246,  paragraph 

7 .2 .4 .2 .2 ,  10 

“The document  se t  a lso  inc ludes an emai l  response 

dated 18 November  2015 f rom Mr  Sagar  to  Mr  Ange l  

and Mr  Essa tha t  was sent  f rom Mr  Sagar ’s  

persona l  emai l  address assuming i t  i s  au thent ic ,  

wh ich  we have no reason to  be l ieve  i t ’s  no t ,  the 

emai l  suggest  tha t  Mr  Sagar  chose to  move h is  

communica t ions w i th  Mr  Essa o f f  o f  McK insey ’s  

sys tem to  the  persona l  emai l  account ” ,  

 So those are  the  var ious o f  the  ex t rac ts  and what  

we do know is  tha t  ou t  o f  caut ion ,  McK insey then made a  20 

repor t  in  te rms o f  Sect ion  34  (1 )  o f  the  Prevent ion  and 

Combat ing  o f  Cor rup t ion  Act iv i t ies  Act ,  tha t  repor t  you f ind  

a t  page 249 and can I  d i rec t  your  a t ten t ion  p lease,  to  

parag raph 2  (c )  r igh t  a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page,  

“A company cont rac tor  contac ted  McKinsey 12 Ju l y  
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2017 concern ing  a  request  he  rece ived f rom Mr  

Vikas Sagar,  a  f o rmer  par tner  o f  the  company to  

prov ide  ass is tance to  S iyabonga  Gama ( then the 

Act ing  Ch ie f  Execut ive  Off i cer  o f  Transnet )  in  

connect ion  w i th  Mr  Gama’s  MBA course  work  

inc lud ing  Mr  Gama’s  MBA “Capstone”  p ro jec t  in  

December  2015 –  January  2016.  I t  w i l l  be  McK insey 

commiss ioned an  invest iga t ion  in to  the  mat te r  wh ich  

revea led  the  fo l low ing 1) .  Mr  Gama was enro l led  in  

the  Tr ium Globa l  Execut ive  Programme (c lass  o f  10 

2016[2 ] ;  i t  appears  tha t  Mr  Sagar  coord ina ted 

research  suppor t  fo r  Mr  Gama on one group 

ass ignment  on  the  second ass ignment  Mr  Gama 

prov ided course  work  mater ia ls  c rea ted by  Mr  Gama 

and h i s  fe l low s tudent  team members  to  Mr  Sagar.   

In  tu rn  Mr  Sagar  supp lemented th is  course  work  

us ing  company resources and cont rac tors  to  ou t l ine  

and he lp  dra f t  the  two chapters  wh ich  Mr  Gama 

submi t ted  as  h i s  cont r ibu t ion  to  the  Capstone 

Pro jec t .  (e )  The suppor t  commiss ioned by  Mr  Sagar 20 

caused the  company to  incur  cos ts  o f  R100 000.   ( f )  

I ’m  unaware  o f  any qu id  pro  quo sought  by  Mr  

Sagar  o r  rece ived by  the  company in  exchange fo r  

the  benef i t  e tce te ra” ,  

 Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  
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MR GAMA:     Yes,  thank you very  much.   I t  i s  t rue  tha t  Mr  

Sagar  in t roduced  us  a  pe rson who was supposed ly  an  

ed i to r  and we were  wr i t ing  a  Capstone pro jec t ,  I  th ink  there  

were  f i ve  or  s ix  o f  us…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    A t  leas t  who were  do ing  the  MBA? 

MR GAMA:    Yes ,  the  Capstone p ro jec t ,  there ’s  about  f i ve  

or  s i x  o f  us  who  were  wr i t ing  tha t  Capstone pro jec t .   In 

fac t ,  a  lo t  o f  the  peop le  had – they were  –  I  was co l lec t ing  

in fo rmat ion  f rom the  d i f fe ren t  s tudents ,  le t ’s  ca l l  them 

s tudents  i n  o rde r  fo r  us  t o  wr i te  the  f ina l  p ro jec t  repor t .   As  10 

you w i l l  know,  w i th  peop le  f rom d i f fe ren t  na t iona l i t ies  and –  

I  was hav ing  d i f f i cu l t ies  in  te rms o f  the  manner  in  wh ich  

they presented,  o r  they wro te ,  o r  the  wr i t ing  s ty les  and I  

wanted to  have one cons is ten t  wr i t ing  s ty le  fo r  the  pro jec t .  

So,  he  then in t roduced me to  somebody tha t  he  sa id  was  

an Ed i to r  and I  d id  no t  know whethe r  th is  pe rson was 

cont rac ted  to  McK insey or  no t ,  I  never  asked but  he  sa id ,  

look  you can speak to  th is  lady,  she ’s  an  Ed i to r  she can 

he lp  you w i th  your  par t i cu la r  cha l lenges.   So,  I  then took 

tha t  content  and  I  sa id ,  look ,  th i s  i s  the  work  tha t  we ’ve  20 

been do ing  can you ass is t  us  to  wr i te  i t  in  a  par t i cu la r  way  

wh ich  she d id  and tha t  was around Chr is tmas t ime o f  –  

December  2015 to  a round,  maybe the  15 t h  o f  January,  I  

th ink  the  pro jec t  was due around the  14 t h  o f  January,  there  

about  so  i t  was  a  two-week pe r iod  when peop le  were  
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en joy ing  Chr is tmas t ime,  I  remember  tha t  there  was no 

Chr is tmas fo r  me…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You had no Chr i s tmas [ laughter ] .  

MR GAMA:     Ja ,  tha t  par t i cu la r  yea r,  so  I  went  th rough i t ,  

she  he lped me and together  w i th  some o f  the  o ther  peop le  

who then sa id  –  we were  g iv ing  her  the  contents  because  

she wasn ’ t  a  sub jec t  mat te r  exper t  to  he lp  us  to  ed i t  i t  and 

we d id  acknowledge in  ou r  Capstone pro jec t ,  the  good work  

tha t  she he lped us  w i th  in  te rms o f  ed i t ing  and the  work .   

That ,  i t  i s  sa id  here ,  tha t  Mr  Sagar  cont r ibu ted  or  10 

supp lemented th is  us ing  company resources I ’m  not  

fami l ia r  w i th  i t ,  i t ’s  someth ing  to  do  w i th  them he never  to ld  

me tha t  th is  was  a  McK insey resource  or  anyth ing  and he 

jus t  ind i ca ted  to  me tha t  th is  lady  cou ld  ass is t  us ,  and she  

d id  do  tha t .   There  isn ’ t  any chapters  tha t  Mr  Sagar  

cont r ibu ted  fo r  me.   The in te res t ing  th is ,  we were  do ing  

las t -m i le  log is t i cs ,  Cha i r,  and I  our  sub jec t  mat te r  was a  

p lace in  Ind ia ,  in  Ca lcu t ta  where  they have,  what  i s  ca l led  

Karana S tores ,  so  th is  i s  a  g loba l  MBA,  so  you need to  

unders tand every th ing  tha t  happened in  o ther  count r i es  20 

and we had a  research  team tha t  we had d ispatched there  

now we were  pu t t ing  togethe r  the  f ind ings o f  th i s  th ing .   

So,  one o f  the  th ings tha t  I  shared  w i th  Mr  Sagar,  who is  a 

na t ive  o f  Ind ia  because tha t  –  we were  do ing  las t -m i le  

log is t i cs  about  Ind ia  and he took an  in te res t  in  i t ,  you  
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know,  to  say,  oh  so  how fa r  a re  you now wi th  these th ings 

tha t  you are  do ing  and –  the  concept  o f  K i rana  s tores  

be ing  used as las t -m i le  log is t i cs  was someth ing  tha t  had  

not  been thought  o f  and we came up w i th  an  IT sys tem tha t  

cou ld  ac tua l l y  p lug  in to  g loba l  log is t i c  compan ies  such as  

DHL and o ther  p laces.   So,  i t ’s  l i ke ,  fo r  ins tance,  you 

wanted to  de l i ver  someth ing  i n  the  townsh ip  o r  in  an  

in fo rmal  se t t lement  where  there  are  no  addresses,  so  –  

and peop le  go  to  work  du r ing  the  day the re ’s  no-one and  

peop le  w i l l  on ly  be  there  a t  n igh t  and everybody f requents  10 

th is  s to re .   So,  i f  they  have the  parce l  they w i l l  then have 

to  go  there  and what  we use i s  the  fac t  tha t  they  have a  

ce l l  phone and then we can te l l  them and then they can 

t rack  i t ,  bu t  they go  and fe tch  i t  f rom the  K i rana s tore .  So 

tha t  was,  sor t  o f  the  nub o f  i t  Cha i r.   So,  I  wou ld  jus t  sha re  

w i th  h im f rom t ime to  t ime,  he  wou ld  say,  how fa r  a re  you,  I  

wou ld  share  w i th  h im,  no  th is  i s  where  we are ,  tha t ’s  

in te res t ing ,  and  then he ’d  say,  ja  i t ’s  ac tua l l y  qu i te  

in te res t ing  because we ’ re  dea l ing  w i th  g loba l  compan ies  

l i ke  Amazon peop le  can o rder  a  pa rce l  f rom Amazon  and i t  20 

ge ts  de l i vered in  the  K i rana s tore  and we ’ve  now created  

th is  so f tware  and  we ’ re  pu t t ing  together  some warehouses 

in  and around th is  p lace  where  you can d is t r i bu te  parce l s  

f rom there .  So,  tha t ’s  rea l l y  what  i t  was,  so  I  d id  send h im 

some o f  the  in fo rmat ion  jus t  ou t  o f  in te res t  and cour tesy  
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because he was in te res ted ,  no t  tha t  we asked h im to  do  

anyth ing  fo r  us ,  he  wou ldn ’ t  be  ab le  to  do  anyth ing  fo r  us ,  

we had the  research  team in  Ind ia  tha t  was do ing  these  

th ings fo r  us .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  d id  you  pay th is  Ed i to r?  

MR GAMA:     No,  she never  sent  an  invo i ce .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And as  I  unders tand i t ,  d id  she work  

in tense ly  l i ke  you  fo r  two weeks over  Chr is tmas? 

MR GAMA:     I  worked over  Chr is tmas she d id  the  work  i t  

was a f te r  Chr i s tmas,  I  th ink ,  i t  mus t  have been fo r  t h ree  or  10 

four  days be tween the  4 t h  and  the  8 t h  o f  January  or  

someth ing ,  bu t  i t  was me who was work ing .   I  d id  most  o f  

the  work ,  bu t  i t  was d i f f i cu l t  because o f  the  wr i t ing  s t y les  

o f  f i ve  or  s ix  d i f fe ren t  peop le  and  when I  sent  the  work  to  

he r,  she was ab le  to  d is t i l  i t  very  qu ick ly,  I  th ink  she does  

th is  fo r  a  l i v ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  Mr  Gama i t  seems –  I  mean who  

d id  you th ink  was  pay ing  th is  person?  

MR GAMA:     She  never  sent  me an invo ice  ac tua l l y,  in  fac t  

i t ’s  someth ing  tha t  –  you know when you ’ re  in  the  m idd le  o f  20 

th ings l i ke  th is  I  was jus t  wor r i ed  about  de l i ver ing  the  

Capstone pro jec t ,  I  d id ,  in  fac t ,  somet ime la te r  t ry  to  send  

her  an  emai l  to  say,  you know,  you never  sent  me an  

invo ice ,  bu t  I  never  go t  an  answer.  I  don ’ t  know,  I  mean,  

f rom what  I  ga ther  here  she may  or  may not  have been  
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pa id  by  Mr  Sagar,  I  don ’ t  know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  i t  does appear  f rom what  was  

sa id  to  you,  tha t  d isc ip l ina ry  charges were  brought  aga ins t  

Mr  Sagar  and then he and McKinsey pa r ted  ways.   So,  i f  

we go to  parag raph two,  as  I  unders tand i t ,  you  deny –  we  

needn ’ t  read i t  aga in ,  bu t  you essent ia l l y  deny every th ing  

tha t  i s  recorded there ,  you say,  

“Wel l ,  I  m igh t  have sent  Mr  Sagar  some o f  my work ,  

bu t  i t  was on ly  because he was tak ing  an  in te res t  in  

i t…[ in tervenes] ” .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:     I ’m  sor ry,  a re  you –  have you gone to  

h is  a f f idav i t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No,  paragraph two o f  the  Sect ion  34  

repor t  a t  page 250.  

CHAIRPERSON:     Oh,  okay,  a l r igh t ,  yes  cont inue.  

MR GAMA:     No,  th is  specu la t ion  by  McK insey is  den ied .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Specu la t ion  by  McK insey?  

MR GAMA:     That  he  m ight  have cont r ibu ted  to  my  course  

work ,  he  wou ldn ’ t  have.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  don ’ t  know whether  you want  to  20 

say you deny tha t  because i t  may be tha t  you don ’ t  know 

but  he  made ar rangements  w i th  the  Ed i to r  and d id  pay the  

Ed i to r  w i thout  you knowing.  

MR GAMA:     No,  no ,  I ’m  not  ta lk ing  about  the  payment ,  

he ’s  ta lk ing  about  the  two chapte rs  tha t  he  says the re .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay,  I  m issed tha t ,  yes  Mr  

Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  the  second or  the  th i rd  

sentence,  in  tu rn  Mr  Sagar  supp lemented th is  course  work ,  

you don ’ t  agree w i th  tha t ,  us ing  company resources and 

cont rac tors  to  ou t l ine  bu t  you don ’ t ,  as  I  unders tand i t  –  

you accept  the re ’s  a  poss ib i l i t y  tha t  Mr  Sagar  m ight  have 

engaged someone to  ass is t  you,  tha t  you d idn ’ t  know o f?  

MR GAMA:     No ,  I  d idn ’ t  know o f  i t  and he in t roduced me 

to  the  lady,   I  was in  communica t ion  w i th  her  on  emai l .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then you see i t  says ,  

“The suppor t  commiss ioned by  Sagar  caused the  

company to  incur  cos ts  o f  R100 000” .  

 Do you have any comment  on  tha t?   

MR GAMA:    No,  no  I  cannot  comment  on  i t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  I ’d  l i ke  to  exp lore  then,  i s  your  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Mr  Sagar.   When d id  you f i rs t  meet  h im? 

MR GAMA:     Le t  me a lso  jus t  ind ica te  to  you Cha i r  tha t  

subsequent  to  these reve la t ions as  i t  were  and my MBA 

programme d id  an  in tens ive  invest iga t ion .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’m  sor ry,  your  MBA programme? 

MR GAMA:    They d id  an  ex tens i ve  invest iga t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  the  ins t i tu t ion?  

MR GAMA:    The ins t i tu t ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja .  
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MR GAMA:    And in to  th is  work  and  I  par t i c ipa ted ,  and they  

are  qu i te  happy in  te rms o f  what  happened and t ransp i red  

here  and there ’s  no th ing  un toward  in  te rms o f  them 

…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Them be ing  [ Ind is t inc t  –  aud io  d i s to r ted ] .  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  I  cannot  reca l l ,  Mr  Myburgh when I  met  Mr  

Sagar  and he was work ing  fo r  Mor tens[? ] ,  Mor tens has  

been a  t ransfer  f rom a t  leas t  2005 and I  th ink  a t  some 

po in t  he  must  have been one o f  the  consu l tan ts  tha t  came 

th rough,  I  don ’ t  know a t  what  po in t  tha t  he  came th rough.   I  10 

worked w i th  h im qu i te  a  b i t ,  I  th ink ,  a round 2012,  so  I  don ’ t  

know when I  f i rs t  met  w i th  h im.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So ,  what  you can say,  I  wou ld  imag ine  is  

by,  2015 you had known h im fo r  qu i te  some t ime,  fo r  a  

number  o f  yea rs?  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  I  th ink  I  met  h im around 2012.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  you then,  cont inue work ing  w i th  

h im when you took up  the  pos i t ion  as  the  ac t ing  Group 

Ch ie f  Execut ive  o f  Transnet  in  2015?  20 

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You ’ve  seen on tha t  por t ion  o f  the  

a f f idav i t  tha t  I ’ ve  read to  you tha t  he  seems to  have 

in te rac ted ,  a t  leas t  a t  a  po in t ,  w i th  Mr  Essa,  p resumably  

you d idn ’ t  know anyth ing  about  tha t?  
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MR GAMA:   No,  I  d idn ’ t  know anyth ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You say tha t  your  g loba l  MBA Tr ium 

they conducted an invest iga t ion  a f te r  these reve la t i ons?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wou ld  you be prepared to  share  

those documents  w i th  us?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   I ’d  l i ke  now,  to  tu rn  to  a  

d i f fe ren t  top ic  and tha t ’s  your  re - i ns ta tement  a t  TFR as the  

CFO in  February  o f  2011,  Mr…[ in te rvenes] .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Can I  –  as  CEO not  CFO.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    CEO,  I ’m  not  go ing  to  make you 

someone e l se ,  I ’m  sor ry.   So,  i t ’s  your  re - ins ta tement  as  

CEO.   Now,  Mr  Gama,  I  th ink  i t ’s  impor tan t  to  exp la in  tha t  

the  main  focus o f…[ in tervenes] .  

MR GAMA:    Where  –  wh ich  sect ion  do  you want  to  re fe r  

me to?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No,  we ’ re  no t  in  any par t i cu la r  

sec t ion .   I t ’s  impor tan t  to  exp la in  in  re la t ion  to  your  re -

ins ta tement  tha t  the  main  focus o f  the  Commiss ion ’s  20 

invest iga t ion  is  whether  o r  no t  you r  re - ins ta tement  was the  

resu l t  o f  any po l i t i ca l  ins t ruc t ion  or  p ressure ,  tha t ’s  the  

main  focus o f  the  ins t ruc t ion  and  f low ing f rom tha t ,  rea l l y,  

the  main  ta rge t  o f  the  invest iga t ion  o r  focus  o f  the  

invest iga t ion  is  Mr  G igaba and a lso  the  Board ,  because i t  
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was the  Board  tha t  dec ided to  re - ins ta te  you,  you wou ld  

have seen tha t ,  cor rec t?  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  i t  was the  Board…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Maybe one cou ld  jus t  say,  Mr  Myburgh,  

whethe r   there  was po l i t i ca l  p ressure  or  po l i t i ca l  

in te r fe rence or  whether  even w i thout  po l i t i ca l  in te r fe rence 

there  was someth ing  un toward  tha t  made the  dec is ion  – 

tha t  made the  Board  to  make the  dec i s ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    In  a  manner  o f  speak ing .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  in  o ther  words,  Cha i r,  to  your  

po in t ,  someth ing  o ther  than the  issue o f  p rospects  o f  

success.   So,  what  i s  impor tan t  for  you to  apprec ia te  as  we  

go th rough th i s  top ic  i s  the  –  t he  ac tua l  ta rge t  o f  the  

invest iga t ion  is  no t  you,  the  ta rge t  i s  ra ther,  the  peop le  

who dec ided to  tha t ,  the  Board ,  I  take  i t  you  apprec ia te  

tha t?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  I  a lso  wanted to  emphas ise  tha t  

because you d id  no t  re - ins ta te  yourse l f .  

MR GAMA:    I t  wou ld  be  qu i te  imposs ib le  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    [Laughte r ]  ja  so  as  you approach the  

ev idence and the  issues tha t  w i l l  be  ra ised w i th  you and  

quest ions,  you must  remember  tha t  the  pr imary  focus is  –  

re la tes  to  those who made the  dec is ion  to  re - ins ta te  you,  

ra the r  than you –  you come in ,  s imp ly  because they were  
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supposed to  have regard  to  cer ta in  th ings in  mak ing  those 

dec is ion ,  okay a l r igh t .  

MR GAMA:    Yes ,  Cha i r,  I  have been a  case s tudy  in  th is  

Commiss ion  where  I  th ink ,  peop le  have made numerous  

in fe rences and where  my name has been brough t  in  bu t  

no th ing  to  do  w i th  what  I  d id .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no ,  no  i t ’s  impor tan t  fo r  you to  

unders tand tha t  when I  say  what  I ’ ve  jus t  sa id  and when Mr  

Myburgh says what  he  has sa id ,  namely  the  focus is  on  

those who made the  dec is ion  to  re - ins ta te  you,  you need to 10 

apprec ia te  tha t  tha t  i s  no t  to  p revent  you f rom mak ing  an  

input  in to  the  d iscuss ion ,  i t ’s  no t  meant  to  do  tha t  bu t  i t ’s  

jus t  to  ind ica te  tha t  s ince  you d id  no t  re - ins ta te  yourse l f  

the  focus is  on  those who made the  dec is ion .  

MR GAMA:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So ,  I  th ink ,  perhaps put  another  way  

Mr  Gama,  I  mean what  i s  go ing  to  fo rm,  rea l l y,  my 

quest ion ing  o f  you is  no t  whether  you th ink  you were  

cor rec t l y  re - i ns ta ted ,  I ’m  qu i te  sure  you do,  bu t  ra ther  what  20 

mot iva ted  the  Board  to  re - ins ta te  you,  do  you apprec ia te  

tha t?   

CHAIRPERSON:    And i t  may we l l  be ,  I ’m  sor ry  –  i t  may 

we l l  be  tha t  on  many issues you might  have noth ing  to  say,  

and ask  the  Board ,  so  –  bu t  where  you want  to  say 
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someth ing ,  fee l  f ree ,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  let  us start  off  wi th the 

quest ioning sect ion pol i t ical  inf luence or interference.   

Perhaps we can start  wi th the evidence of  Barbara Hogan.  

  

 Now we have a t ranscr ipt  of  the relevant  port ion 

perhaps I  could just  ask you to turn behind you to  Bundle 

BB15 and this is  Transnet  Bundle 2.    

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You have i t?  10 

MR GAMA:   I  have got  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Could I  ask you please to turn to page 

216.   Now when Ms Hogan gave evidence she test i f ied about 

the stance adopted by the former President  in relat ion to you 

and could I  ask you please to  go to 216 to l ine 20 and this – 

this discussion appears to have been had at  a t ime when you 

were suspended.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry what page? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   216.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   At  l ine 20 he says:  

“Chai r  I  was ext remely shocked the President  

would not  hear  of  any candidate except  

Siyabonga Gama” 

And we ta lk ing about the candidate for Transnet GCE.  
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‘ I  informed h im how professional  the 

select ion process was.   I  informed him that  

he was facing some ser ious misconduct  

charges that  the board in terms of  the PFMA 

was obl iged to invest igate these charges.   I t  

was not  just  going ahead and under these 

ci rcumstances i t  would not  be in the interest  

of  Transnet to appoint  a Group CEO who was 

facing you know whose t ime would be caught  

up wi th defending himsel f  in  a misconduct  10 

but  even over  and above that  I  was 

recommending Mr Maseko.   On the basis of  

the recommendat ions made by the Transnet  

the recommendat ions made by the 

professional  evaluat ion agency. ”  

Now can I  then ask you to turn to page 22 3 and i f  I  could 

ask you please to have regard to  l ine 3 where Ms Hogan 

says:  

“Yes i t  actual ly shocked me I  okay you know 

he then sa id to  me you may not  appoint  20 

anyone to the board because the board also 

had to have changes unt i l  Mr Gama’s 

discipl inary was over because I  said to him 

we cannot appoint  him unt i l  the d iscipl inary 

is over i f  that  is the candidate that  you are 
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insist ing on. ”  

And i f  I  could take you please over the page to page 224 and 

di rect  your at tent ion to l ine 13.   Ms Hogan cont inued:  

“No at  the same meet ing should he wanted 

me to go ahead with the appointment of  Mr  

Gama.  I  said I  cannot  do that .   We kind of  

compromised.   He then said – he said alr ight  

we wi l l  wai t  unt i l  the d iscip l inary process is  

over.   I  d id not  agree to that  – sorry I  d id not  

agree to that .   But  we then agreed that  I  10 

would provide him with further informat ion 

which I  then did.”  

I f  you go to page 227 in a simi lar vein at  l ine 9.  

“He was insist ing f i rst ly that  I  go ahead and 

appoint  Gama.”  

Now you would have seen that  that  is opposi te Mr Makena’s 

name that  i t  c lear ly was Ms Hogan because the Chai rperson 

di rected a quest ion at  her.  

“He was insist ing f i rst ly that  I  go ahead and 

appoint  Gama.  I  said I  could not .   He was 20 

facing misconduct  charges and he was not  

the preferred candidate he then sa id that  no 

appointment to t ranslate must  be made unt i l  

the discipl inary case against  Mr Gama is  

concluded.   I  was concerned about that  and I  
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said I  would h im with further evidence.   I  was 

al ready remember I  was only one month into 

the job but  I  was al ready feel ing that  the 

President  was exceeding h is author i ty here 

and I  was t ruly shocked you know.  When you 

explain to  the President  that  a person is  

facing misconduct  charges you expect  a  

certain response to say – sorry that  says oh 

wel l  i f  that  is the case let  us look at  the 

preferred candidate that  the board is 10 

recommending.”  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  looks l ike Mr Myburgh the t ranscr ibers 

may not  have made i t  c lear that  part  of  what you are reading 

you are reading was what she sa id.   I t  looks l ike i t  was the 

evidence leader.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes I  have made that  point .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   DCJ yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  the context  makes i t  c lear I  th ink.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes absolutely  Chai r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   That  i t  is she who is ta lk ing.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then i f  I  could take you p lease to 

page 250 and what now happened is that  the evidence 

leader read into the record her s tatement relat ing to the 

evidence that  she had given.   The statement there you see i t  
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at  paragraph 11 recorded:  

“ I  was shocked and disappointed when 

President  Zuma informed me that  he was 

adamant that  Mr Gama was h is only choice 

for the Group CEO.  I  informed him that  that  

was not  possible and that  Mr Gama was not  

the board’s choice and I  could not  overr ide 

the board as they had undergone a very 

professional  select ion process.   I  further  

informed President  Zuma that  Mr Gama was 10 

the subject  of  an inquiry  into procurement  

i r regular i t ies and that  i t  would be very messy 

to appoint  a Group CEO who could 

potent ia l ly be facing fai r ly ser ious charges.”  

Two l ines below that .  

“President  Zuma said that  i f  that  was my 

view no appointment whatsoever  was to  

made at  Transnet  unt i l  Mr  Gama’s 

discipl inary process was over.   We agreed 

that  I  would provide him with more detai led 20 

informat ion to further apply h is mind.”  

You see that?  And then i f  you go to  page 253 there is  

another quote f rom her statement.  

“Mr Gama was formerly charged by Transnet  

and later suspended on 1 September 2009.  
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Immediate ly before and in the days fol lowing 

his suspension Mr Jeff  Radebe “Gama wi l l  

become CEO” Minister Siphiwe Nyanda 

“Gama is being persecuted l ike Jacob Zuma 

that  also ANC.  The SACP and ANC Youth 

League under Jul ius Malema at  the t ime al l  

issued st rong and harsh statements in  

support  of  Gama accusing Transnet  of  

persecut ing him.   This was ref lected in  

numerous statements and media reports. ”  10 

Did you have occasion to see those media reports at  the 

t ime of  your suspension? 

MR GAMA:   Maybe.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Or maybe even before your suspension.  

MR GAMA:   I  th ink – I  th ink i t  would be – I  may have seen 

some – seen some newspaper c l ippings now which are 

reduced and I  cannot real ly read what was said there but  I  

guess i f  I  was in the middle of  that  storm I  would have read 

some of  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So there you seem to have qui te a lot  20 

of  pol i t ical  support  amongst  the people,  Min ister Radebe, 

Minister Nyanda who we wi l l  come back to in due course 

etcetera.  

MR GAMA:   When you say I  seem to have the pol i t ical  

support  f rom the ANC, the SACP, the Youth League, the 
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South Af r ican Transport  Union as i t  is wr i t ten here how does 

that  br ing about a si tuat ion of  state capture? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  i t  depends what is  behind this Mr 

Gama.  

MR GAMA:   No I  am just  asking because… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  I  th ink – I  th ink al low Mr Myburgh to 

pursue his l ine of  quest ioning.  

MR GAMA:   Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes as I  said some of  the things you might  

have nothing to say because people may have been talk ing 10 

about you and you are not  part  of  that  or making whatever 

statements but  some you might  wi l l ing to say something.  

MR GAMA:   Yes no i t  is f ine I  see that  he is formulat ing a 

hypothesis Chai r.   So he is at  p laces that  he wants to pose 

i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay wel l  he is in the – br inging to your  

at tent ion some of  the matters that  may appear to be re levant  

to – how to make the – your reinstatement.   Of  course and 

your  counsel  in  due course might  say no they are i r relevant  

but  that  is the context  he -  he wants to br ing this to your 20 

at tent ion and then where you are able to comment you may 

comment where you are not  able to i t  is f ine.   Yes Mr 

Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Could we then go please 

to page 267 and i f  I  could d irect  your at tent ion to  l ine 22 



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 80 of 242 
 

again Ms Hogan.  

“No you know I  did await  the outcome of  the 

discipl inary hearing but  once that  outcome 

you know once he found gui l ty on the three 

counts and dismissed on al l  three counts the 

Deputy Minister  and mysel f  in i t iated a 

process to appoint  a new Transnet board and 

that  was – that  was then a year af ter al l  of  

th is had happened and i t  was then towards 

July/August  2010. ”  10 

So that  was fol lowing your – your dismissal .   You as I  have i t  

th is is what is recorded in the Set t lement Agreement which 

we wi l l  come to.   You were dismissed on the 29t h of  June 

2010 does that  accord wi th your recol lect ion?  29 June 2010.  

MR GAMA:   Okay I  am going to have to record i t  as a sad 

day ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then can I  take you please to page 

277 Ms Hogan says at  l ine 3.  

“Wel l  Mr Gama was f i red at  the end of  2010.   

I  was f i red by the President  at  the end of  20 

October 2010. ”  

She goes on to say at  l ine 10.  

“That  Mr Br ian Molefe was appointed as the 

CEO of  Transnet. ”  

And a few l ines below that .  
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“Then Mr Gama was reappointed as the CEO 

of  Transnet  Fre ight  Rai l .   I t  was a couple of  

months later  on the grounds that  they had 

rev iewed the sanct ion and had an 

independent review.  I  d id not  qui te know 

what that  was about and that  the board fel t  

that  the sanct ion i t  had been appl ied was too 

harsh.   Chairperson i t  was now a di fferent  

board f rom the one that  was in  existence 

dur ing your t ime. Yes this  was the board that  10 

he had been appointed by Minister Gigaba 

and who succeeded me.”  

And then i f  I  can take you to  page 278 at  l ine 18 Ms Hogan 

talks of  a memorandum that  was prepared by her 

department.   This was af ter your dismissal .    

“ I t  was a submission to cabinet  for the 

appointment of  a new board to Transnet. ”    

And she then two l ines below that   

“Conf i rms also asks you signed that  

memorandum on 27 October 2010.  She says 20 

yes”  

And then i f  you go to page 279 also towards the foot  of  the 

page at  l ines 4 – 24 Ms Hogan.  

“So now the President  has said I  can go 

ahead – I  cannot go ahead unt i l  Gama is  
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d ismissed.   Gama is dismissed.   Wi l l  send 

the detai ls of  the judgment – the ent i re 

judgment to the President .   Started 

processing a cabinet  memorandum for  the 

appointment  of  the new Transnet board.   

That  is post  Gama’s dismissal? Yes.   And i t  

is real ly in that  context  that  she explains as 

she put  i t  that  she was f i red at  the end of  

October 2010. ”  

And we know then that  she was replaced by Minister Gigaba 10 

wi th effect  I  th ink i t  was f rom the 1 January that  year.   Now 

Mr Gama did you – did you know anything about th is? 

MR GAMA:   No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Did you know that  you enjoyed the 

support  of  former President  Zuma to be appointed as the 

next  Group Chief  Execut ive of  Transnet? 

MR GAMA:   No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Did you come to learn that  Minister  

Hogan appears to  have fal len out  of  favour in re lat ion to – to  

you? 20 

MR GAMA:   I  do not  know that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Do you – did you come to learn of  that  

in the press or anyt ime af terwards? 

MR GAMA:   No I  do not  know 00:15:59 anyth ing to  do wi th  

me or that  i t  was one of  the things I  do not  know.  I  do not  
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know.  I  do not  00:16:07.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes I  th ink . .  

MR GAMA:    I  th ink i t  is a quest ion that  you must  pose to Mr 

Zuma.  

ADV OLDWADGE:  Mr Chai r  I  must  at  th is stage I  have been 

qui te pat ient  l istening to what has been put  to my cl ient  and I  

d id not  want to unnecessari ly  object  to th is  l ine of  

quest ioning but  I  fa i l  to  appreciate and I  say this  in  the 

context  of  what was previously indicated to my cl ient  by Mr 

Myburgh and even respect ful ly by yoursel f  but  th is  l ine of  10 

quest ioning is not  aimed at  establ ishing whether he had a 

ro le to play or even a part  in his reinstatement.    

 Now he is being quest ioned as to his knowledge of  

matters which real ly have nothing to do wi th him.  I t  is in the 

context  of  h im having been told but  i t  is not  al leged or  

insinuated or suggested in no manner of  means that  you had 

any role to play in  that .   

 In the context  of  that  i t  is  my submission that  th is l ine 

of  quest ioning is  whol ly i r relevant .   I f  that  is not  what i t  

seeks to  establ ish then Mr Myburgh must  make h is posi t ion 20 

clear because i t  is not  relevant .   Unless i t  is o f  course 

suggested that  my cl ient  had some role to play which is then 

a cont radict ion in  what was put  to  him this morning to the 

extent  that  Mr Myburgh f inds i t  appropriate to refer to the 

evidence of  Ms Hogan and press art ic le.   That  may be 
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evidence before you.   I t  is i r re levant  for my cl ient  in that 

context  to be cal led upon to del iver  some kind of  response or  

even an opin ion.   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes I  th ink our posi t ion is that  we 

certainly  do not  in tend to  quest ion Mr Gama about  the meri t s  

of  the decision to reinstate h im in other words whether he 

thinks i t  was a good or bad decision in labour law but  i t  is 

always been our case and Mr Gama knows this because of  

the 3.3 ’s that  have been issued and the quest ions that  have 10 

been posed to him that  there is  an invest igat ion into whether  

or not  some inf luence – pol i t ical  in f luence or otherwise was 

brought to bear on his reinstatement.   He was given a 3.3 I  

th ink you al ready know in relat ion to Mr Hogan’s evidence 

and one of  the quest ions posed to him in I  th ink i t  was his  

second 3.3 was the quest ion of  any and al l  interact ion that  

you had wi th former President  Zuma and or former Minister 

Gigaba regarding your  reinstatement as the CEO of  Transnet  

Freight  Rai l .   So those things are bound up and I  am simply 

pursuing that  l ine of  inqui ry.  20 

MR SOLOMONS SC:   Mr  Cha i r  i f  I  m igh t… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR SOLOMONS SC:   Be  pe rmi t ted  a  shor t  rep ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

MR SOLOMONS SC:   I t  i s  no t  in  answer  to  my ob jec t ion .   I f  
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tha t  i s  what  Mr  Myburgh seeks to  ach ieve i t  i s  a  s imp le  

approach put  i t  to  the  w i tness.   There  is  no  re levance to  

the  l ine  o f  quest ion ing  exp lored by  h im.   He  is  now 

obfuscat ing  the  issue.   I t  i s  no t  what  I  pu t  in  my ob jec t ion .   

I  sa id  i t  was i r re levant  to  ask  h im whethe r  he  had comment  

on  th is .   I t  was suggested to  h im th i s  morn ing  in  

unambiguous te rms tha t  he  p layed no ro le .   I t  is  in  the  

contex t  o f  tha t  tha t  I  say  i t  i s  i r re levant .   I f  he  says we l l  I  

want  to  pu t  quest ions d i rec t l y  to  h im in  re la t ion  to  tha t  then  

do so .    But  do  no t  –  do  no t  go  and obfuscate  mat te rs  tha t  10 

is  no t  my ob jec t ion  w i th  respect .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  I  th ink  what  –  I  th ink  what  –  I  th ink  

par t  o f  the  inqu i ry  i s  to  de termine whethe r  the  dec is ion  to  – 

the  board ’s  dec i s ion  to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama was ar r i ved a t  

because a t  leas t  in  par t  o f  any cons idera t ions tha t  may be 

re levant  to  what  the  commiss ion  is  look ing  a t .  

 Now I  take  i t  tha t  Mr  Gama wishes to  d ispute  any  

suggest ion  tha t  in  re ins ta t ing  h im the  board  may have  

ac ted  because o f  any cons ide ra t ions tha t  shou ld  no t  have  

been taken in to  account .    20 

 Now o f  course  I  am ta lk ing  w i th in  the  contex t  o f  –  o f  

the  commiss ion .   And i f  he  wou ld  seek to  d ispute  or  oppose  

any such propos i t ion  or  l ine  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  the  lega l  

team may want  to  say i f  Ms Hogan ’s  ev idence be fore  the  

commiss ion  is  t rue  –  i f  i t  i s  found to  be  t rue  fo r  example  
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tha t  in  c i rcumstances where  the  board  o f  Transnet  had  

gone th rough  pro fess iona l  se lec t ion  cr i te r ia  and 

recommended a  cer ta in  cand ida te  and not  Mr  Gama but  the  

fo rmer  Pres ident  Mr  Zuma took the  s tance tha t  Ms Barbara  

Hogan says he  took namely  or  tha t  pos i t ion  o f  Group CEO 

of  Transnet  I  wan t  Mr  Gama and nobody e l se  and i f  you te l l  

me tha t  he  may  be fac ing  or  he  is  fac ing  d isc ip l inary  

processes he cannot  be  appo in ted  a t  th is  s tage because he  

s t i l l  faces tha t  the  pos i t ion  w i l l  have to  remain  un f i l l ed  un t i l  

those processes have been comple ted  because tha t  i s  par t  10 

o f  what  Ms Barbara  Hogan sa id .  

 I t  may we l l  be  tha t  when –  tha t  the  lega l  team cou ld  

look  a t  the  c i r cumstances su r round ing  h is  re ins ta tement  

and say there  may we l l  be  a  connect ion  w i th  the  s tance 

a l leged ly  taken by  Pres ident  Zuma in  regard  to  how much 

he ins i s ted  tha t  the  –  Mr  Gama shou ld  be  the  Group CEO 

which  he  d id  end  up be ing  o f  cou rse  and tha t  w i l l  be  dea l t  

w i th  la te r.  

 I t  may we l l  be  tha t  i t  i s  fa i r  to  h igh l igh t  those th ings  

tha t  the  lega l  team might  th ink  they w i l l  ask  me to  have 20 

regard  to  so  tha t  Mr  Gama might  say  I  hear  what  you say 

bu t  look  a t  th is  and tha t  and tha t  and tha t  there fore  on  the  

-  whatever  may  have happened on the  bas i s  o f  the 

fo l low ing fac ts  o r  fac tors  the  board ’s  dec i s ion  had noth ing  

to  do  w i th  those th ings i t  jus t  have  to  do  w i th  the  mer i t s  o f  
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the  SZCEO.   So there  is  –  there  is  tha t  poss ib i l i t y  to  say i f  

in  the  end the  –  i t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  there  is  a  r i sk  tha t  the  

lega l  team might  a rgue tha t  even  i f  i t  i s  no t  because o f  

anyth ing  he  d id  bu t  h is  re ins ta tement  was a t  leas t  in  par t  

based on tha t  po l i t i ca l  in f luence i t  m igh t  be  tha t  i t  i s  fa i r  

tha t  he  must  know exact ly  what  the  lega l  team is  th ink ing  

and be ab le  to  say no  but  on  the  mer i t s  I  shou ld  have been 

re ins ta ted  o r  someth ing  l i ke  tha t .  

 That  i s  the  th ink ing  tha t  I  have  about  i t .   Okay 

a l r igh t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink  you probab ly  say le t  us  leave i t  

there  Cha i r.  

MR SOLOMONS SC:   Out  o f  respect  I  am not  go ing  to  say  

anyth ing  fo r  the  e f fec t  Mr  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .   No thanks.   But  the  idea  

and I  know tha t  –  we l l  in  my own mind I  th ink  you a l l  

accept  the  idea is  jus t  to  make sure  tha t  one does not  have 

a  s i tua t ion  where  Mr  Gama has not  had an oppor tun i ty  to  

dea l  w i th  someth ing  tha t  m ight  be  re l ied  upon la te r  on .   I t  20 

is  jus t  to  t ry  and be fa i r.   But  aga in  where  –  where  he  has 

no th ing  to  say you know i t  i s  f ine .   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you.   Perhaps I  cou ld  take  

you to  page 58 o f  Bund le  7  your  exh ib i t .  

MR GAMA:   My exh ib i t?  



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 88 of 242 
 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Your  exh ib i t  BB28.   I f  you  cou ld  tu rn  

to  page… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I s  tha t  a  d i f fe ren t  bund le?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bund le  7  BB28 i f  you cou ld  go  to  

page 58.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay Mr  Myburgh a lways remember  so….  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bund le  7 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   The bund le  tha t  he lps  me.   Bund le  7  ja .   10 

And what  i s  the  page number?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   58  –  58 .    

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A re  you there  Mr  Gama?  Th is  i s  you r  

second Ru le  –  so r ry  Regu la t ion  10 .6  Not ice  to  p roduce an  

a f f idav i t .   Cou ld  you go p lease to  page 60 a t  pa rag raph 1 .7  

a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page you were  ca l led  upon to  spec i f i ca l l y  

address in  add i t ion  to  the  a l legat ions  in  the  

a forement ioned a f f idav i t s  (and annexures)  the  fo l low ing.  

“1 .7 .1  Any and a l l  in te rac t ions tha t  you had  20 

w i th  fo rmer  Pres ident  Zuma and or  fo rmer  

Min is te r  G igaba regard ing  your  

re ins ta tement  as  the  CEO of  Transnet  

Fre igh t  Ra i l  in  2011. ”  

Do you see tha t?  
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MR GAMA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cou ld  we p lease then go to  your  

answer  to  paragraph 1 .7 .1  and tha t  you w i l l  f ind  a t  page  

47.   A re  you the re  a t  47?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You see tha t  you a t  paragraph 29  

answer  a t  pa ragraph 1 .7 .1 .   do  you see tha t?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And your  answer  i s :  

“ I  repeat  what  i s  conta ined in  pa ragraph 6 .3  10 

above. ”  

You see tha t?   So le t  us  then go to  paragraph 6 .3  above.   

That  you f ind  a t  page 30.   And your  answer  a t  6 .3  towards 

the  foo t  o f  the  page is  tha t  

“ I  am there  to  be l ieve  tha t  my re ins ta tement  

fo l lowed a f te r  in tense d i scuss ion  and  

debate  concern ing  the  top ic  by  the  Transnet  

board .   I  assume the  va lue  I  added to  

Transnet  as  re fer red  to  in  paragraph 3  

above and I  w i l l  have p layed a  ro le  in  the  20 

board ’s  de l ibera t ion . ”  

You see tha t?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Perhaps I  cou ld  pose the  quest ion  to  

you aga in .   I t  i s  posed a t  pa ragraph 1 .7 .1  o f  the  Regu la t ion  
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10 .6  Not ice  and  tha t  i s  what  in te rac t ions i f  any  d id  you 

have w i th  fo rmer  Pres ident  Zuma and o r  fo rmer  Min is te r  

G igaba about  you r  re ins ta tement .  

MR GAMA :    None.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You d id  no t  say  tha t  in  your  a f f idav i t .  

MR GAMA :    H ’m? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You do not  dea l  w i th  tha t  quest ion  in  

your  a f f idav i t .  

MR GAMA :    I  do  no t . . .   Okay.   Can I  read i t  fo r  you and I  

quote .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .  

MR GAMA :    6 .4 :  

“ I t  has  been brought  to  my a t ten t ion  tha t  the  

Commiss ion  is  a lso  invest iga t ing  whether  

e rs twh i le  Pres ident  Zuma and/or  e rs twh i le  

Min is te r  G igaba may have a t tempted to  secure  

my re ins ta tement . . . ”  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR GAMA :    “ I  emphat ica l l y  deny hav ing  had knowledge o f   

such a t tempts  un t i l  such t ime tha t  I  became 20 

aware  o f  such a l legat ions  dur ing  the  

Commiss ion ’s  p roceed ings. . . ”  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   I  do  apo log ise .  

MR GAMA :    So. . .  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    [ Ind is t inc t ]   . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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MR GAMA :    Oh,  so  no .   No,  i t  is  no t  what  o ther  peop le  

te l l ing  you but  I  was not  a t  c losed  meet ings.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  suppose  i f  the  cross- re ference 

were  to  6 .3  and  6 .4  then tha t  confus ion  m ight  no t  have 

ar isen.   So you . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    C lose quote .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .deny hav ing  any knowledge o f  

such a t tempts?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   D id  you have ever  occas ion  10 

to  meet  Pres ident  Zuma,  fo rmer  Pres ident  Zuma? 

MR GAMA :    When?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  eve r.  

MR GAMA :    H ’m? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ever.  

MR GAMA :    Have I  met  Pres ident  Zuma? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   Persona l ly.   Have you met  

h im?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    When?  20 

MR GAMA :    He was there  to  launch locomot ives  in  2014 or  

2015.   I  do  no t  know the  da te .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I s  tha t  the  on ly  occas ion  tha t  you 

met  h im?  

MR GAMA :    No,  he  is  o f f i c ia ted  on  a  number  o f  Transnet  
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p ro jec ts  what  we d id  ou t  o f  the  market  demand s t ra tegy.   I  

do  no t  know the  da te .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  apar t  f rom those,  le t  us  ca l l  i t  

bus iness o f f i c ia l  meet ings,  have  you met  h im? 

MR GAMA :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    D id  you . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    Not  about  th is ,  anyway.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  I  am ask ing  you.   Have you 

met  h im?  I  w i l l  no t  t ie  you to  a  sub jec t .  

MR GAMA :    No,  no .   I  have not  had any persona l  meet ings  10 

w i th  Pres ident  Zuma.   That  d id  no t  happen.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Have you  had persona l  meet ings 

w i th  Mr  G igaba?  

MR GAMA :    Yes,  I  had had a  meet ing  w i th  Mr  G igaba.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    When was tha t?  

MR GAMA :    A pe rsona l  meet ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  beg your  pardon?  

MR GAMA :    I  am say ing  I  have had a  meet ing  w i th  

Mr  G igaba.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  20 

MR GAMA :    I t  was a f te r  my re ins ta tement  a t  Transnet .   He 

asked me meet  and I  have met  w i th  h im.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    What  d id  you meet  h im about?  

MR GAMA :    He wanted me to  assure  them tha t  I  wou ld  

g ive  suppor t  to  the  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  o f  Transnet ,  
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Mr  Mole fe  and make sure  tha t  I  suppor ted  h im so  tha t  the  

company can succeed.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And when wou ld  tha t  meet ing  have 

been?  

MR GAMA :    Somet ime in  2011,  p robab ly  a round Apr i l  o r  

May o f  2011,  a f te r  I  had been re ins ta ted .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Was tha t  w i th in  the  –  h is  seek ing  tha t  

assu rance f rom you?  Was tha t  w i th in  the  contex t  o f  the  

fac t  tha t  you had prev ious l y  a lso  app l ied  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    Oh . . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .appo in tment  to  tha t  pos i t ion?  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . tha t  was now occup ied?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR GAMA :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bu t  tha t  wou ld  have been around the  

t ime o f  Mr  Mole fe ’s  appo in tment?  

MR GAMA :    A f ter  Mr  Mole fe  had been appo in ted .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A f te r?  

MR GAMA :    Yes,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you a lso  app l ied  fo r  tha t  

pos i t ion ,  as  I  unders tand?  

MR GAMA :    I  app l ied  fo r  i t  in  2009.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bu t  you conf i rm tha t  you app l ied  fo r  

i t  th is  t ime as  we l l .  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now le t  us  dea l  then w i th  Mr  G igaba.   

We know tha t  he  is  appo in ted  as  the  new Min i s te r  f rom the  

1 s t  o f  November  and he then appo in ts  a  new Board  o f  

D i rec tors  w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i  as  the  Cha i rperson,  cor rec t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now you wou ld  have seen tha t  a t  the 

f i rs t  meet ing  tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  had w i th  Mr  G igaba,  10 

Mr  G igaba te l l  h im,  a t  leas t  accord ing  to  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  tha t  

the  fa i rness o f  your  d ismissa l  shou ld  be  rev iewed.   Do you  

know anyth ing  about  tha t ,  o f  the  s tance o f  Mr  G igaba?  

MR GAMA :    No,  I  was not  a t  tha t  meet ing .   Cha i r,  maybe  

jus t  to  a  b i t  o f  contex t  wh ich  I  do  no t  know whethe r  

Mr  Myburgh knows or  does not  know.   I  was d ismissed a t  a  

par t i cu la r  day as  he  sa id .   I  appea led  tha t  d i smissa l .   

When I  appea led  tha t  d ismissa l  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  know you used in  your  a f f idav i t  the  

te rm appea l  as  you do now.  20 

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And tha t  i s  unders tandab le  because you  

are  no t  a  lawyer.  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  i t  i s  techn ica l  you re fer red  to  an  
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un fa i r  d i smissa l  j us t  to  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l .  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  i s  no t  an  appea l  bu t  you ins t i tu te 

proceed ings to  cha l lenge your  d i smissa l .   So I  am jus t  

mak ing  tha t  because I  saw in  your  a f f idav i t  you used tha t  

te rm but  I  know what  you mean.  

MR GAMA :    No,  thank you.   Thank  you fo r  schoo l ing  me.    

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]  

MR GAMA :    [ laughs]   You know these mat te rs  much more  

than many. . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]    

MR GAMA :    You  are  qu i te  cor rec t .   But  I  th ink  as  a  resu l t  

o f  my re fer ra l  o f  the  un fa i r  d i smissa l  to  the  Transnet  

Barga in ing  Counc i l ,  there  was a  meet ing  a t  the  Barga in ing  

Counc i l  whereas  the  appe l lan t  o r  whatever  name you  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  i t  i s  ca l led  app l i cant .  

MR GAMA :    App l i cant ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja .   Transnet  o r  TFR wou ld  be  the 

respondent .   Ja .  20 

MR GAMA :    Yes,  yes .   So as  the  app l i cant ,  I  adduced 

cer ta in  a rguments  around a  mat te r.   Then Transnet  

requested tha t  the  mat te r  be  ad journed so  tha t  an  

oppor tun i ty  cou ld  be  g iven to  Transnet  and myse l f  to  

engage on the  mat te r  and see whether  o r  no t  we cou ld  no t  
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se t t le  th is  mat te r.   

 So when Mr  Mkwanaz i  ge ts  in to  t he  a rena,  he  is  

tak ing  over  f rom tha t  p rocess  where  the  d iscuss ions  

be tween me and  Transnet  tha t  have been asked,  le t  us 

d iscuss th is ,  le t  us  see i f  we canno t  se t t le  th is .  

 And I  can te l l  you  Cha i rperson,  I  d id  no t  want  to  

go  back to  Transnet  in  te rms o f  the  se t t lement  d iscuss ions 

tha t  we a re  hav ing .   I  jus t  wanted to  see how much  money  

they cou ld  g ive  me to  go  away.  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]   That  i s  qu i te  in te res t ing .    10 

MR GAMA :    So. . .  H ’m.   I  am say ing  tha t  there  were  

d iscuss ions tha t  a re  tak ing  p lace as  a  resu l t  o f  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  par t  o f  what  you a re  say ing  i s .   I  am 

not  the  one who was push ing  to  be  re ins ta ted .   I f  they  gave  

me . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    No,  I  sa id  to  them pay me so  much.   I  w i l l  

l eave you in  peace.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.   H ’m.  

MR GAMA :    And you can do your  shenan igans w i thout  me,  

because even the  c i rcumstances o f  my be ing  charged,  they  20 

knew i t  had never  happened a t  Transnet  be fore  where  

ins tead o f  peop le  say ing  to  you,  we th ink  there  has  been a  

t ransgress ion  o f  th is  na ture .   How can you reso lve  i t?    

 Aud i to rs  a t  Transnet ,  they  come to  management  

and they say:   Manager  so  and so ,  th is  i s  what  has 
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happened.   A re  you aware  o f  i t?   How do you p lan  to  

remedy i t?    

 When i t  came to  Game,  they were  say ing  you 

have done someth ing  bu t  we w i l l  no t  te l l  you .   We wi l l  no t  

te l l  you  what  we th ink  you have done.   So we w i l l  te l l  you  

when we g ive  you the  bund le  a t  the  d isc ip l inary  ins tead o f  

say ing  these are  the  issues.  

 Or  i f  they  te l l  you ,  they wou ld  g ive  me ha l f . . .   

Ha l f  i s  too  much Cha i r.   They w i l l  g ive  me a  quar te r  o f  the  

in fo rmat ion .   They w i l l  come to  me and say:   Here  is  the 10 

las t  page o f  what  you s igned.   Do you remember?   I s  th is  

your  s ignatu re?  

 So I  was charge in  those c i r cumstances where  i t  

was c lear  tha t  there  was someth ing  e l se .   I  was on ly  

charged as  a  consequence o f  my app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  post  as  

the  GCF o f  Transnet .    

 I f  I  had never  app l ied  to  the  GCF o f  Transnet  in  

2009,  I  wou ld  never  have been charged.   So,  and  peop le  

were  scrapp ing  a round.    

 And Cha i r,  there  i s  a  success ion  p lan  in  20 

Transnet .   And you can go and ask fo r  them in  June o r  

September  2008 and say:   And who was the  person tha t  

was earmarked to  take  ove r  f rom Mar ia  Ramos?  You can  

go and ask them and maybe they w i l l  g ive  you tha t  

document .    
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 And then the  dec is ion  no t  to  fo l low the i r  own 

success ion  p lan ,  you can a lso  go  and ask them why.   I  had 

not  been t rus ted  tha t  t ime.   So Cha i r,  I  am say ing  there  is  

a  lo t  o f  contex t  to  th is  th ing .   And somet imes when you  

hear  and you –  I  am be ing  asked whethe r  i t  i s  Zuma,  there  

is  a lways somewhere  where  organs say tha t  Mantashe as 

we l l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  the  same th ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  10 

MR GAMA :    And you have to  ask  the  quest ion ,  what  was  

the  contex t  because I  do  no t  th ink  they jus t  woke  up one  

day and they sa id :   Oh,  okay,  i t  i s  Gama.   I t  was the  SACP.   

I t  was the  ANC.   I  do  no t  know.   But  the  ac tua l  d iscuss ion  

tha t  I  am be ing  asked about ,  I  was  not  a  par ty  to  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  h ’m.  

MR GAMA :    I  am not  p r ivy  to  any pres ident ia l  d iscuss ion  

w i th  Cab ine t  Min i s te rs .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  h ’m.   Now Mr  Myburgh has put  a  

cer ta in  quest ion  and  I  am not  sure  whethe r  th is  has 20 

answered i t .   I f  i t  has  no t ,  Mr  Myburgh,  you can put  your  

quest ion  aga in .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   No,  I  do  no t  th ink  i t  has .   I  was  

dea l ing  w i th  the  issue o f  the  f i rs t  d iscuss ion  be tween  

Mr  Mkwanaz i  and  Mr  G igaba.   And I  had asked you whethe r  
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you  knew anyth ing  about  the  s tance tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  sa id  

Mr  G igaba adopted and tha t  i s  tha t  the  fa i rness  o f  your  

d ismissa l  shou ld  be  rev iewed.  

 And as  I  unders tand your  answer,  you say:   Wel l ,  

Mr  Mkwanaz i  p icked up as  the  new cha i rperson,  there  had  

been preced ing  negot ia t ions .   I s  tha t  –  d id  I  unders tand 

your  ev idence cor rec t l y?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.   Wel l ,  when I  engaged w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  

he  sa id  to  me:   Look,  do  no t  en ter ta in  these th ings o f  us  

pay ing  you a  lo t  o f  money to  go  away.   The bus iness i s  10 

su f fe r i ng .   We wou ld  want  fo r  you to  cont inue to  make a  

cont r ibu t ion .   And  because I  knew h im,  I  changed my mind.   

He had been my GCE before .    

 I  sa id  to  h im,  yes,  I  w i l l  s tay  bu t  le t  us  then  

d iscuss how we dea l  w i th  i t ,  because h is  i ssues were  tha t  

Transnet . . .   In  fac t ,  what  he  sa id  to  me.   I  th ink  tha t  w i th in  

four  months  o f  go ing  cash negat ive .   He sa id :   Look,  in  

four  months ’ t ime the  company is  no t  go ing  to  be  ab le  to  

pay sa la r ies  fo r  the  employees because o f  what  i s  

happen ing  a t  TFR and I  needed to  go  and f i x  th is  th ing .   I  20 

agreed and tha t  i s  how we had an issue –  a  d i scuss ion  

about  se t t lement .    

 And a t  tha t  t ime  he sa id  to  me:   Look,  i f  you  

agree tha t  you can come back then we can d iscuss the  

re ins ta tement .   I  have to  go  back  to  my board  co l leagues  
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to  d iscuss th is  mat te r  and then  we w i l l  have another  

d iscuss ion .   That  i s  where  we were .    

 So as  fa r  as  I  am concerned there  was tha t  

p rocess,  Cha i r,  tha t  you have descr ibed.   I t  i s  no t  an  

appea l .   There  was tha t  p rocess and out  o f  tha t  p rocess 

then came the  d iscuss ion  tha t  I  was hav ing  w i th  

Mr  Mkwanaz i .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   I f  I  cou ld  go  back to  the  

d iscuss ion  tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  w i th  Mr  G igaba.   What  

Mr  Mkwanaz i  sa id  i s  tha t  i t  was c lear  to  h im tha t  Mr G igaba 10 

had some in fo rmat ion  about  you r  d ismissa l .   He sa id  tha t  

he  re fe r red  to  condonat ion  o f  p rocurement .   He spoke  

about  such th ings .    

 And what  Mr  Mkwanaz i  assumed is  tha t  he  knew 

tha t  because,  accord ing  to  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  he  assumed tha t  

you had been speak ing  to  Mr  G igaba.   Do you want  to  

comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    No,  I  had not  been  speak ing  to  Mr  G igaba.   

Remember,  you jus t  to ld  me and the  Cha i r  ear l ie r  tha t  

Ms Hogan was the  Min is te r  o f  Pub l i c  Enterp r ises   So there  20 

is  no th ing  tha t  I  wou ld  have  been d iscuss ing  w i th  

Mr  G igaba.   I  d id  no t  know tha t  Mr  G igaba  is  go ing  to  

become the  Min i s te r  o f  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Th is  i s  a  d iscuss ion  tha t  

Mr  Mkwanaz i  says he  has and . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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MR GAMA :    D id  he  g ive  you a  da te  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  you  see,  th is  i s  the  t r i cky  par t  

o f  the  –  o f  Mr  Mkwanaz i ’s  ev idence.   He says i t  was in  

October.   You w i l l  reca l l  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    A t  the  end o f  October.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A t  the  end o f  October.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And he seem to  s tand by  tha t .   I t  

was put  to  h im by the  Cha i rperson tha t  i t  cou ld  no t  have  

been in  October,  end o f  October.   I t  must  have been a f te r  10 

the  1 s t  o f  November  because tha t  i s  when we  know 

ob jec t i ve l y  when Mr  G igaba was appo in ted .   But  i f  I  reca l l  

tha t  ev idence cor rec t l y,  Cha i r,  he  d id  ind ica te  tha t  he  met  

w i th  Mr  G igaba in  h is  capac i ty  as  he  be ing  the  Min is te r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  I  th ink  i t  i s  more  o f  a  da te  i ssue  

than . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  I  th ink  i f  they  d id  meet  be fore  

1  November,  i t  wou ld  on ly  have  been i f  Mr  G igaba had  

been to ld  tha t  f rom 1  November  he  was go ing  to  be  the  20 

Min is te r  o f  Pub l i c  Enterp r ises .   That  i s  the  on ly  th ing  I  can 

th ink  o f .    

 Bu t  in  the  end ,  whether  they  met  on  the  

31 s t  o f  October  o r  ea r ly  in  November,  i t  m igh t  no t  rea l l y  

mat te r.   I t  i s  more  the  content  o f  the  d iscuss ion  tha t  may 
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be  impor tan t .   And i f  tha t  d iscuss ion  re la ted  to  wha t  wou ld  

be  Mr  G igaba ’s  por t fo l io  f rom the  1s t  o f  November.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you,  Cha i r.   So . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    So  to  answer  i t .   I t  i s  e i ther  end o f  

October  o r  ear ly  November  because I  th ink  Mr  G igaba has 

dea l t  w i th  tha t  in  a f f idav i t s .   He has not  tes t i f ied  ye t  and I  

th ink  tha t  he  admi ts  tha t  such a  meet ing  took p lace but  I  

th ink  he  says i t  was ear ly  November.  

MR GAMA :    Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  the  s imp le  p ropos i t ion  is  tha t  on  

Mr  Mkwanaz i ’s  ev idence,  Mr  G igaba knew abou t  your  

d ismissa l  case.   He knew about  the  cont rove rsy  in  re la t ion  

to  the  condonat ion  o f  p rocurement  i r regu lar i t ies  and he,  in  

tha t  contex t ,  assumed tha t  you  had been speak ing  to  

Mr  G igaba.   You say you have not  done tha t?  

MR GAMA :    No,  and as  I  say,  the re  wou ld  have no reason 

fo r  me to  do  so  because I  d id  no t  even know tha t  

Mr  G igaba was go ing  to  become the  Min i s te r  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises ,  bu t  two,  th is  was a  very  pub l i c  mat te r  and 20 

peop le  wro te  thes is  a round th is  in  2010.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And what  Mr  Mkwanaz i  a lso  says is .   

He thought  tha t  you o r  he  assumed tha t  you had spoken to  

Mr  G igaba because when you were  suspended,  you had  

lobb ied  any Min i s te rs .  
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MR GAMA :    That  i s  no t  t rue .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    D id  you not  lobby Min is te rs?  

MR GAMA :    I  went  cou ld (?)  and  I  s tayed w i th  my fa the r  

and I  p lan ted  tomatoes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now I  want  to  dea l  w i th  the  

invo l vement  o f  Mr  Mhlangu.   We know Mr  Mhlangu,  he  was  

the  adv isor  to  Mr  G igaba.  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    We are  two or  t h ree  minutes  be fore  one 

o ’c lock .   I  do  no t  know whether  you want  to  s ta r t  o r  you  10 

want  to  s ta r t  a f te r  two?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  am happy to  s ta r t  a f te r  two.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  may be more  conven ien t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .   Okay le t  us  take  the  lunch  

break now.   We w i l l  resume a t  two o ’c lock .   We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  le t  us  cont inue.    

ADV MYBURGH:    Cha i rperson,  Mr  S ingh and h is  counse l  20 

are  in  a t tendance.   I  am sure  you are  aware ,  as  we are ,  

tha t  there  i s  someth ing  o f  a  concer t ina  now o f  w i tnesses.   I  

sa id  to  them tha t  perhaps I  wou ld  ra ise  tha t  and you may 

be prepared w i th  your  d i rec t ion  to  re lease them and  maybe  

we can se t  a  t ime  as  to  when they shou ld  come back.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH:    I  am sor ry,  I  shou ld  perhaps have ra ised 

th is  w i th  you in  chambers ,  bu t . . .  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no ,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine .   I s  your  p lan  tha t  

a f te r  Mr  Gama you wou ld  ca l l  Mr  S ingh o r  Mr  G igaba? 

ADV MYBURGH:    Wel l ,  I  am in  the  –  I  have got  a  doub le  

prob lem,  DCJ,  I  do  no t  know,  I  th ink  I  am rea l l y  in  your  

hands.   Mr  G igaba,  I  th ink  i s  fo rmal ly  schedu led  to  fo l low 

Mr  Gama inso fa r  as  tha t  was the  p lan  bu t  tha t  was based  

on the  fac t ,  you w i l l  remember,  tha t  we agreed w i th  Mr  10 

S ingh because h i s  w i fe  was g i v ing  b i r th  tha t  he  wou ld  g i ve  

ev idence on Thursday and Fr iday.   We wou ld  have  

prepared to  have  Mr  S ingh d i rec t l y  a f te r  Mr  Mole fe  g iven 

tha t  they dea l  w i th  common ground .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  Mr  S ingh,  as  I  unders tand the  

pos i t ion ,  i s  ready  to  g ive  ev idence on a l l  mat te rs  re la t ing  

to  Transnet .    

ADV MYBURGH:    I  th ink  he  is  ( ind is t inc t  –  record ing  

d is to r ted)  

CHAIRPERSON :    ( ind is t inc t  –  record ing  d is to r ted )  i ssues 20 

tha t  he  must  dea l  w i th  la te r.  

ADV MYBURGH:    I  unders tand,  DCJ,  tha t  he  f i led  an  

a f f idav i t  recent ly.   I  have not  seen  tha t  a f f idav i t ,  I  assume 

my co l league con f i rmed tha t  i t  dea ls  w i th  a l l  the  –  inso far  

as  the re  were  ou ts tand ing  issues,  tha t  i t  dea ls  w i th  them.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  i f  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH:    That  I  wou ld  have to  conf i rm though.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine .   What  is  you r  

es t imate  o f  how long –  when we w i l l  f in ish  w i th  Mr  Gama?  

F i ve ,  ha l f  past  f i ve ,  s ix ,  o r…? 

ADV MYBURGH:    I  wou ld  th ink  so ,  yes ,  DCJ.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.   So one opt ion  is  fo r  us  to  

take  whoever  be tween Mr  S ingh and Mr  G igaba who can 

f in ish  in  a  day and take  one who w i l l  no t  f in ish  i n  a  day to  

another  t ime.  10 

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t ,  we l l ,  I  th ink  tha t  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  another  approach is  to  look  a t  the  

sub jec t  mat te r  and then say we l l ,  i t  makes bet te r  sense to  

s ta r t  w i th  so  and  so  even i f  he  m ight  no t  f in ish  in  a  day.   

So i f  you  had p lanned to  have Mr  S ingh tes t i f y  a f te r  Mo le fe  

then maybe tha t  i s  what  you shou ld  t ry  and do but  then we 

can ta lk  about  maybe s tar t ing  tomorrow wi th  h im.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes,  DCJ,  i f  I  cou ld  pe rhaps go back to  

your  f i rs t  p roposa l .   I f  I  was to  choose who cou ld  be  

f in ished in  a  day I  th ink  Mr  G igaba can be because we  20 

know tha t  we are  conf in ing  tha t  to  Transnet  and there  is  

rea l l y  on ly  two issues.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Mr  S ingh,  o f  course ,  can never  be  

comple ted  in  a  day.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH:    There  is  the  added compl i ca t ion  tha t  I  

have not  had an oppor tun i ty  to  s tudy h i s  a f f idav i t .   O f  

course ,  I  shou ld  be  –  hopefu l l y  I  can do tha t  overn igh t  bu t  I  

am in  your  hand,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You do not  what  the  pos i t ion  –  what  v iew 

you w i l l  take  a f te r  read ing  h i s  a f f idav i t .  

ADV MYBURGH:    No.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  guess what  i s  t rue  is  tha t  w i th  regard  

to  someone l i ke  Mr  S ingh you can probab ly  f in ish  a  day 10 

w i thout  ge t t ing  to  tha t  a f f idav i t ,  depend ing .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes,  i f  tha t  i s  poss ib le .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH:    So  i t  i s  rea l l y  s i x  o f  one and ha l f  a  

dozen o f  the  o ther.   We can cer ta in ly  s ta r t  w i th  Mr  S ingh  

and then f in i sh  ha l fway th rough h i s  ev idence or  we  cou ld  

dea l  w i th  Mr  G igaba and f in ish  what  we have.   We are  in  

your  hands,  DCJ.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  I  am easy  too ,  I  am easy too ,  bu t  

based on the  fac t  tha t  you had  p lanned tha t  Mr  S ingh 20 

shou ld  come a f te r  Mr  Mole fe ,  I  th ink  we shou ld  s ta r t  w i th  

Mr  S ingh a f te r  Mr  G igaba –  a f te r  Mr  Gama but  a l so  I  am 

aware  tha t  w i th  regard  to  Mr  G igaba there  are  ce r ta in  

deve lopments  tha t  make h im not  f in ish  every th ing  

tomorrow.  
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ADV MYBURGH:    Yes,  I  wou ld  say a l so  tha t  I  wou ld  

probab ly  fee l  more  comfor tab le  ho ld ing  Mr  G igaba over  so  

as  to  dea l  w i th  h im a l l  a t  once ins tead on a  p iecemeal  

bas is .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja ,  ja .   No,  no ,  no ,  I  th ink  tha t  i s  how 

we shou ld  proceed.   So I  hope tha t  he lps  counse l  fo r  Mr  

S ingh?  Yes.   Mr  G igaba ’s  lega l  team is  no t  here  as  we ta l k  

about  these th ings,  they are  no t  he re .  

ADV MYBURGH:    No,  they are  no t  bu t  we can get  ho ld  o f  

them and a t  leas t  we have …[ in tervenes]  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  tha t  i s  r igh t  and then in  tha t  event  

maybe they can be here  tomor row morn ing  and ta lk  wh i le  

they a re  here  about  what  i s  p roposed to  be  done.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Sor ry,  wou ld  we s tar t  then a t  ha l f  past  

n ine  tomorrow,  Cha i rperson?  

CHAIRPERSON :    We can s ta r t  a t  ha l f  past  n ine  tomorrow 

as we l l .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Thank you.   A l r igh t ,  Mr  –  sor ry,  may I  20 

cont inue?  

CHAIRPERSON :    You may cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Thank you.   Good a f te rnoon,  Mr  Gama.   

I  had jus t  tu rned to  a  d i f fe ren t  top ic  and tha t  ac tua l l y  does  

re fer  to  Mr  G igaba.   You know,  Mr  Mhlangu,  he  was Mr  
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G igaba ’s  adv i ser?  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  I  know h im.  

ADV MYBURGH:    So  the  chrono logy o f  events  tha t  f lowed 

a f te r  the  f i rs t  d iscuss ion  be tween Mr  G igaba  and Mr  

Mkwanaz i  was tha t  in  January  there  was a  d iscuss ion  

be tween Mr  Mhlangu and Ms Mkwanaz i  where  Mr  Mhlangu  

in  fac t  pu ts  Mr  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    January  2011,  nè? 

ADV MYBURGH:    January… 

CHAIRPERSON :    I  must  be  2011  because Mr  Gama was 10 

re ins ta ted  in  February.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Or  a t  leas t  h is  se t t lement  ag reement  was 

in  February.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes,  i t  i s  January  2011.   You a re  

cor rec t ,  the  d iscuss ion  was in  –  a t  the  end o f  October  o r  a t  

the  beg inn ing  o f  November  2010.   So go ing  in to  the  next  

year,  Mr  Gama,  the  sequence or  chrono logy o f  events  i s  

tha t  Mr  Mhlangu  contac ts  Mr  Mkwanaz i  and Mr  Mhlangu  

puts  Mr  Mkwanaz i  in  touch w i th  Sbu Gule  o f  Denys Re i tz .   I  20 

take  i t  you  do not  know anyth ing  about  tha t .  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  do  no t .  

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t .   So i f  I  cou ld  then take  you 

p lease to  –  jus t  bear  w i th  me,  sor ry.   I f  I  cou ld  take  you to  

Transnet  bund le  2 ,  tha t  shou ld  be  in  the  boxes beh ind  you 
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somewhere .   Yes ,  i f  you  cou ld  p lease tu rn  to  –  so  th is ,  

Cha i rperson,  i s  Transnet  bund le  2 ,  EXHIBIT BB15.   I f  I  

cou ld  ask  you to  go  to  page 3?  So what  fo l lows Mr  

Mkwanaz i  hav ing  been put  in  touch w i th  Mr  Gu le  by  Mr  

G igaba ’s  adv i se r  i s  then a  meet ing  wh ich  takes p lace on 

the  22  January  and I  assume,  DCJ,  tha t  tha t  shou ld  in  fac t  

be  11  and not  10 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry ,  tha t  page 3?  

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  yes ,  tha t  –  a re  you ta lk ing  about  the  10 

f i rs t  paragraph?  

ADV MYBURGH:    Wel l ,  i t  i s  the  da te ,  i t  says  22  January  

2010 but  then paragraph 1  re fers  to  22  January 2011.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  yes ,  no ,  no ,  i t  shou ld  be  2011,  no t  

2010.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Now what  i t  re f lec ts ,  Mr  Gama,  i s  tha t  

there  was a  meet ing  a t tended by  Mr  Mapoma and Mr  

Mkwanaz i  on  beha l f  o f  Transnet .   Mr  Langa,  I  unders tand  

he was your  a t to rney a t  the  t ime,  is  tha t  r igh t?  

MR GAMA:    That  i s  cor rec t .  20 

ADV MYBURGH:    Together  w i th  yourse l f  and then Mr  Gu le  

and Sangon i ,  they  were  two a t to rneys f rom Denys  Re i tz ,  

wou ld  conf i rm tha t?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:   And what  the  no te  re f lec t s  i s  tha t  there  
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was a  pr i va te  d iscuss ion  amongst  Transnet  and i t s  

a t to rneys and then there  as  a  d iscuss ion  w i th  you.   I  wou ld  

jus t  l i ke  to  take  you p lease to  pa ragraph 4  a t  the  foo t  o f  

page 3 .   So th i s  o f  course  now needs to  be  seen in  the  

l igh t  o f  Mkwanaz i ’s  in te rac t ion  w i th  Mr  G igaba,  wh ich  I  

have exp la ined to  you,  and Mr  Mkwanaz i  says  a t  th is  

meet ing  or  consu l ta t ion ,  exp la ined tha t  he  wou ld  l i ke  to  

ass is t  Mr  Gama where  reasonab ly  poss ib le ,  h is  in ten t ion  i s  

to  b r ing  h im back  in to  h is ,  the  Cha i rman ’s  o f f i ce ,  he  wants  

Mr  Gama to  ass i s t  h im on a  number  o f  s t ra teg ic  i ssues,  he  10 

however  needs good mot iva t ion  to  do  so .   H is  v iew is  tha t  

i f  he  is  p rov ided w i th  an  op in ion  se t t ing  ou t  tha t  there  had  

been some unfa i rness towards Mr  Gama a t  the  board  

meet ing  on  16 February  he  wou ld  persuade the  o ther  board  

members  to  make  the  dec is ion  to  b r ing  Mr  Gama back in to  

the  organ isa t ion .   D id  Mr  Mkwanaz i  ever  convey  th is  to  

you?  D id  he  ever  convey tha t  to  you,  Mr  Mkwanaz i?  

CHAIRPERSON :    In  o ther  words,  d id  he  ever  say to  you he 

wou ld  l i ke  to  ass is t  you and he  wou ld  l i ke  to  b r ing  you  

back to  t he  Cha i rman ’s  o f f i ce  and he  wou ld  l i ke  you to  20 

ass is t  h im on a  number  o f  s t ra teg i c  i ssues and tha t  he  jus t  

needed a  good mot iva t ion  to  do  so  and i f  he  cou ld  ge t  an  

op in ion  se t t ing  ou t  tha t  there  had been some un fa i rness  

towards you he be l ieved tha t  he  cou ld  pe rsuade the  board  

to  make the  dec i s ion  to  b r i ng  you  back.   D id  he  ever  say 
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tha t  to  you?  

MR GAMA:     No,  no ,  no .   What  he  sa id  to  me was  he was 

no in te res ted  i n  the  d iscuss ion  about  me  get t ing  

compensat ion  and go ing  way,  tha t  he  wou ld  l i ke  me to 

come back to  the  company and tha t  i s  what  he  sa id .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR GAMA:    So  I  guess th i s  i s  the  pa r t  when we had not  

…[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH:    You were  in  a  separa te  meet ing .  

MR GAMA:    I  do  no t  th ink  we were  in  th is  …[ in tervenes]  10 

ADV MYBURGH:    No,  no ,  i t  does re f lec t  tha t .  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Bu t  as  Mr  –  and  o f  course  i t  needs to  be  

seen in  the  con tex t  o f  the  d iscuss ion  you had w i th  Mr  

G igaba tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  accepted  tha t  what  he  was rea l l y  

look ing  fo r  here  was some f r iend ly  lega l  adv ice ,  he  jus t  

needed someth ing  tha t  showed some unfa i rness  so  he  

cou ld  persuade the  board  members  tha t  you shou ld  come 

back.   You say he  d id  no t  ra ise  tha t  w i th  you? 

MR GAMA:    No,  no .  20 

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t  and then  what  we do know is  tha t  

–  jus t  to  cont inue  w i th  the  ch rono logy,  there  was then some 

adv ice  prepared and i f  I  cou ld  take  you to  tha t .   I t  was  

prepared by  Mr  Mapoma and then there  was some input  by  

Deneys Re i tz  and the  product  tha t  was then produced you 



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 112 of 242 
 

f ind  a t  page 16.  

MR GAMA:    On one s ix?  

ADV MYBURGH:    Ja ,  one s ix .   And th is  u l t imate ly  d id  

serve  be fore  the  board  and what  I  want  to  jus t  d i rec t  your  

a t ten t ion  to  i s  tha t  Deneys Re i tz  –  and you can comment  

on  i t ,  i f  you  wan t  – they added on ly  two paragraphs and 

tha t  i s  pa ragraph  10 and 11 on page 17.   And rea l l y  the  

h igh -water  mark  t hen …[ in tervenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry,  Mr  Myburgh,  I  th ink  I  have  

los t  you or  you have los t  me.  10 

ADV MYBURGH:    Page 17,  DCJ,  one seven.   The h igh  

wate r  mark  o f  the i r  adv ice  is  a t  paragraph 11.   Th is  i s  a l l  i t  

says :  

“ I t  i s  accord ing ly  our  v iew tha t  there  is  a  p robab i l i t y  

tha t  the  ba rga in ing  counc i l  o r  a  cour t  cons ide r ing  

the  appropr ia teness o f  the  sanct ion  o f  d ismissa l  o f  

Mr  Gama may reach the  conc lus ion  tha t  d ismissa l  

was no appropr ia te  hav ing  regard  to  the  cha l lenge  

on sanct ion  advanced by  h im.   In  tha t  ins tance the  

cour t  may e i ther  award  compensat ion  to  Mr  Gama 20 

or  f ind  tha t  a  lesser  sanct ion  ought  to  have been  

opposed and there fore  o rder  i s  re ins ta ted . ”  

Do you see tha t?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Now you may have read tha t  Mr  
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Mkwanaz i  desc r ibed th is  as  a  very  poor  op in ion  and i t  was,  

th is  p iece  o f  adv i ce  serves be fo re  the  board  bu t  in  l igh t  o f  

the  fac t  tha t  i t  was cons idered poor,  what  Deneys Re i tz  

were  requ i red  to  do  was then to  p rov ide  and augmented  

op in ion ,  as  i t  was ca l led .   And tha t  then br ings us  to  page  

19.   Now th is  i s  an  op in ion  rendered on the  22  February  

wh ich  is  in  fac t  a f te r  the  board  had taken the  dec is ion  to  

re ins ta te  you and what  i t  re f lec ts  and I  am go ing  to  re fer  

you to  two paragraphs i s  in  paragraph 1 .1  a t  page 20,  i t  

records  tha t :  10 

“There  a re  var ious op in ions wh ich  have been  

obta ined f rom reputab le  f i rms o f  a t to rneys w i th  

regard  to  the  prospects  o f  success o f  Mr  Gama in  

successfu l l y  cha l leng ing  h is  d ismissa l  by  the  

company.   A l l  the  op in ions,  inc lud ing  ours ,  wh ich  we  

gave a f te r  perus ing  documents  per ta in ing  to  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  enqu i ry  were  o f  the  v iew tha t  Mr  

Gama’s  chances  o f  successfu l l y  cha l leng ing  h is  

d ismissa l  were  no t  good. ”  

And then the  on ly  o ther  th ing  we need to  have regard  to ,  20 

tha t  i s  o f  mater ia l  re levance,  i s  a t  page 22,  paragraph 4 .   

You w i l l  see  tha t  tha t  i s  a  cu t  and paste  o f  the  ea r l ie r  p iece  

o f  adv i ce  where  there  say there  is  a  p robab i l i t y  tha t  the  

conc lus ion  may be d i f fe ren t .  

 Now Mr  Mkwanaz i  accepted tha t  th is  op in ion  was 
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con t rad i c to ry  because in  paragraph 1 .1  a t  20 ,  i t  says  

adv ice  have been g iven by  a  number  o f  f i rms inc lud ing  

the i rs ,  the  prospects  o f  success were  no t  good and then,  o f  

course ,  i t  ends o f f  on  th is  bas is  tha t  there  is  some chance 

o f  Transnet  be ing  unsuccessfu l  and he accepted tha t  th is  

was not  an  acceptab le  op in ion .  Do you have any comment  

to  make on tha t?  

MR GAMA:    We l l ,  I  was not  a t  the  meet ing  so  I  do  no t  

know anyth ing  about  the  sequence  o f  events .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Sure .  10 

MR GAMA:    And,  as  you say –  and the  th ing  tha t  you jus t  

read fo r  me is  no t  da ted ,  i t  does no t  have a  da te  on  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH:    The f i rs t  p iece  o f  adv i ce  tha t  I  read to  

you,  you w i l l  see  tha t ,  i f  you  go to  page 15,  tha t  was  sent  – 

Mr  Mapoma prepared the  memorandum,  he  sent  to  Mr 

Sangon i ,  Mr  Sangon i  f rom Deneys  Re i tz  se t t led  i t  and sent  

i t  back to  Mr  Mapoma on the  15  February  a  day be fore  the  

board  meet ing .   So th is  f i rs t  p iece  o f  adv ice  served before  

the  board .  

MR GAMA:    Okay,  tha t  i s  the  one where  number  11  says  20 

tha t  then they reach the  conc lus ion  tha t  d ismissa l  was not  

appropr ia te .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes.  

MR GAMA:    So  tha t  i s  on  the  15  February  2011.  

ADV MYBURGH:    That  i s  r igh t ,  yes .  
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MR GAMA:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH:    And then what  happens i s  there  is  the  

board  meet ing ,  desp i te  the  fac t  tha t  Mr  Mapoma – sor ry,  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  i s  o f  the  v iew tha t  th is  i s  a  poor  op in ion  and i t  

requ i res  to  be  augmented,  the  board  never the less  dec ided  

to  re ins ta te  you,  you are  now on  the  16  February.   And 

then when asked to  augment  the i r  op in ion  they then  

produce,  as  he  sa id ,  the  cont rad ic to ry  op in ion  tha t  I  have 

taken you to .   Do  you have a  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  do  no t ,  I  was not  par ty  to  th is ,  I  do  no t  10 

know anyth ing  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH:    You have seen Mr  Todd ’s  op in ion  in  the 

documents  tha t  have been sent  you.  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  have not .  

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t .   Wel l ,  maybe I  shou ld  take  you – 

wou ld  you p lease  go to  Transnet  bund le  3 ,  EXHIBIT  BB17?   

And cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  tu rn  up  page 65 and I  ca l l  i t  

an  op in ion  bu t  i t  i s  rea l l y  in  the  fo rm o f  a  repor t .   You w i l l  

want  to  page th rough i t ,  Mr  Gama,  you w i l l  see  tha t  i t  i s  

very  comprehens ive .   I t  dea ls  w i th  the  invest iga t i on  tha t  20 

preceded the  d isc ip l ina ry  enqu i ry ,  I  w i l l  j us t  go  th rough the  

head ings,  in i t ia l l y :  

“A t tempts  to  convene the  inqu i ry .  

Gama’s  H igh  Cour t  app l i ca t ion .  

A t tempts  to  schedu le  a  d i sc ip l inary  enqu i ry .  
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Gama’s  subsequent  ob jec t ion  to  Adv Myburgh SC.  

Gama’s  re fusa l  t o  accept  the  appo in tment  o f  Adv 

Ant robus SC proceed ing  to  p roceed  by  

…[ in tervenes]  

MR GAMA:    So r ry ,  you are  swa l lowing your  words,  can 

you speak s lower?  

ADV MYBURGH:    A t  page 72:  

“Gama’s  re fusa l  to  accept  the  appo in tment  o f  Adv  

Ant robus SC. ”  

A t  page 73.  10 

“Dec is ion  to  p roceed by  way o f  d i sc ip l inary  enqu i ry  

ins tead o f  a rb i t ra t ion . ”  

74  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  i s  too  fas t ,  Mr  Myburgh.   Ja?  

MR GAMA:    Th is  document ,  Cha i r,  has no t  been 

d iscovered to  us  so  we have never  [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  

s imul taneous ly ]  

ADV MYBURGH:    Th is  i s  par t  o f  Mr  Todd ’s  a f f idav i t ,  i t  has  

been g iven to  you .  

MR GAMA:    I t  i s  a  document  be ing  prepared on 2  20 

February  2011?  

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes.   And then i f  you have a  look a t  

page 74:  

“D isc ip l inary  enqu i ry  and outcome”  

And then he ta lks  about  the  summary o f  the  f ind ings,  page 
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74 ,  75 ,  76 ,  77 ,  78 ,  79  and 80.   Then he has a  head ing  a t  

81 :  

“Dea l ing  w i th  the  quest ion  o f  sanct ion . ”  

He dea ls  w i th  tha t  a t  page 81,  82 ,  83 ,  84 ,  85 ,  86 ,  87  and 

88,  89  he  then has a  head ing  aga ins t  tha t  backdrop o f :  

“Gama’s  weak  prospects  o f  success i n  the  

barga in ing  counc i l  a rb i t ra t ion . ”  

Do you see tha t?   I t  seems i t  i s  26  page op in ion .  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  i t  has  no t  been d i scovered to  us .  

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t .   Wel l ,  what  I  th ink  i s  perhaps  10 

impor tan t  i s  tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  h imse l f  accepted tha t  i t  i s  

qu i te  d i f f i cu l t  to  compare  the  Bowmans ’ op in ion  to  what  

bo i led  down to  one pa ragraph or  two parag raphs rea l l y  in  

the  15  February  op in ion .   Do you  have any comment  on  

tha t?  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  do  no t  have any comment  on  what  

Mkwanaz i  has sa id .  

ADV MYBURGH:    I  am tak ing  you  th rough the  chrono logy 

to  show you tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  may  very  we l l  have ac ted  on  

ins t ruc t ion  or  under  the  in f luence o f  Mr  G igaba  and in  20 

re la t ion  to  t h is  ve ry  i ssue,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  in  fac t  accepted in  

h is  ev idence,  Mr  Gama,  tha t  he  had not  contac ted  Mr  Todd 

in  re la t ion  to  th is  mat te r  because he rea l l y  d id  no t  want  to  

hear  tha t  Transnet  m ight  succeed  a t  a rb i t ra t ion .   Do you  

want  to  comment  on  tha t?  
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MR GAMA:    I  do  no t  know what  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  I  was not… 

ADV MYBURGH:    So  i t  i s  your  case …[ in tervenes]  

MR GAMA:    I  do  no t  whether  I  can be asked to  comment  

on  Mkwanaz i ’s  comments .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Le t  me …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  there  m igh t  be  no  –  you might  have  

noth ing  to  say bu t  you might  say  we l l ,  I  am surp r ised tha t  

Mkwanaz i  sa id  you d id  no t  want  to  hear  an  op in ion  tha t  

sa id  Transnet  may succeed because on the  mer i t s  o f  my 

case i t  was c lear  tha t  there  had been unfa i rness,  so  I  do 10 

not  know what  he  was look ing  fo r,  the  un fa i rness was 

there .  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  th ink  the  f i rs t  t ime tha t  I  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am g iv ing  you an example .  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  am say ing  th i s  i s  the  f i rs t  t ime tha t  I  see  

th is  Todd document .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR GAMA:    I  do  no t  know i f  Mr  Mkwanaz i  ever  had  a  copy 

o f  th is  document  and i f  so ;  when d id  he  have i t  because in  

a l l  the  documents  tha t  …[ in tervenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    You have seen.  

MR GAMA:    That  I  have seen tha t  went  to  the  Transnet  

board  and a l l  o f  tha t  and tha t  was in  f ron t  o f  the  board ,  

there  was never  any re ference to  a  cour t  document .  

CHAIRPERSON :    You mean tha t  you saw a f te r  your  



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 119 of 242 
 

re ins ta tement  o r…? 

MR GAMA:    Yes,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .    

MR GAMA:    So  tha t  i s  why I  am say ing  I  have never  seen  

th is  document .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GAMA:    I  do  no t  know i f  Mkwanaz i  ever  had i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GAMA:    I  cannot  rea l l y  comment  on  i t ,  I  have not  even  

read i t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t ,  we l l  jus t  fo r  the  sake o f  

comple t ion ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  d id  have  i t .   Now …[ in tervenes]  

MR GAMA:    A l l  I  am say ing  is  I  do  no t  when he had i t  and 

a l l  I  have seen in  the  m inutes  o f  the  board  o f  Transnet  i s  

tha t  they cons idered op in ion  f rom Deneys Re i tz .   That  i s  

what  I  saw.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink  in  h is  ev idence he conceded tha t  

he  had seen i t  be fore  the  board  made the  dec is ion ,  th is  

one and he d id  speak about  o ther  op in ions as  we l l .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes,  we l l  i t  was  the  15  February  op in ion  20 

wh ich  was re fer red  to  as  the  Deneys Re i tz  op in ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH:    As  you w i l l  remember,  Cha i rpe rson,  i t  

was a l ready d ra f ted  by  Mapoma wi th  Deneys Re i tz ’s  input .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  
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ADV MYBURGH:    Bu t  what  I  am in te res ted  in  f ind ing  ou t  

f rom you,  Mr  Gama,  i s  what  d id  Mr  Mkwanaz i  –  when d id  

you f i rs t  s ta r t  in te rac t ing  w i th  h im?  Was i t  be fore  the  

meet ing  tha t  you  a t tended w i th  Deneys Re i tz  on  the  22  

January  2011?  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  th ink  i t  was on tha t  day.  

ADV MYBURGH:    And you …[ in tervenes]  

MR GAMA:    He was in  the  company o f  Mr  Gu le .  

ADV MYBURGH:    And you have a l ready recounted to  the  

Cha i rperson but  perhaps you cou ld  jus t  repeat  i t ,  tha t  you  10 

say he  to ld  you r i gh t  f rom the  outse t  –  what  d id  he  say?  

MR GAMA:    He sa id  to  me – because what  I  had wanted in  

te rms o f  the  se t t lement  was tha t  I  ge t  compensat ion .   Then 

he sa id  no ,  h is  p re ference is  tha t  I  need to  come back to  

Transnet  and work ,  espec ia l l y  because the  bus iness was  

su f fe r i ng  and,  as  I  sa id  to  you,  p robab ly  in  h is  own words 

he  sa id  i n  the  next  four  months  we might  no t  have  enough 

money to  pay sa la r ies ,  I  need you to  go  and f i x  tha t  

[ ind is t inc t  –  aud io  d is to r ted ] .   So i t  was in  tha t  contex t  tha t  

I  sa id  to  h im no,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  and prepare  to  come back and 20 

le t  us  pu t  as ide  the  d iscuss ion  about  compensat ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Maybe I  wou ld  ask  th is ,  wh ich  I  was 

go ing  to  ask  la te r,  i f  you  –  i f  the  idea o f  re ins ta tement  

came f rom h im because you were  look ing  a t  be ing  g iven  

compensat ion ,  the  issue o f  the  re ins ta tement  be ing  w i th  
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fu l l  back pay,  d id  i t  come f rom you or  d id  i t  come f rom h im? 

MR GAMA:    Sor ry,  Cha i r?   The fu l l  back pay?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  I  am say ing  you have jus t  to ld  me 

and you to ld  me ear l ie r  tha t  what  you wan ted was 

compensat ion .  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  Mr  Mkwanaz i  sa id  h is  p re ference  

was tha t  you shou ld  come back and he gave h is  reasons.   

So my quest ion  is  whethe r  you were  the  one who ins is ted  

tha t  i f  you  were  re ins ta ted  you shou ld  be  g iven fu l l  back 10 

pay fo r  the  t ime  tha t  you had been out  o f  Transnet  o r  

whethe r  tha t  idea  came f rom h is  s ide?  

MR GAMA:    Wel l ,  the  concept  o f  re ins ta tement ,  Cha i r,  i s  

exact ly  tha t ,  tha t  you get  fu l l  back pay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GAMA:    Bu t  i t  was cheaper  to  pay me back than what  I  

was ask ing ,  i t  was fa r,  fa r  cheaper.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  a re  you go ing  to  share  to  ask  by  

any chance what  you were  ask ing  fo r  o r  you don ’ t  fee l  

comfor tab le  to  share?  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Apar t  f rom as much as  poss ib le  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:    I t  was fa r,  fa r  cheaper  to  pay me back  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    And to  take  you –  to  re ins ta te  you  then?  
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MR GAMA:    To  re ins ta te  me then . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    To  pay you the  amount  you had in  m ind?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  now le t  me then swi tch  back  

to  Mr  G igaba and  h is  adv i so r  Mr  Mah langu,  remember  you  

meet  h im now 22 January,  you  say tha t  was the  f i rs t  

meet ing  tha t  you had w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  i s  tha t  cor rect?  

MR GAMA:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  go  to  10 

Transnet  bund le  1 ,  i t  i s  a lso  par t  o f  the  BB15 exh ib i t ,  and 

th is  i s  -  I  want  to  take  you to  Mr  Mah langu…[ in te rvene]  

MR GAMA:    You sa id  bund le  1?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    BB15,  bund le  1 ,  I  want  to  take  you 

to  Mr  Mhlangu ’s  a f f idav i t  p lease.   

MR GAMA:    Okay,  page?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Le t  us  s ta r t  w i th  page 175.  Now 

a t tached to  Mr  Mhlangu ’s  a f f idav i t  were  two emai l s  tha t  he  

had sent  to  Mr  G igaba.   The f i rs t  emai l  you f ind  a t  page  

178,  you see tha t?   That  i s  da ted  the  18 t h  o f  January  2011,  20 

now i t  says  in  the  second bu l le t  po in t ,  now I  unders tand 

tha t  Transnet  and  th is  must  have been before  you even met  

Mr  Mkwanaz i :  

“ I  unders tand tha t  Transnet  may be near ing  a  

se t t lement  w i th  Gama,  I  have obta ined the  de ta i l s  o f  



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 123 of 242 
 

the  se t t lement  and then br ie f  you accord ing ly.  I  

suggest  tha t  you soc ia l i se  the  Pres ident  and h is  key 

a ids  ( fo rmal ly  and in fo rmal l y )  on  the  proposed  

se t t lement .   I t  is  in tended tha t  the  fo r thcoming 

Board  shou ld  cons ide r  and author i se  i t . ”  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You see tha t?  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  I  see tha t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you wou ld  conf i rm tha t  th is  wou ld  

have been before  you had even spoken to  Mr Mkwanaz i  on  10 

what  you have to ld  us .  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  I  do  no t  know the  da tes ,  I  know tha t  there  

was a  meet ing  be tween Mkwanaz i  and myse l f  and  Langa 

and Gule  a t ,  I  th ink  a t  Inanda C lub .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  beg your  pardon?  

MR GAMA:    A t  Inanda,  Inanda C lub,  and then the re  was 

another  meet ing  a t  the  Indaba.   So I  am not  sure ,  I  cannot  

te l l  you  wh ich  one took p lace befo re  wh ich  one,  bu t  I  th ink  

th is  one where  we were  showing  the  m inutes  is  p robab ly  

the  second meet ing .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Oh I  see,  I  unders tood you  to  say  

tha t  i t  was the  f i rs t .   

MR GAMA:    No,  I  cannot  remember  where  exact ly,  where  

we met  them.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  seem to  remember  f rom Mr Mkwanaz i ’s  
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ev idence tha t  the  meet ing  wh ich  had Mr  Gu le  was  f i rs t ,  I  

th ink  tha t  one was the  one w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  ja .  

MR GAMA:    He was a lways w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  even before  the  o ther  one.   

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  I  unders tand tha t ,  bu t  I  

unders tood,  my impress ion  was tha t  the  Inanda C lub one  

was the  f i rs t  one but  i t  cou ld  be  the  o ther  way around.  

MR GAMA:    I t  i s  poss ib le  bu t  he  was a lways w i th  h im.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  a t  the  Inanda C lub because I  am 10 

go ing  to  come to  tha t ,  was Mr  Mkwanaz i  in  the  presence o f  

lawyers  because  as  we have i t  and o f  course ,  what  I  am 

put t ing  to  you is  j us t  one s ide  o f  the  s to ry.   But  what  we do 

have is  Mkwanaz i  I  th ink  and Mr  Mapoma say ing  the  two o f  

them were  there  a t  Inanda together  w i th  you,  no t  w i th  the  

lawyers .  

CHAIRPERSON:    No lawyers .   

MR GAMA:    I t  i s  a  long t ime ago Cha i r,  bu t  my reco l lec t ion  

is  tha t  he  was a lways,  maybe the  lawyer  he  was w i th  was 

Mapoma but  he  was w i th  a  lawyer.   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ja .  

MR GAMA:    I  have never  met  h im  wi thout ,  he  was a lways 

w i th  a  lawyer.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  your  reco l lec t ion  tha t  your  own  

a t to rney was there  as  we l l  o r  no t?  
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MR GAMA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  he ,  Mr  Langa was there?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay in  bo th  occas ions?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then i f  I  cou ld  take  you  to  the  

second emai l .   Th is  i s  another  ema i l  Mr  Mah langu repor t ing  

to  Mr  G igaba,  I  am go ing  to  take  you jus t  to  the  f i rs t  

parag raph:  

“Dear  Min i s te r  10 

A t  my meet ing  w i th  the  Cha i r,  now he i s  meet ing  

w i th  Mkwanaz i ,  he  acknowledged tha t  the  

adver t i s i ng  o f  the  GC pos i t ion  was  a  m is take in  the  

l igh t  o f  Gama’s  response to  the  adver t  the  Board  

seeks gu idance on the  way fo rward  desp i te  the  

ongo ing ,  w i thout  p re jud ice  d iscuss ions. ”  

We can accept  tha t  tha t  i s  the  se t t lement  d iscuss ions.   

“G ins i s ts  on  s tay ing  on  the  l i s t ,  he  was in fo rmed  

th rough h is  lawyer  o f  an  o f fe r  to  re ins ta te  h im,  no  

loss  o f  benef i t s  o r  cont r ibu t ion  towards h is  lega l  20 

costs .   My recommendat ion  tha t  the  issue regard ing  

h is  d isc ip l ine  and  appo in tment  o f  the  GCE be dea l t  

w i th  separa te ly. ”  

You see tha t?   

MR GAMA:    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  what  we see here  is  tha t  Mr  

Mah langu was meet ing  together  w i th  -  Mr  Mah langu  and Mr  

Mah langu was then repor t ing  back  to  Mr  G igaba.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You may have  sa id  Mr  Mah langu on 

both ,  i t  i s  Mr  Mah langu meet ing  Mkwanaz i .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  we l l  Mr  Mah langu was  meet ing  

w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i  and then Mr  Mah langu was repor t ing  

back to  Mr  G igaba,  I  beg your  pa rdon.  

MR GAMA:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You see tha t  Mr  Gama? 10 

MR GAMA:    Yes,  I  see tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  and what  Mr  Mkwanaz i  

accepted,  i s  tha t  he  was in  e f fec t  repor t ing  back to  Mr  

G igaba th rough h is  adv isor,  Mr  Mah langu.  

MR GAMA:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now turn ing  to  Mr  Mapoma,  Mr  

Mapoma says th ree  th ings tha t  I  wou ld  l i ke  you to  comment  

on ,  and I  w i l l  take  you to  the  re levant  por t ions.   

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  Mapoma I  th ink .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mapoma.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mapoma,  and he was the  

Transnet  lawyer.   He says:  

“That  f rom the  outse t  when he s ta r ted  ass i s t ing  Mr 

Mkwanaz i ,  Mkwanaz i  to ld  h im tha t  he  had been 
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ins t ruc ted  to  re ins ta te  you,  and tha t  he  wanted to  

f ind  a  way to  do  so  c lean ly.   He sa id  he  assumed 

tha t  the  ins t ruc t ion  had come f rom former  Pres ident  

Zuma. ”  

You want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  was never  p resent  in  those meet ings 

be tween Mapoma and Mkwanaz i ,  so  I  am not  p r ivy  to  tha t ,  

so  I  cannot  comment  on  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  then  we come to  someth ing  

where  you were  present  and tha t  i s  the  Inanda  meet ing  10 

because Mr  Mapoma a lso  ta lks  about  th is ,  and the  

ev idence tha t  he  has g i ven is  tha t  a t  th is  meet ing ,  he  was 

to ld  by  Mr  Mkwanaz i  tha t  th is  was a  se t t lement  negot ia t ion .   

He sa id  tha t  the  se t t lement  negot ia t ions  broke down 

because you wanted to  be  appo in ted  as  the  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive .  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  I  th ink  Mr  Mapoma wou ld  have been  

mis taken.   I  th ink  I  have read somewhere  h is  

s ta tement…[ in tervene]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  I  can take  you there  i f  you  20 

want .   

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  where  is  i t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja ,  i f  you  to  bund le  1 ,  BB15.   

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  page?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Page,  I  th ink  i t  i s  page 8 ,  jus t  bear  
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w i th  me fo r  a  second.   No,  I  have re fer red  you to  the  wrong 

exh ib i t .   I t  i s  exh ib i t  BB16,  I  do  beg your  pardon and th is  i s  

in  bund le  3 .   The  par t  tha t  I  am quest ion ing  you about  Mr  

Gama tha t  you say –  I  assume i t  i s  the  passage you 

re fer r i ng  to  i s  I  th ink  a t  page 8 ,  pa ra  19  where  he  says:  

“Dur ing  a  b reak,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  b r ie fed  me tha t  Mr  

Gama was to  be  re ins ta ted  and we have to  meet  

w i th  Mr  Gama because la te r  Mr  Mkwanaz i  asked me 

to  accompany h im to  meet  Mr  Gama a t  the  Inanda  

Esta te  on  the  day,  wh ich  was a  weekend.   I  am not  10 

sure  i f  i t  was a  Saturday or  Sunday,  the  meet ing  

happened between Mr Gama and Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  I  

wa i ted  fo r  them to  f in ish .   There  was noth ing  to  do  

a f te r  th is  meet ing ,  as  apparent ly,  Mr  Gama and Mr  

Mkwanaz i  cou ld  no t  reach consensus on the  te rms 

o f  the  re ins ta tement .   Accord ing  to  Mr  Mkwanaz i  a t  

the  t ime,  Mr  Gama wanted to  be  re ins ta ted  as  the  

CEO of  Transnet ,  and Mr  Mkwanaz i  was not  

agree ing  to  tha t  cond i t ion .   They a lso  cou ld  no t  

agree on the  issue o f  the  fees  tha t  had to  be  20 

repa id . ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  my comment  i s  as  fo l lows.   I  cou ld  never  

have asked to  be  re ins ta ted  in to  a  pos i t ion  tha t  I  have 

never  occup ied  and so  i t  wou ld  be  absurd  in  the  ex t reme 
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fo r  someone to  say,  re ins ta te  me as CEO of  Transnet ,  

because I  had never  occup ied  tha t  pos i t ion .   

The –  I  cou ld  on ly  be  re ins ta ted  as  the  CEO of  TFR,  

I  th ink  tha t  i s  p robab ly  what  he  may have meant  to  say I  

wanted to  be  re ins ta ted  as  the  CEO of  TFR.   So I  cannot  

rea l l y  say  anyth ing  fu r the r,  I  th ink  Mr  Mapoma cou ld  

probab ly  be  mis taken,  because I  knew tha t  i f  fo r  anybody  

to  be  appo in ted  as  the  CEO of  Transnet ,  you have to  go  

th rough a  par t i cu la r  p rocess.  

And tha t  p rocess  invo l ves bo th  the  Board  and the  10 

Min is te r,  and f rom the  Min is te r  i t  even goes to  cab ine t .   So 

I  cou ld  no t  Cha i r  have asked to  be  re ins ta ted  as  CEO of  

Transnet ,  wh ich  is  the  pos i t ion  tha t  I  have never  he ld .   So I  

th ink  Mapoma may have been mis taken in  te rms o f  what  

Mkwanaz i  may have sa id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    O f  course ,  there  was a t  th is  t ime a 

vacancy in  the  GCE pos i t ion ,  co r rec t?  

MR GAMA:    Yes ,  there  was a  vacancy,  bu t  i t  was not  one 

where  I  wou ld  want  to  be  re ins ta ted  to ,  I  never  occup ied  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    But  i t  i s  a  pos i t ion  tha t  you  wanted 20 

because you app l ied  fo r  i t .  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  I  had app l ied  fo r  i t  bu t  there  were  no  new 

processes they had adver t i sed i t .   What  I  asked Mkwanaz i  

i f  i t  in  re la t ion  to  tha t ,  I  had asked h im a  quest ion  tha t  

s ince  we a re  hav ing  th i s  d iscuss ion ,  and you have now 



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 130 of 242 
 

adver t i sed th i s  pos i t ion  do  you th ink  I  shou ld  app ly  o r  I  

shou ld  no t ,  have  

and he d id  no t  have an answer.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  Mr  Gama d id  you not  rea l l y  want  

to  be  re ins ta ted  so  tha t  you cou ld  become the  GCE,  was 

tha t  no t  u l t imate ly  what  you wanted to  do?  

MR GAMA:    I  had never  Mr  Myburgh been the  GCE,  I  had 

been suspended  and charged when I  app l ied  fo r  tha t  

pos i t ion .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .  10 

MR GAMA:    So I  had never  he ld  the  pos i t ion .   So you  

cou ld  no t  re ins ta te  someone to  a  pos i t ion  tha t  he  had 

never  had.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No,  bu t  tha t  i s  no t ,  tha t  i s  no t  the 

propos i t ion  tha t  I  pu t  to  you,  so  I  beg your  pardon.   

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  okay un less  be tween Mr Mapoma 

and Mr  Mkwanaz i  in  tha t  conversa t ion  tha t  Mr  Mapoma 

says they had dur ing  the  break,  un less  be tween  them,  

there  was some misunders tand ing  what  was sor t  to  be  sa id  

was tha t  you had  sa id ,  you want  to  be  the  Group CEO we 20 

cannot  ta lk  about  re ins ta tement ,  because the  po in t  you 

made about  re ins ta tement  i s  cor rec t .   

Un less  they used the  wrong te rm ino logy,  bu t  the  

idea was tha t  maybe you sa id  look ,  there  is  a  vacancy r i gh t  

now,  I  am now put t ing  my own words Mr  Gama,  you know,  
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my record ,  my t rack  record  I  have per fo rmed ve ry  we l l ,  

wherever  I  have  been put  in  Transnet  now here  is  a  

vacancy,  why do you not  appo in t  me to  tha t  pos i t ion .  

So I  am jus t  say ing  un less  somebody used the  

wrong word ,  the  wrong te rm ino logy bu t  the  idea was tha t  

maybe tha t  i s  what  you sa id .  

MR GAMA:    No,  i t  wou ld  have  been preposte rous Mr  

Cha i rman o f  me to  do  such a  th ing  i t  i s  un l i ke  me and i t  i s  

no t  me,  and i t  d id  no t  happen.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay a l r igh t .  10 

MR GAMA:    And so  I  th ink ,  and  I  am t ry ing  to  in te rp re t  

someth ing  here  fo r  Mr  Mapoma,  I  th ink  Mr  Mkwanaz i  wou ld  

have sa id  s ince  we have adver t i sed the  GCE pos i t ion  

Gama is  ask ing  whether  he  shou ld  app ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  Mr  Myburgh.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Gama,  I  jus t  wanted to  ask  you 

th is ,  I  mean why  were  you not  -  mov ing  onto  a  d i f fe ren t  

i ssue,  was i t  no t  your  u l t imate  a im  to  become the  GCE so  

tha t  rea l l y  be ing  re ins ta ted  in to  the  pos i t ion  o f  CFO,  CEO 

ra the r  o f  Transnet  Fre igh t  Ra i l  was s imply  an  immedia te  20 

s tepp ing  s tone.   Was tha t  no t  rea l l y  what  you wan ted the  

GCR post?  

MR GAMA:    I  had app l ied  fo r  the  pos i t ion  a  year  ear l ie r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  the  answer  i s  yes ,  p resumably.  

MR GAMA:    I  had app l ied  fo r  tha t  pos i t ion ,  so  I  had 
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ambi t ion  bu t  my ambi t ion  was done proper ly,  I  had fo l low  

whatever  p rocesses was there .   I  cou ld  no t  say  to  

Mkwanaz i  no ,  now appo in t  me as  the  GCE,  he  d id  no t  have 

those powers .   So I  wou ld  no t  ask  a  man to  do  th ings tha t  

he  cannot  do .  

I t  was a  log i ca l  s tep  bu t  i t  was no t  a t  a l l  cos t s  and  

tha t  i s  why I  wen t  back and I  ass i s ted  Transnet  in  te rms o f  

TFR.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Sor ry,  can I  take  you to  anothe r,  the 

las t  paragraph I  want  to  dea l  w i th  in  re la t ion  to  Mr 10 

Mapoma,  can you  tu rn  to  paragraph 27 p lease a t  page 12.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  Mr  Myburgh I  though t  i t  was  

go ing  to  be  jus t  one re fe rence  so  I  to ld  her  no t  to  

bo ther…[ in te rvene]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Transnet  bund le  3 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  w i l l  need to  have i t  Ma ’am,  bund le  3  

what  page?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Page 12.  

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  course ,  Mr  Gama,  you had been a t  

Transnet  s ince  ’94  you sa id ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  20 

MR GAMA:    1994.  

CHAIRPERSON:    1994?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Were  you aware  whether  each t ime there  

was a  vacancy in  the  pos i t ion  o f  Group CEO of  Transnet  
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there  wou ld  be  adver t i sements  and d i f fe ren t  cand ida tes  

wou ld  be  in te rv iewed or  whether  somet imes somebody who 

was cons idered to  be  su i tab le  wou ld  jus t  be  appo in ted .   

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  i t  rea l l y  jus t  dependent  on  them,  bu t  there  

was a lways a  process o f  the  -  i n  te rms o f  the  a r t i c les  o f  the  

company,  the  CFO,  and the  GCE the  Board  wou ld  

recommend to  the  Min i s te r,  and  the  Min is te r  in  cab ine t  

wou ld  then make a  dec is ion  on  tha t  appo in tment .   

So even i f  i t  was not  adver t i sed,  there  w i l l  s t i l l  be  a 

process tha t  wou ld  be  fo l lowed and in  tha t  par t i cu la r  case,  10 

there  was then an adver t i sement .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  no  I  am th ink ing  about  tha t  issue in  

the  contex t  o f  your  say ing  you cou ld  no t  Mr Mkwanaz i  to  do 

what  he  had no power  to  do ,  because I  take  i t  tha t  i f  the  

power  lay  w i th  t he  Min i s te r  o r  cab ine t  the  Board  cou ld 

cer ta in ly  recommend and one takes i t  tha t  the  Board 's  

recommendat ion  wou ld  ca r ry  a  cer ta in  amount  o f  we igh t  

w i th  e i ther  the  Min is te r  o r  the  cand ida te  or  bo th .   

So,  even i f  i t  was someth ing  tha t  was not  unheard  

o f  in  Transnet  o r  in  SOE’s  fo r  a  Group CEO to  be  appo in ted  20 

w i thout  adver t i s i ng  the  pos i t ion  and inv i t ing  var ious 

cand ida tes  so ,  i t  cou ld  we l l  be  tha t  you wou ld  no t  have  

been i f  you d id ,  you wou ld  no t  have been ask ing  h im to  

make the  appo in tment ,  you wou ld  have been ask ing  h im to 

make a  recommendat ion  and tha t  he  shou ld  take  h i s  Board  
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on-board  and make a  recommendat ion  tha t  look ,  here  is  

somebody tha t  we as  the  Board  w i th  h i s ,  and he  has a  

t rack  record  w i th in  Transnet .  

MR GAMA:    No ,  Cha i r  even i f  i t  had happened before ,  

because i t  d id  happen before .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  ja .  

MR GAMA:    Bu t  a f te r  tha t  there  had been a  recorda l  tha t  

the  Board  wou ld  g ive  the  Min is te r  a t  leas t  th ree  names 

f rom which  to  choose f rom.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  10 

MR GAMA:    So  in  o rder  to  a r r i ve  a t  those th ree  names,  

you need to  go  th rough the  p rocess a t  leas t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.  

MR GAMA:    You cou ld  no t  jus t  meet  somebody  a t  the 

a i rpor t  and say I  l i ke  you le t  me put  you on the  l i s t ,  i t  does 

not  work  l i ke  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you,  I  was go ing  to  take  you  

then to  the  las t  parag raph tha t  I  want  to  ask  you about  in  

Mr  Mapoma’s  a f f idav i t  a t  parag raph 27,  so  i t  i s  a t  page 12.   20 

Are  you there?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  says :  

“Mr  Mah langu ca l led ,  these are  te lephone ca l l s ,  

then put  p ressure  on  me to  the  re ins ta tement  o f  Mr 
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Gama,  accus ing  me o f  caus ing  the  de lay.   Te l l ing  

me number  one,  he  wanted to  ge t  i t  done qu ick ly.   

He never  ment ioned any name,  he  s topped ca l l ing  

me when I  s te rn ly  to ld  h im to  s top  ca l l ing  me,  and 

tha t  I  do  no t  repor t  to  h im nor  to  the  Min is te r  nor  to  

no  one and tha t  I  was ass is t ing  Mr  Mkwanaz i  in  

imp lement ing  the  Board 's  dec i s ion . ”  

I  p resume you have no knowledge o f  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  have no knowledge o f  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  jus t  want  to  ment ion  th is  and  10 

aga in  you might  no t  be  ab le  to  say anyth ing .   I t  i s  

in te res t ing  tha t  say  Mr  Mapoma’s  ev idence inc luded h im  

say ing  tha t ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  had sa id ,  I  th ink  he  sa id  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  had sa id  he  had been ins t ruc ted  to  re ins ta te  you 

but  Mr  Mkwanaz i  I  th ink  den ied  tha t ,  bu t  I  th ink  tha t  i s  what  

Mr  Mapoma’s  sa id ,  tha t  po in t  one.  

Po in t  two,  we have a  s i tua t ion  where  Mr  Mapoma 

says Mr  Mah langu ca l led  h im and  put  p ressure  on  h im to  

f ina l i se  your  re ins ta tement  and accused h im o f  poss ib ly  

de lay ing  and to ld  h im tha t  number  one,  he  wanted to  ge t  i t  20 

done qu ick ly.   And you have sa id  in  your  ev idence,  I  th ink 

in  your  f i rs t  mee t ing  w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  he  made i t  c lear  

tha t  h is  p re ference was tha t  you shou ld  be  re ins ta ted ,  you  

shou ld  come back.   

So I  am jus t  ment ion ing  tha t  when one looks a t  a  lo t  
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o f  these p ieces,  they a l l  seem to  suggest  tha t  

re ins ta tement ,  no t  necessar i l y  in  you r  m ind,  bu t  in  the  

m ind maybe o f  o ther  peop le  your  re ins ta tement  seems to  

be  a  proposa l  as  opposed to  compensat ion  or  any o ther  o r  

you get t ing  no th ing .  

MR GAMA:    No,  no  your  qu i te  r igh t  Cha i r,  I  abandoned the  

no t ion  when Mkwanaz i  ind i ca ted  to  me tha t  h is  p re ference  

tha t  I  go  back,  in  fac t  he  was say ing ,  I  do  no t  want  to  pay  

you so  much money to  go  away.   I  wou ld  ra the r  re ins ta te  

you and you come back to  work  and we f i x  the  prob lems a t  10 

the  company.    

So I  th ink  tha t  was the  issue,  then as  fo r  Mapoma,  

Mapoma I  th ink  fo r  me he was adv is ing  Mkwanaz i  because 

he wou ld  come to  the  meet ings,  bu t  he  d id  no t  rea l l y  say  

anyth ing  in  the  meet ing .   But  then I  guess ou ts ide  o f  the  

meet ing ,  they were  hav ing  the  d iscuss ion ,  so  I  do  no t  know 

how Mahlangu wou ld  then ca l l  Mapoma to  ask  h im to  

exped i te  the  re ins ta tement ,  because I  do  no t  th ink  tha t  

Mapoma per  say was the  one who sees to  i t  tha t  par t i cu la r  

i ssue.   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    And we l l  maybe  I  cou ld  ment ion  and  Mr  

Myburgh w i l l  ind ica te  i f  he  has a  d i f fe ren t  reco l l ec t ion .   

That  I  th ink  I  Mr  Mkwanaz i  den ied  Mr  Mapoma’s  ev idence  

tha t  dur ing  the  break,  in  tha t  meet ing  w i th  you tha t  he  to ld  

Mr  Mapoma tha t  you wanted to  be  re ins ta ted  in  the  pos i t ion 
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o f  Group CEO,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  den ied  tha t  par t  o f  Mr 

Mapoma’s  ev idence i f  I  reca l l  cor rec t l y.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  I  am not  sure  on  tha t  DCJ but  

what  I  do  know i t  rea l l y  -  i t  m igh t  have been one o f  those  

th ings he  cou ld  no t  remember  you see.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  he  cou ld  no t  remember,  yes ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    He sa id  to  me he d id  no t  conf i rm the  

vers ion .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay I  th ink  Mr,  wants  to  say  

someth ing .  10 

ADV OLD WADGE SC:    Mr  Cha i r,  I  wanted to  ra ise  th is  

ear l ie r  and I  thought  in  fa i rness to  Mr  Gama i t  ough t  to  be  

pu t  to  h im tha t  wh i ls t  tha t  may have been the  vers ion  o f  Mr  

Mapoma i t  was den ied ,  and in  fac t ,  what  Mr  Cha i r  w i th  

respect  i s  a l lud ing  to  i s  tha t  very  den ia l  by  Mr  

Mah langu…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  I  was about  to  come to  h im,  the  

Mah langu one.  

ADV OLD WADGE SC:    Yes,  bu t  there  was a lso  den ia l  by  

Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  I  am s t rugg l ing  to  f ind  the  document ,  bu t  20 

there  cer ta in l y  was and I  jus t  th ink  in  fa i rness i t  ought  to  

be  pu t  tha t  tha t  was not  a  one s ided vers ion  tha t  can be  

accepted on the  face o f  i t .   I t  was someth ing  tha t  was  

den ied  by  a  subsequent  w i tness,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  no ,  I  was a lso  go ing  to  say,  i f  I  reca l l  
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cor rec t l y,  Mah langu den ied…[ in te rvene]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  Mah langu express ly  den ied  

tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes  okay.  

MR GAMA:    I  a lso  do  not  th ink  tha t  Mkwanaz i  wou ld  have  

agreed to  tha t  because i t  d id  no t  happen.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  jus t  I  suppose in  fa i rness as  

we l l  and Mr  Cha i r,  you wou ld  be  bet te r  appr i sed  o f  th is  

than me because i t  i s  in  the  very  ear ly  days  o f  the 

Commiss ion .  But  as  I  unders tand Pres ident ,  fo rmer  10 

Pres ident  Zuma a lso  took issue w i th  Ms Hogan ’s  ev idence.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no ,  no ,  you are  r igh t .   The  fo rmer  

Pres ident  Mr  Zuma,  when he gave ev idence in  Ju l y  I  th ink 

o f  2019,  Ms Barbara  Hogan ’s  ev idence was put  to  h im in  

te rms o f  h im a l leged ly  hav ing  ins i s ted  tha t  fo r  the  pos i t ion  

o f  Group CEO of  Transnet  he  wanted you and nobody e l se ,  

he  den ied  tha t ,  the  one,  the  one par t  wh ich  I  must  ment ion  

is  tha t  the ,  the  proceed ings dur ing  tha t  week when the  

fo rmer  person was g i v ing  ev idence were  in te r rup ted  a t  a  

cer ta in  s tage I  th ink  on  Wednesday because  he had 20 

compla in t s  about  how he was be ing  quest ioned.  

 As  a  resu l t  o f  wh ich  the  p roceed ings were  

ad journed and there  were  d i scuss ions among the  l awyers  

and fo r  the  res t  o f  the  week h i s  ev idence d id  no t  cont inue 

and he ind ica te ,  i t  was ag reed tha t  he  wou ld  come back to  
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con t inue.  

Of  course  where  the  Commiss ion  i s  w i th  h im now is  

pub l i c  knowledge ,  bu t  one o f  the  issues tha t  I  s t i l l  wanted  

to  ra ise  w i th  h im  was th is .   That  on  Ms Barbara  Hagen ’s  

vers ion ,  the  reason why or  ra ther  le t  me put  i t  th is  way.   

On he r  ve rs ion ,  wh ich  must  be  common cause,  the  pos i t ion  

o f  g roup CEO of  Transnet  remained unf i l l ed  un t i l  she  had 

le f t  and she le f t  a t  the  end o f  October  2010.  

Now she had been speak ing  to  the  fo rmer  pres ident  

about  the  f i l l i ng  the  pos i t ion  some t ime I  th ink  in  2009,  and 10 

she sa id  the  on ly  reason why the  pos i t ion  was not  f i l l ed  fo r  

such a  long t ime a f te r  she had  spoken to  the  fo rmer  

pres ident ,  was because the  fo rmer  pres ident  was not  

p repared to  have  anybody e l se ,  anybody e l se  appo in ted  to  

the  pos i t ion  except  you,  and she sa id  there  was a 

cand ida te ,  Mr  S ipho Maseko whom the  board  had 

recommended and she a l so  had  no prob lem wi th  tha t  

cand ida te ,  bu t  the  fo rmer  pres iden t  wanted on ly  you .  

So what  I  had hoped the  fo rmer  pres ident  wou ld  

c la r i f y  la te r,  i f  he  came back,  i s  what  on  h is  vers ion  the  20 

reason was why the  pos i t ion  o f  g roup CEO was not  f i l l ed 

over  such a  long  per iod  in  c i rcumstances where  there  was  

a  cand ida te  tha t  had been recommended by  the  board ,  

wh ich  the  m in i s te r  was happy w i th  and he does not  appear  

to  have ra i sed any issues w i th  tha t  cand ida te  or  about  that  
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cand ida te .   

That  o f  course  has no t  been asked to  h im,  because 

he has no t  come back,  bu t  tha t  he  de f in i te ly  den ied  hav ing  

sa id  tha t  he  wanted you and you on ly  to  be  appo in ted .   Mr  

Myburgh?   

MR GAMA:   Thank you Cha i r.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  thank  you.   I  have found the  

re levant  passage.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  i s ,  can I  jus t  read i t  to  you?  I t  i s  a t  10 

page 145.   You do not  have th is  i n  f ron t  o f  me,  you but  on  

day 285.   I  was quest ion ing  Mr  Mkwanaz i  about  th is  very  

i ssue and you . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You in te rvened and you ro l l ed  up  the  

cont roversy  and  I  w i l l  read the  who le  page,  because i t  

dea ls  w i th  th is .   So I  th ink  everyone is  ha l f  r igh t  here .   Mr  

Mkwanaz i  sa id :  

 “ I  suspect  tha t  Mr  Mpoma might  have got  h is  

fac ts  wrong the re ,  because the  pos i t ion  o f  20 

Transnet  g roup ch ie f  execut ive  was a  pos i t ion 

where  there  was a  pa ra l le l  p rocess to  

in te rv iew e tce tera ,  e tce te ra .   So I  suspect  tha t  

Mr  Mpoma might  have meant  i s  the  pos i t ion  o f  

ch ie f  execut ive  Transnet  [ ind is t i nc t  –  aud io  
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d is to r ted ] . ”  

 I  suspect  tha t  i s  what  he  meant ,  and then you sa id  

Cha i rperson:  

 “Wel l ,  I  do  no t  th ink  he  was confused because 

he gave,  h is  ev idence was c lear.   He sa id  I  

asked h im.   I  sa id  tha t  Gama had been  

d ismissed f rom the  pos i t ion  o f  CEO of  QRF. ”  

 Mr  Mkwanaz i  sa id :  

 “You d id  s i r,  I  reca l l . ”  

 And then you sa id :  10 

 “Yes,  and yes bu t  he  sa id  tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  

to ld  me tha t  the  reason why they d id  no t  agree 

is  tha t  he  was now,  he  wanted to  be  appo in ted  

or  to  use the  word  re ins ta ted  as  group ch ie f  

execut ive  o f f i ce r  and Mkwanaz i  sa id  tha t  he  

re jec ted  tha t .   He wanted h im to  be  re ins ta ted  

in  the  pos i t ion  o f  CEO QRF which  is  the  

pos i t ion  f rom which  he  had been d ismissed. ”  

 That  i s  what  he  sa id .   You were  summar iz ing  wha t  

Mr  Mpoma sa id .   Mr  Mkwanaz i  then responds to  your  20 

quest ion  a t  l ine  22 ,  say ing :  

 “Wel l ,  Mr  Mpoma sa id  tha t  and I  suspect  Mr  

Gama might  have sa id  tha t ,  bu t  c lear ly  

Cha i rperson I  cou ld  never  agree to  a  pos i t ion  

l i ke  tha t . ”  
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 That  takes us  to  the  end o f  tha t  page,  so  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink  you a re  r igh t .   Everybody  is  ha l f  

[ ind is t inc t  –  aud io  d is to r ted ] .  

MR GAMA:  Ja ,  and I  s ta te  Cha i r  tha t  I  wou ld  no t  have 

asked to  be  re ins ta ted  as  the  CEO.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  no  the  one po in t  wh ich  I  want  to  ra ise  

as  we looked a t  th is  i ssue,  i s  tha t  aga ins t  the  suggest ion  

you made and I  th ink  you emphas ized tha t  i t  was jus t  your  

th ink ing ,  tha t  maybe Mpoma,  Mr  Mpoma must  have been  10 

ta lk ing  about  re ins ta tement  to  the  pos i t ion  o f  CEO o f  TFR.    

 I t  wou ld  seem to  me and I  wou ld  l i ke  to  hear  what  

you have to  say tha t  g iven Mr  Mkwanaz i ’s  a t t i tude towards  

hav ing  you back,  i t  i s  d i f f i cu l t  to  th ink  tha t  tha t  cou ld  have 

your  demand to  be  re ins ta ted  to  TFR cou ld  have led  to  a  

[ ind is t inc t  –  aud io  d is to r ted ]  because tha t  i s  what  you 

wanted.   

 Ja .   Okay.    

MR GAMA:   In  fac t ,  and i t  i s  jus t  a  p ropos i t ion .   My 

susp ic ion  about  th is  th ing  i s  there  was somewhere  where  20 

Mkwanaz i  wanted  me to  work  in  h is  o f f i ce .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

MR GAMA:   And  I  suspect  tha t  is  what  th is  was  about .   

Where  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Was he a l so  ac t ing  group ch ie f  execut ive  
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a t  the  t ime? 

MR GAMA:   Yes,  he  was but  he  was the  Cha i rman o f  the  

company.  

CHAIRPERSON:   He was both  Cha i rman and ac t ing  group  

ch ie f  execut ive?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.   So he was l i ke  an  execut ive  Cha i rman.   

So he,  I  th ink  because o f  the  work  load tha t  he  was hav ing  

in  tha t  pos i t ion ,  he  wanted somebody who cou ld  ass is t  h im 

and I  d id  ass i s t  h im fo r  a  wh i le  in  tha t  o f f i ce .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   10 

MR GAMA:   So  my susp ic ion  was he wanted me to  do  tha t ,  

bu t  i t  was not  an  ex i s t ing  pos i t ion .   I t  was not  a  pos i t ion  

per  se .   I t  was there  because he was the  Cha i rman and i t  

i s  someth ing  tha t  w i l l  fa l l  away  because non-execut ive  

Cha i rman do not  rea l l y  have to  go  to  the  o f f i ce .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  ja .  

MR GAMA:   I  th ink  tha t  i s  what  i t  was and probab ly  we jus t  

have tha t  d iscuss ion  where  I  have sa id  I  d id  no t  want  to  

ro t ten  the  corner  o f  h is  corpo ra te  when I  cou ld  be  in  an  

opera t iona l  env i ronment .   20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.  

MR GAMA:   I t  was a  propos i t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

MR GAMA:   Bu t  I  th ink  i t  may have  been tha t .   
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CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  ja ,  yes .   

MR GAMA:   And not  anyth ing  e lse .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  okay.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  want  to  move then to  another  top ic  

and tha t  i s  I  do  no t  know i f  you know th is  o r  you came to  

learn  o f  i t ,  bu t  the  co rpo ra te  governance nominat ion  

commi t tee  in  ea r ly  February  were  conf ron ted w i th  the  

d i f f i cu l t y  as  to  whether  you  shou ld  be  a l lowed to  be  pu t  

fo rward  as  a  cand ida te  fo r  the  group ch ie f  execut ive  

pos i t ion .  10 

 A re  you aware  o f  tha t?  

MR GAMA:   I  have read tha t  in  the  las t  two weeks or  so  

when you send me some . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GAMA:   Some minutes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what  happened there ,  I  am not  

sure  we necessar i l y  need to  go  to  them,  bu t  you w i l l  be 

aware  o f  the  fac t  tha t  there  i s  a  po l i cy  o r  p rocedure  w i th in  

Transnet  tha t  as  a  genera l  ru le  does not  a l low someone to  

be  appo in ted  i f  they  have prev ious ly  been d i smissed,  bu t  20 

Transnet  has a  d iscre t ion  to  over r ide  tha t  and in  th is  case  

the  d iscre t ion  was exerc ised in  your  favour.   

 P resumably  tha t  must  be  common cause.   

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And are  you aware  o f  the  fac t  tha t  
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tha t  dec is ion  was taken desp i te  the  ex i s tence o f  a  sen ior  

counse l ’s  op in ion  tha t  caut ioned aga ins t  tha t?  

MR GAMA:   Sor ry,  a  caut ionary?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sen ior  counse l ’s  op in ion  tha t  

caut ioned aga ins t  the  exerc i se  o f  the  d iscre t ion  a l low ing  

you to  th row your  ha t  in  fo r  the  pos i t ion  o f  GCE.   

MR GAMA:   No,  no .   I  am not  p rev iew to  a l l  o f  those  

in t r i cac ies .   As  I  sa id  I  jus t  saw th i s  in  m inutes  recent ly  bu t  

i t  d id  no t  rea l l y  concern  me.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   O f  course  the  prob lem tha t  a rose and  10 

th is  was,  i t  i s  the  m inutes  I  th ink  tha t  you speak about .   I s  

tha t  a t  th is  s tage  and you a l though contes t ing  the  sanct ion  

o f  d ismissa l  bu t  you in tended to  do  i t  a rb i t ra t iona l l y,  you 

accepted your  gu i l t  in  re la t ion  to  three  charges as  I  reca l l .  

 I s  tha t  co r rec t?   In  o ther  words you accepted tha t  

you were  gu i l t y  o f  th is  conduct  bu t  what  you in tended to  

contes t  as  you were  en t i t led  to  do ,  was the  quest ion  o f  

sanct ion .   

MR GAMA:   That  i s  cor rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And tha t  was the  d i f f i cu l t y  bu t  desp i te  20 

tha t ,  the  commi t tee  dec ided tha t  you cou ld  be  put  fo rward .   

D id  you then a t tend an in te rv iew fo r  the  pos i t ion  o f  g roup  

ch ie f  execut ive?  

MR GAMA:   So r ry  Mr  Myburgh.   I  am not  rea l l y  su re  what  

you are  ask ing .   You speak a  b i t  fas t .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .   D id  you a t tend an,  were  you  

shor t l i s ted  and d id  you a t tend an in te rv iew fo r  the  pos i t ion  

o f  g roup ch ie f  execut ive?  

MR GAMA:   Yes,  I  d id .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mov ing  fo rward  in  the  chrono logy,  we 

know then tha t  on  the  16 t h  o f  February  2011 the  board  

reso lved to  re ins ta te  you.   You  wou ld  have seen tha t ,  

cor rec t?    

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what  Mr  Mkwanaz i  has tes t i f ied  10 

about  i s  tha t  they  d id  tha t  p r inc ipa l l y  on  the  bas is  tha t  your  

p rocu rement  dev ia t ions ought  to  have been condoned.   You 

have seen tha t .   

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What  we know then is  . . . [ in tervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry.   Jus t  make su re  you a re  loud 

enough Mr  Gama so tha t  you w i l l  be  recorded .   Your 

answers  w i l l  be  recorded.  

MR GAMA:   Okay,  le t  me come fo rward  a  b i t  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  okay.   Yes,  Mr  Myburgh?   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What  we know then is  tha t  a  

se t t lement  ag reement  was entered  in to  and perhaps  I  cou ld  

take  you to  a  copy o f  tha t  agreement .   Cou ld  you  tu rn  to  

BB15,  Bund le  1?    

MR GAMA:   Okay,  le t  me jus t  move th is  one.   Okay.    
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CHAIRPERSON:   What  page Mr  Myburgh?   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  w i l l  take  you to  page 36,  p lease and 

th is  was an agreement  i t  seems Mr  Gama,  i f  you  go to  page  

40 and 41,  tha t  was s igned by  you on the  23 r d  o f  February  

and by  Mr  Mkwanaz i  the  prev ious day.   Cor rec t?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Can I  jus t  ask  you before  we get  to  

the  content  o f  th is  ag reement ,  d id  you negot ia te  th is  

agreement  d i rec t l y  w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i?  

MR GAMA:   Ja ,  over  a  per iod  o f  t ime w i th  Mpoma and 10 

Mkwanaz i .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Mpoma as I  unders tand  i t  was 

ass is t ing  h im,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   There  is  someth ing  tha t  I  neg lec ted  

to  ask  you and  tha t  i s  in  your  d iscuss ions w i th  Mr  

Mkwanaz i ,  d id  he  ever  te l l  you  about  what  Mr  G igaba had 

asked h im to  do?  

MR GAMA:   No.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  I  am sor ry.   In  the  negot ia t ions tha t  20 

happened over  a  long t ime as  you say,  invo lv ing  you and  

Mr  Mkwanaz i  you say and Mr  Mpoma ass i s t ing  Mr  

Mkwanaz i ,  were  your  a t to rneys a l so  ass is t ing  you in  those  

negot ia t ions?   

MR GAMA:   Yes.  



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 148 of 242 
 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  a l r igh t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  he does not  te l l  you  a t  the  

beg inn ing  o f  h is  d iscuss ion  w i th  Mr  G igaba? 

MR GAMA:   No.   As  I  sa id  I  a lways unders tood and  known 

tha t  every th ing  tha t  led  to  the  se t t lement  ag reement  tha t  I  

have,  was as  a  resu l t  o f  my re fer ra l  o f  my unfa i r  d ismissa l  

to  the  barga in ing  counc i l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   D id  he  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   So  every th ing  tha t  I  d id ,  there  was never  any 

ment ion  to  me tha t  no ,  there  is  any po l i t i c ian  or  anyone  10 

tha t  i s  invo lved in  i t .   We were  jus t  ta lk ing  about  what  was 

before  us  and to  say how do we reso lve  the  mat te r.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you never  go t  a  sense f rom your  

in te rac t ion  w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i  tha t  he  was repor t ing  to  the  

m in is te r  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   No,  no .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   V ia  Mr  Mhlangu?  

MR GAMA:   No,  no .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  le t  us  then go th rough the  te rms 

o f  th is  agreement  and le t  us  s ta r t  w i th  the  preamble .    20 

MR GAMA:   Ja .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  has  the  normal  so r t  o f  s tu f f .   A t  

2 .1 ,  un fa i r  d ism issa l  d ispute  has ar isen between the  

par t ies .   Fo l lowing your  d i smissa l  on  the  29 t h  o f  June,  i t  

records  tha t  you had re fe r red  an  unfa i r  d ismissa l  d ispute  to  
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the  barga in ing  counc i l  and tha t  the  par t ies  were  now 

engag ing  in  a  se t t lement .    

 What  was ag reed was tha t  you  wou ld  re turn  to  

Transnet  w i th  e f fec t  f rom the  23 r d  o f  February  so  tha t  was 

the  da te  o f  your  s ignatu re .   

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And tha t  you wou ld  resume your  

du t ies  as  the  CEO on a  la te r  da te ,  on  1  Apr i l .  

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Why was tha t?  10 

MR GAMA:   Because Mr  Mkwanaz i  wanted me to  he lp  h im 

in  h is  o f f i ce .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .    

MR GAMA:   He had a  back log  o f  th ings.   He sa id  I  have  

got  a  back log  o f  th ings in  my o f f i ce .   They are  a l l  s t ra teg i c  

i ssues.   I  need you to  ass is t  me.   I  have got  a  new PCE,  he  

is  s t i l l  go ing  to  be  ge t t ing  to  h is  fee t .   I  jus t  need  you to  

he lp  me wi th  a l l  o f  these th ings and tha t  i s  what  I  d id .   

CHAIRPERSON:   I s  tha t  to  say be tween the  da te  o f  the  

conc lus ion  o f  the  se t t lement  agreement  and the  1s t  o f  Apr i l  20 

when you wou ld  resume or  re tu rn  t o  the  pos i t ion  o f  CEO of  

TFR,  he  wanted  you to  he lp  h im dur ing  tha t  t ime in  h is  

o f f i ce?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh,  okay.    
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MR GAMA:   He wanted me to  he lp  h im wi th  some issues  

there .   I  d id  no t  rea l l y  s tay  tha t  long.   I  d id  no t  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   How long d id  you s tay?  

MR GAMA:   I  th ink  i t  was about  a  month .   

CHAIRPERSON:   And then you . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   Then  Mr  Mole fe  asked  me to  go  back qu icke r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

MR GAMA:   To  TFR.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  10 

MR GAMA:   And  so  I  th ink  somet ime in  March,  Mr  Mole fe  

had asked me to  go  back.   I t  was an in te res t ing  pos i t ion  

because i t  was the  pos i t ion  where  i f  the  GCE wanted 

someth ing ,  he  wou ld  wr i te  to  the  Cha i rman but  now i t  was 

coming th rough me.   

 So now I  cou ld  e i ther  you know recommend to  the  

Cha i rman not  to  l i s ten  to  the  GCE or  no t .   So i t  was 

untenab le .   So I  needed to  go  back and do what  I  needed  

to  do .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   20 

MR GAMA:   I t  was TFR,  so  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  I  was under  the  impress ion  tha t  you  

were  g iven th is  per iod  jus t  to  have to  yourse l f  be fore  

re turn ing  to  work ,  bu t  you wou ld  be  pa id .   

MR GAMA:   No,  no  I  was work ing .   
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  bu t  o f  cou rse  the  se t t lement  

agreement  does not  make,  does not  touch tha t .   I t  does not  

say  anyth ing  about  what  you have  jus t  to ld  us  i s  tha t  you,  

you or  tha t  per iod  you wou ld  be  work ing  in  the  Cha i rman ’s  

o f f i ce .   

MR GAMA:   Ja ,  no  he  gave me boxes l i ke  th is .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  okay.   Okay,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Then i f  we get  to  the 

bus iness pa r t  o f  th is ,  parag raph 3 .2 :  

 “Any employment  benef i t s  tha t  were  due to  h im  10 

fo r  the  in te rven ing  per iod  o f  30  June 2010 to 

23  February  2011 in  te rms o f  h i s  employment  

cont rac t  sha l l  be  deemed to  be  fu l l y  res tored. ”  

 And then i t  says :  

 “That  a  fu l l  res to ra t ion  o f  benef i t s  en ta i l s  the  

fo l low ing.   The payment  o f  your  shor t  te rm 

benef i t s ,  payments  o f  you r  long te rm benef i t s ,  

the  res tora t ion  o f  you r  sa la ry  . . . ”  

 Over  the  page,  you conf i rm tha t?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then,  so  you were  p laced rea l l y  

in  a  pos i t ion  as  i f  you  had not  been d i smissed f inanc ia l l y.   

I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR GAMA:   Ja ,  i t  was res tora t ion  as  a  s ta tus  quo.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Paragraph 3 .3 :  
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 “Mr  Gama is  deemed to  have served h i s  s i x  

month  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing .   F ina l  wr i t ten  

warn ing  w i l l  be  deemed to  have been e f fec t i ve  

29  June 2010 to  29  December  2010. ”  

 I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  you were  g iven a  f ina l  warn ing  

tha t  i t  had no tee th ,  rea l l y.   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And how d id  tha t  come about?  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  i s  a  s t range sanct ion .   That  i s  why Mr  

Myburgh is  ask ing  because you were  invo lved in  

negot ia t ions .   Maybe you can th row l igh t  as  to  how i t  came 

about .    

MR GAMA:   Yes,  no  i t  was a  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  fo r  s i x  

months ,  because  as  you know I  had made an admiss ion  o f  

m isconduct  and we ag reed tha t  th is  was neg l igence,  bu t  i t  

was not  w i l l fu l  neg l igence and as  a  consequence o f  tha t ,  

then they requ i red  tha t  to  show tha t  I  had taken tha t  

accountab i l i t y  and respons ib i l i t y,  I  shou ld  accept  a  f ina l  20 

warn ing .   

 But  because I  was be ing  re ins ta ted  and res tored,  so  

i t  has  s ta r ted  on  the  day a f te r  my d ismissa l .   So i t  a l lowed  

me to  be  ab le  to  then go back to  work  hav ing  served the  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON:   On a  c lean s la te?  

MR GAMA:   The  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  and be ing  ab le  to  

focus on  my work .    

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr  Myburgh?   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  suppose i t  a lso  a l lowed you to  app ly  

fo r  the  pos i t ion  o f  GCE wi th  e f fec t i ve l y  a  c lean reco rd?   

MR GAMA:   No,  i f  you  look a t  the  da te  o f  th is  se t t lement  

agreement ,  i t  says  23  February.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   

MR GAMA:   2011 ,  the  GCE had a l ready been appo in ted .   10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Was tha t  be fore  then?  

MR GAMA:   Ja ,  no  he  had a l ready been appo in ted .   He 

was there ,  he  had been appo in ted  ear l ie r.   I  th ink  i t  s ta r ted  

maybe two weeks  before  th is .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .   

MR GAMA:   So . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now Mr  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   I t  had noth ing  to  do  w i th  tha t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What  I  was get t ing  a t  rea l l y  when I ,  I  

mean I  unders tand why you were  g iven a  f ina l  warn ing ,  bu t  20 

what  I  was t ry ing  to  f ind  ou t  i s  th is  idea tha t  the  f ina l  

wr i t ten  warn ings served wh i ls t  you  were  no t  in  the  employ  

o f  the  company is  a  b i t  unusua l ,  i s  i t  no t?  

MR GAMA:   I  was in  the  employ  o f  the  company,  I  was  

res tored to  the  da te  o f  d ismissa l .   Th is  was par t  o f  the  



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 154 of 242 
 

negot ia t ion .   That  i s  why the  negot ia t ions  they took longer.   

We negot ia ted .   You know,  negot ia t ions  is  a  g i ve  and take .   

We negot ia ted  a  l o t  o f  th ings.   

 Th is  i s  what  we f ina l l y  agreed to .   I f  you  th ink  my  

negot ia t ion  sk i l l s  were  good,  tha t  i s  f ine .   But  we 

negot ia ted .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You see Mr  Gama,  i t  i s  a t  th is  po in t  I  

jus t  want  to  repeat .   You are  no t  an  accused person here ,  

you are  no t  an  imp l ica ted  person.   What  we a re  t r y ing  to  do  

is  to  f ind  ou t  what  the  fac ts  were  in  re la t ion  to  th is  10 

se t t lement ,  and yes I  mean one  o f  the  issues tha t  you  

touch on tha t  was very  impor tan t  to  our  invest iga t ion ,  and  

tha t  i s  how is  i t  tha t  you rea l l y  on  the  face  o f  th is  

agreement  took Transnet  to  the  c leaners?    

 You know,  you  ta lk  about  g ive  and take  and  

barga in ing ,  bu t  where  is  tha t  re f lec ted  in  th is  agreement?   

You get  every th ing ,  you get  a  f ina l  warn ing  wh ich  had 

exp i red  and then  you get  a  very  generous cost  payment  

wh ich  we w i l l  come to  in  a  moment .   

 I  mean what  caused Transnet ,  and perhaps we can 20 

ask  you to  he lp  us  w i th  th is .   What  caused Transnet  to  

cap i tu la te  a lmost  comple te l y  i t  seems? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Par t i cu la r ly,  be fore  you  answer.   

par t i cu la r l y  in  c i r cumstances where  as  you have sa id ,  you  

were  admi t t ing  gu i l t  in  regard  to  those th ree  charges and 
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one access tha t  t hey d id  no t  inc lude f ind ings o f ,  they  were  

based on neg l igence i f  I  reca l l  co r rec t l y.  

 So when one looks a t  th is  se t t lement ,  and one i f  

one has a  background and has  read the  judgment ,  the 

Cha i rperson ’s  judgment ,  qu i te  f rank ly  I  go t  shocked  when I  

saw i t .    

 I  go t  shocked.   I  cou ld  no t  unders tand how any 

employer  wou ld  have gone as  fa r  as  they went ,  and maybe  

i t  i s  because your  negot ia t ing  sk i l l s ,  bu t  i t  m igh t  no t  be  

your  negot ia t ing  sk i l l s ,  i t  m igh t  be  someth ing  e lse  on  the  10 

par t  o f  Transnet .   

MR GAMA:   No,  no  thank you very  much fo r  ask ing  the  

quest ion  Mr  Cha i r.   I  th ink  i t  wou ld  pe rhaps be he lp fu l  to  

look  a t  the  contex t  aga in  you know,  because I  th ink  contex t  

i s  every th ing .   I  sa id  to  you ear l ie r  th is  morn ing ,  tha t  here  

was an employee,  a  CEO of  a  d iv is ion  who have been  

charged.   

 But  g iven a  quar te r  o f  in fo rmat ion  about  what  was  

happen ing .   Where  in  fac t  the  in te rna l  aud i to rs  wou ld  have  

sa id  to  me here  are  the  issue,  how do you propose to  20 

remedy th is  par t i cu la r  s i tua t ion ,  and there  were  about  s ix  

o r  seven employees who had  ac tua l l y  gone  aga ins t  

ins t ruc t ions tha t  I  have g iven them to  go  out  and on a  

tender  fo r  secur i t y  se rv i ces .   

 On the  l as t  day,  they ca tch  me when I  am in  a  hur ry  
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and they say look,  you need to  s ign  th is .   I t  i s  the  end o f  

the  tender  p rocess.   Every th ing  has been done as  you sa id  

i t  wou ld  be  done and I  do  no t  look  a t  i t  because I  am 

th ink ing  tha t  they  fo l lowed the  process.   

 When somewhere  in  the  m idd le ,  they s topped and  

they d id  no t  do  i t ,  normal ly  what  wou ld  have happened in  

Transnet ,  they wou ld  have come to  me and sa id  th is  i s  

what  has happened and then one o f  the  th ings tha t  I  wou ld  

have done,  wou ld  have been to  d isc ip l ine  these emp loyees  

in  te rms o f  what  they do ,  bu t  a lso  wou ld  have been to  10 

them,  go  and ask  fo r  a  condonat ion  because there  was th is  

open and ava i lab le  in  Transnet  to  say a  m isrepresenta t ion  

has occur red .   

 I  have been mis led  by  my employees.   They sa id  to  

me they have gone out  on  a  tender  when in  fac t  i t  was a  

conf iner  and because tha t  k ind  o f  i r regu lar i t y  in  

p rocu rement ,  you  are  ab le  to  go  to  the  de legated author i t y  

and say to  them yes,  there  is  m isrepresenta t ion  tha t  has 

occur red .    

 I  wou ld  l i ke  tha t  the  ac t ions tha t  have happened be  20 

condoned and these are  the  s teps tha t  we a re  go ing  to  

take  to  make su re  tha t  someth ing  l i ke  th is  does  not  re -

occur.   That  had  been h idden f rom me.   Th is  board  and I  

exp la ined to  Mkwanaz i ,  in  the  negot ia t ion ,  fo r  ins tance and  

tha t  i s  why you w i l l  see  there  was a  repor t  by  Nkonk i .  
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 There  was an employee,  I  am not  go ing  to  . . .  who 

had exceeded h i s  au thor i t y  by  750  mi l l ion ,  had never  been  

charged and were  made aware  and was a l lowed to  re t i re .   

I f  the  aud i to rs  had p i cked th is  th ing  w i th  me,  I  had 

exceeded my author i t y  by  four  m i l l i on .    

 I  was charged.   I  am not  go ing  to  say a l l  o f  the  

o ther  th ings tha t  happened in  the  m idd le .   I  was charged.   

The second one was in  c i rcumstances where  the  lega l  team 

had sa id  to  me  here  is  an  ag reement ,  we have now 

prepared i t ,  eve ry th ing  tha t  was  supposed to  be  done,  10 

inc lud ing  the  reso lu t ion  e tce tera .    

 Every th ing  is  in  here ,  you jus t  need to  s ign  he re .   

There  was 244 page document .   I  was then tasked tha t  

there  was a  m iss ing  paragraph in  the  244 page document ,  

tha t  I  thought  was there  bu t  was not  there ,  and  hav ing  

regard  to  input  and adv i ce  f rom the  lega l  team,  who were  

a lways aware  and have been aware  fo r  some t ime tha t  th is  

was how th ings was go ing  to  happen,  we had remed ied tha t  

a t  some po in t .   

 A t  a  la te r  da te  we remedied i t ,  bu t  on  the  eve o f  the  20 

appo in tment  o f  the  GCE a t  Transnet ,  i t  was pu l led  ou t .   I t  

was pu l led  back.   We had remedied th is  th ing  in  2008 and  

noth ing  was sa id  about  i t ,  bu t  in  February  o f  2009 when  

there  was a  new GCE tha t  needed to  be  appo in ted ,  they 

then sa id  by  the  way you had s igned tha t  agreement  and  
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you  never,  there  was th is  paragraph tha t  was miss ing  in  

th is  244 page document .   

 There  had never  been a  CEO in  Transnet  who was  

charged and d i sc ip l ined fo r  the  ac t ions o f  h is  employees.   

A l te rna t ive ly  there  had never  been  a  CEO in  Transnet  who 

was not  in fo rmed by  the  in te rna l  aud i to r  tha t  th is  i s  

ac tua l l y  what  i s  happen ing ,  so  tha t  I  cou ld  be  ab le  to  

remedy th is  pa r t i cu la r  i ssue.   

 So when we were  hav ing  the  se t t lement  d iscuss ion ,  

we a lso  have regard  to  the  un fa i rness tha t  had been v is i ted  10 

on me.   We were  hav ing  regard  to  whether  o r  no t  I  shou ld  

have been charged in  the  f i rs t  p lace .   A l though I  sa id  yes,  I  

have been neg l igent  no t  ac tua l l y  hav ing  done one,  two,  

th ree .   

 However,  i t  was g la r ing  to  everybody tha t  i t  was not  

w i l l fu l  neg l igence ,  i t  was g la r ing  to  everybody tha t  I  had  

not  been d ishonest .   I t  was g la r i ng  to  everybody tha t  no  

f raud had been commi t ted  or  perpetuated by  me.   So we 

were  hav ing  th i s  d iscuss ions and  then say ing  wha t  i s  the  

most  appropr ia te  way to  t ry  and res tore  me? 20 

 Mkwanaz i  had been in  Transnet ,  he  knew about  

these processes.   That  there  are  condonat ions tha t  take  

p lace.   In  fac t ,  tha t  board  i f  I  can  g ive  an  example ,  there  

had even been a  company tha t  has been appo in ted  on the  

p ipe l ine .   
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 The new mul t i -p roduct  p ipe l ine  i n  Transnet  wh ich  

had been appo in ted  i r regu lar ly.   They had spent  1 .7  b i l l i on .   

They had gone th rough tha t  board ,  they have been pa id  the  

1 .7  b i l l i on  when  they have been i r regu la r ly  appo in ted .   

Which  means the  cont rac t  was not  couture  and the  cost  

had gone up to  3 .2  b i l l i on .  

 They had to  condone those ac t ions tha t  has taken  

p lace and here  was Gama who had exceeded h i s  au thor i t y  

by  four  m i l l i on  rand,  in  c i rcumstances where  he  had been  

mis led  in to  th ink ing  tha t  these employees have ac tua l l y  10 

imp lemented wha t  he  had asked them to  imp lement ,  wh ich  

was to  go  ou t  on  a  tender  p rocess fo r  the  secur i t y  serv i ce .   

 Which  they perpe tuated to  the  las t  day to  say yes,  

we have gone ou t  to  tender  and I  then because I  was in  a  

hur ry,  I  do  no t  ge t  t ime to  ac tua l l y  s i t  down and look a t  i t  

and I  am th ink ing  tha t  they have  done what  I  had asked  

them to  do .   

 I  jus t  look  a t  the  las t  page and as  a  resu l t  o f  tha t ,  I  

become th is  neg l igent  pe rson.   So those were  the  

c i rcumstances in  wh ich  we were  negot ia t ing .   There  was a  20 

l i s t  I  th ink ,  o f  about  42  condonat ions tha t  had taken p lace 

you know,  dur ing  tha t  per iod .   Th is  th ing  o f  me be ing  

charged Cha i r,  they  were  look ing  fo r  anyth ing  in  o rder  to  

charge me.   

 When Mkwanaz i  and myse l f  were  hav ing  th is  
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d iscuss ion ,  we then sa id  I  sa id  no ,  I  agree in  fu tu re  you 

are  now say ing  tha t  i f  your  lega l  peop le  s ign  a  document  

and say no ,  every th ing  is  f ine ,  maybe I  cor rec t  . . .  I  shou ld  

have sa id  to  them jus t  show me tha t  paragraph,  bu t  these 

are  peop le  tha t  we t rus ted  the i r  bona f ides .   

 We t rus ted  the i r  i n ten t .   There  was  not  anyth ing  tha t  

we wou ld  lose .   In  fac t ,  we had every th ing  to  ga in  i n  te rms 

o f  bu i ld ing  the  50  leg  new a t  the  Transnet  fac i l i t i es  

because we were  pu rsu ing  a  pro jec t  Cha i r,  where  we  

wanted Transne t  to  eventua l l y  manufac ture  i t s  own 10 

locomot ive .   

 So there  were  a  lo t  o f  th ings tha t  we wanted to  

learn ,  bu t  then the  peop le  a t  Transnet  eng ineer ing  were  

supposed to  have coopera ted  in  te rms o f  he lp ing  us  w i th  

tha t .   They d id  no t  make the  prem ises ava i lab le .   So i t  was  

a  who le  contex t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  was a l l  o f  those fac tors  tha t  you  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   Ja ,  i t  was a l l  o f  those fac tors  tha t  sa id  i t  i s  

most  appropr ia te  to  re -v is i t  th is  th ing ,  to  make su re  tha t  20 

the  un fa i rness and the  harm and the  hu r t  tha t  I  have gone 

th rough be res to red.   So we were  hav ing  th is  d i scuss ion  

and i t  took  many days.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

MR GAMA:   But  we . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

MR GAMA:   We were  qu i te  thorough and method ica l  about  

i t .   

CHAIRPERSON:   O f  course ,  aga ins t  what  you have  sa id  in  

suppor t  o f  say ing  there  was unfa i rness,  tha t  i s  how you 

argued your  case  to  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  aga ins t  tha t  o f  course ,  

the  pos i t ion  was  tha t  one there  had been a  d isc ip l inary  

process and I  th ink  i t  i s  fa i r  to  say i t  was qu i te  a  thorough 

d isc ip l ina ry  process,  because i t  seems to  have run ,  been 

runn ing  a lmost  l i ke  a  t r ia l .   10 

 You know,  I  th ink  I  am under  the  impress ion  tha t  i t  

was more  than ten  days o f  hear ing ,  Cha i red  by  somebody  

not  f rom Transne t ,  bu t  ra ther  somebody f rom outs ide ,  an  

exper ienced lawyer.   You were  g iven an oppor tun i t y  to  be 

rep resented by  lawyers  o f  your  own cho ice ,  Transnet  was  

rep resented by  lawyers  o f  i t s  own cho ice .   

 Whatever  you wanted to  pu t  be fore  the  Cha i rman o f  

the  d isc ip l inary  inqu i ry,  you say to  h im th is  i s  un fa i r,  I  

shou ld  no t  even have been charged in  the  f i rs t  p lace .   A l l  

o f  those a rguments  you had had  a  chance to  pu t  them 20 

before  the  Cha i rman and th is  Cha i rman had made  f ind ings 

aga ins t  you.  

 So I  am jus t  say ing  why you may  have put  to  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  what  you have sa id ,  aga ins t  tha t  there  were  

these cons ide ra t i ons as  we l l .   You wou ld  accept  tha t ,  I  
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wou ld  imag ine .   

MR GAMA:   Yes,  no  tha t  have happened,  bu t  what  have not  

been taken in to  account  in  ge t t ing  to  the  sanct ion  tha t  they 

go t  in to  was tha t  the  f i rs t  o f fender  when i t  was no t  g ross  

neg l igence,  i t  was found gu i l t y  o r  the  sanct ion  o f  d i smissa l  

d id  no t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Was too  harsh .  

MR GAMA:   Yes,  i t  d id  no t  app ly.   In  te rms o f  Transnet ’s  

own code o f  good  prac t ice .   So those th ings have not  been 

brought  in to  bags,  and I  th ink  i n  the  dy ing  days  o f  the  10 

ac tua l  t r ia l ,  because i t  cos t  me qu i te  a  lo t  o f  money.   I  

th ink  I  cou ld  no t  even go to  the ,  what  i s  i t  ca l led?  

Aggravat ion?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Aggravat ion ,  ja .   Ja .    

MR GAMA:   I  d id  no t  have the  resources.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  ja .   

MR GAMA:   You know . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   The mi t iga t ion  fo r  the  o ther  s ide .   

MR GAMA:   Yes,  tha t  m i t iga t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   20 

MR GAMA:   I  had a l ready pa id  f ive  m i l l ion  rand p lus  f rom 

the  H igh  Cour t ,  because I  pa id  money f rom the  H igh  Cour t  

and when I  was be ing  pa id  in  2011 ,  i t  was a  par t  re fund o f  

money tha t  I  had a l ready pa id .   So i t  was a l l  o f  those 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON:   A l l  o f  those th ings.   

MR GAMA:   Those issues tha t  we were  dea l ing  w i th .   So 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  so  tha t  i s  f ine .   

MR GAMA:   And  a l l  o f  i t  was techn ica l  d iscuss ions tha t  

looked a t  the  contex t  o f  what  had happened.   There  were  

peop le  and ins tances and inc idents  w i th in  Transnet  tha t  

was very  s im i la r.   The Nkonk i  KPMG repor t  came to the 

same conc lus ion .  

 That  there  was no one a t  Transnet  o ther  than Gama 10 

tha t  had ever  been charged ,  d isc ip l ined,  f i red  fo r  

someth ing  tha t  cou ld  have been rec t i f ied  ins ide  the  

company i f  peop le  were  j us t  be ing  fa i r  to  one another  and 

they fo l lowed the i r  own processes to  dea l  w i th  i t .   

 Yes,  i t  was l i ke  a  [ ind is t inc t  –  aud io  d is to r ted ]  t r ia l .   

The way tha t  i t  was . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  i t  m igh t  no t  be  appropr ia te  to  re fe r  

i t  l i ke  tha t ,  bu t  ja  you know i t  was a  d i sc ip l inary  hear ing  

tha t  was Cha i red  by  a  member,  a  sen ior  member  o f  the  

Johannesburg  Bar  and the re  were  lawyers  on  a l l  s ide .  20 

MR GAMA:   The manner  in  wh ich  Cha i r,  Transnet  had done 

i t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

MR GAMA:   I t  was ve ry,  ja  I  w i thdraw tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  ja .  
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MR GAMA:   I  do  no t  want  to  be  o f fens ive  to  anyone.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   Mr  Myburgh?   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  thank you.   Mr  Gama,  I  suppose 

jus t  to  end o f f  on  tha t  I  have got  two po in t s .   When  you say  

I  asked you jus t  co in  the  phrase,  how d id  you take  them to  

the  c leaners  and u l t imate ly  what  you . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Sor ry?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What  you have exp la ined to  the  

Cha i rperson was tha t  tha t  happened because rea l l y  o f  the  

un fa i rness o f  you r  d ismissa l ,  cor rec t?  10 

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t  you s t i l l  accepted a  f ina l  wr i t ten  

warn ing  va l i d  fo r  s ix  months .   

MR GAMA:   How does someone  who admi ts  m isconduct ,  

who accepts  a  sanct ion  one be low d ismissa l ,  how do they 

land up then and  I  must  ask  you th is ,  no t  as  an  accused  

person,  no t  as  an  imp l ica ted  pe rson.  But  how do you then  

land up tak ing  them to  the  c leaners?    

MR GAMA:   Tak ing  who to  the  c leaners?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   In  the  se t t lement  ag reement  you got  20 

every th ing  and more  than you cou ld  have got .   

CHAIRPERSON:   E f fec t i ve ly  he  is  say ing  Mr  Gama the  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l ,  you  sa id  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   The se t t lement  agreement  must  be  
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looked as  a t  the  ou tcome o f  negot ia t ions .   I t  looks  l i ke  you 

wa lked a l l  over  Mkwanaz i  and Transnet  and jus t  t hey gave 

you whatever  you  wanted.   He says how d id  th is  happen.  

MR GAMA:   Take me to  your  next  negot ia t ion  s i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  i s  your  sk i l l s .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Gama,  can you g ive  us  some 

ins igh t  in to  tha t ,  because aga in  you a re  he re  to  ass i s t  us  

in  th is  invest iga t ion  and I  do  no t  know,  i t  i s  d i f f i cu l t  

because you are  so  obv ious l y  an  in te res ted  pa r ty  in  th is ,  

bu t  i t  s t r i kes  one as  s t range.   10 

 I  w i l l  j us t  ask  you to  comment  on  tha t .   Was i t  jus t ,  

you ta lk  i t  down to  your  negot ia t ion  sk i l l s  o r  do  you say  

tha t  f requent ly?  

MR GAMA:   Ja ,  no  there  is  no th ing  e lse  to  th is  rea l l y.   

There  is  no th ing  e lse  o ther  than contex t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .  

MR GAMA:   And there  was a  contex t  to  th is  and Mkwanaz i  

was r igh t  a t  the  ta i l  end o f  i t .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

MR GAMA:   I t  was we l l  repor ted  and recorded and in  the 20 

count ry.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You see . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   The se t t lement  agreement  i s  rea l l y  an  

ind ica t ion  o f  the  in ten t  to  res to re .    

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   No,  no  I  th ink  you have ind ica ted  
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what  in  your  v iew . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   I  do  no t  th ink  there  was any o ther  s in is te r  

th ing  on  the  par t  o f  Transnet ,  bu t  yes  I  negot ia ted  hard .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Because I  must  jus t  te l l  you  and jus t  

to  g ive  you ins igh t ,  you might  have seen or  read the  

ev idence o f  Mr  Mkwanaz i .   I  mean  I  asked h im whe ther  he  

cou ld  have done,  and perhaps  i t  was a  b i t  f l i ppant ly,  

whethe r  he  cou ld  have done a  worse  job .   

 I  th ink  i t  i s  a  very  d i f f i cu l t  pos i t ion  fo r  Transnet  to  

de fend.    10 

MR GAMA:   I  do  no t  know.   As I  sa id ,  i t  was an issue fo r  

them on my par t ,  bu t  I  th ink  they unders tood the  

un fa i rness,  they unders tood the  i nequ i ty.   They unders tood  

the  pa in .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Much bet te r  than the  Cha i rperson o f  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  inqu i ry,  ja  I  wou ld  imag ine  you wou ld  say.   

MR GAMA:   Yes,  the  Cha i rperson o f  the  d isc ip l ina ry  inqu i ry  

have done whatever  tha t  they have to  do  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

MR GAMA:   Wi th in  the  contex t  o f  what  they had been  20 

g iven.   So but  w i th  them,  i f  I  say  to  you th is  i s  a  mat te r  

where  I  p robab ly  shou ld  never  have been charged  in  the  

f i rs t  p lace  because i t  cou ld  have been f i xed ,  th rough  

processes tha t  ex is ted  in  the  company.   

 In  c i r cumstances  where  I  was no t  be ing  prov ided  
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w i th  fu l l  in fo rmat ion  in  te rms o f  what  was go ing  on,  un t i l  a t  

the  d isc ip l inary  hear ing  and even a t  the  d isc ip l ina ry  

hear ing  I  s t i l l  d id  no t  have a l l  o f  the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  I  

requ i red  to  be  ab le  to  de fend myse l f  p roper ly.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  Mr  Gama,  have you . . . [ in te rvenes]   

UNKNOWN:   Sor ry.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Sor ry.  

UNKNOWN:   Mr  Cha i r,  there  is  an  impor tan t  aspect  I  w ish 

to  ra ise  and i t  i s  no t  my purpose  to  suggest  tha t  you are  

be ing  mis led ,  bu t  to  make a  no t ice  s ta tement  to  the  e f fec t  10 

o f  Transnet  cou ld  no t  have done  a  worse  job ,  i t  i s  no t  

cor rec t .   

 In  fac t  i t  i s  a  document  in t roduced by  the  lega l  

team,  in  the i r  possess ion  and w i th in  the i r  knowledge ,  when  

they sought  the  adv i ce  f rom the  [ ind i s t inc t  –  aud io  

d is to r ted ]  a t to rneys,  I  jus t  want  to  fo r  the  record ,  quote  

one capt ion  wh ich  is  conta ined in  the  penu l t imate  

parag raph o f  the  adv i ce  and recommendat ion  tha t  they 

make,  once they were  se ized w i th  a  request  to  cons ider  Mr  

Gama’s  pos i t ion  and th i s  i s  what  i t  says  and I  quote :  20 

 “Mr  Gama is  a  h igh l y  exper ienced execut ive  

and the  Transnet  execut ive  and the  company is  

s t i l l  i n  need o f  h i s  sk i l l s  as  i t  embarks  on  the  

an t ic ipa ted  growth  pa th  and cont r i bu t ion  to  the  

na t iona l  f i scus and job  crea t ion . ”  
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 Then the  f ina l  paragraph:  

 “The so lu t ion  to  the  prob lem a t  hand was  

s imply  th is . ”  

 Th is  i s  the  recommendat ion :  

 “The so lu t ion  is  the  proposed se t t lement . ”  

 Now in  fa i rness to  my c l ien t ,  how can Mr  Myburgh 

put  such an out rageous s ta tement  to  h im,  i t  cou ld  no t  have  

done a  worse  job ,  when the  Commiss ion  is  in  possess ion  o f  

th is  document  tha t  exp la ins  the  ra t iona l  fo r  the  se t t lement  

agreement .    10 

 On i t s  owner  te rms,  w i th  respect .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  you  w i l l  ge t  a  chance i f  you w ish  to  

make use o f  i t ,  to  re-examine Mr  Gama and then you can  

ra ise  such mat te rs .    

UNKNOWN:   Jus t  one th ing  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

UNKNOWN:   To  be  put  in  perspect i ve  and ob jec t i ve l y  to  my 

c l ien t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

UNKNOWN:   Thank you Mr  Cha i r.   20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Bu t  o f  course  you w i l l  remember  tha t  in  

h is  ra tes  prov ides tha t  op in ion  a f te r  they have ind ica ted  

tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  sa id  he  j us t  needed an op in ion  tha t  

wou ld  mot iva te ,  to  enab le  h im to  take  Mr  Gama back.   So 

ja ,  okay.   Mr  Myburgh?  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Mr  Gama,  when you were  

exp la in ing  to  the  Cha i rperson your  fee l ings  o f  un fa i rness  

and you touched  on we know a l t hough you d id  no t  dea l  

w i th  i t  d i rec t l y,  you exp la ined the  c i rcumstances in  re la t ion  

to  GNS,  tha t  charge and a lso  the  c i rcumstances in  re la t ion  

to  50  l i ke  new.   

 You exp la ined tha t  you and Mr  Mkwanaz i  ove r  a  

per iod  o f  t ime dea l t  w i th  tha t  and came to  an  

unders tand ing  in  re la t ion  to  how unfa i r l y  you were  t rea ted .   

What  you do not  ment ion  a t  a l l ,  i s  the  four th  charge wh ich  10 

was tha t  o f  unwarranted cr i t i c i sm o f  Transnet  and i t s  

execut ives .   

 I f  you  cou ld  pe rhaps go to  bund le  3 ,  Exh ib i t  16 .   I f  I  

cou ld  ask  you p lease to  tu rn  up  page 88.  

MR GAMA:   E igh t  e igh t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now th i s  i s  par t  o f  what  we have 

re fer red  to  o r  I  have re fer red  to  as  the  Todd op in ion ,  bu t  

what  I  want  to  do ,  jus t  above paragraph 60,  there  i s  a  

parag raph wh ich  Mr  Todd quotes  f rom the  f ind ings  o f  the  

Cha i rperson.  20 

 Are  you there?   

MR GAMA:   I  am jus t  . . . [ in te rvenes ]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  jus t  above 60.  

MR GAMA:   Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  las t  parag raph o f  the  quote .   
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Th is  i s  an  ex t rac t  f rom the  Cha i rperson ’s  f ind ings on  

sanct ion :  

 “Transnet  subm i ts  tha t  no  employment  

re la t ionsh ip  can  cont inue to  ex is t  in  the  

c i rcumstances o f  th is  pub l i c  a t tack  on  i t s  

execut ives  and on Transnet  i t se l f .   In  shor t ,  

Wel l ’s  ev idence on th is  aspect  se t  ou t  above is  

overwhe lm ing and uncont rad ic ted .   Th is  

charge goes to  t he  hear t  o f  Transnet ’s  loss  o f  

fa i th  in  Gama and there  can be no doubt  tha t  10 

d ismissa l  i s  the  on ly  appropr ia te  pena l ty  f o r  

Gama’s  conduct  under  th is  four th  charge. ”  

 In  o ther  words,  what  the  Cha i rpe rson sa id  i s  tha t  

you s tood to  be  d ismissed on tha t  charge a lone.   When you  

ta lk  about  the  un fa i rness o f  your  d i smissa l  and you 

ar t i cu la ted  here ,  you make no men t ion  a t  a l l  o f  th is .   

MR GAMA:   Ja ,  no  thank you very  much fo r  remind ing  me.   

Cha i rperson,  so r ry.   I  thought  in  Zu lu  be fore  I  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   You are  a l lowed to  th ink  in  Zu lu  f i rs t  and  20 

then t rans la te .   

MR GAMA:   Yes,  yes .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  I  can  te l l  you  tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   I t  was the  grass  tha t  was su f fe r ing  when LFM’s  

. . .  so  Cha i rperson,  what  had happened he re  is  tha t  dur ing  
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the  course  o f  a l l  o f  th is ,  there  had been such u t te rances 

there  tha t  have been made aga ins t  ma in ly  Wel ls .    

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry,  do  you say main l y  someth ing?  

MR GAMA:   Ma in ly  Wel ls .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh,  Mr  Wel l s .   Ja .  

MR GAMA:   Ja ,  ja .    

CHAIRPERSON:   Was ac t ing  group CEO at  the  t ime.   

MR GAMA:   Yes,  yes  and maybe one or  two Transnet  

execut ives  and these u t te rances were  made by  my lega l  

counse l ,  no t  necessar i l y  by  myse l f  bu t  I  reconc i led  to  the  10 

fac t  tha t  he  was  my counse l  and  tha t  there fore  I  shou ld  

take  respons ib i l i ty  fo r  tha t .   

 A f te r  i t  had happened,  I  had apo log ized to  Wel l s  

tha t  i t  had happened in  the  manner  in  wh ich  i t  had 

happened.   Wel ls  had accepted the  apo logy,  bu t  then went  

on  to  say tha t  he  cou ld  no t  accept  the  apo logy fo r  the 

company and tha t  in  h is  v iew,  tha t  there  was there fo re ,  

what  i s  the  lega l  te rm?   

 There  was a  breakdown.  

CHAIRPERSON:   B reakdown in  re la t ionsh ip .  20 

MR GAMA:   There  was a  breakdown in  the  t rus t  

re la t ionsh ip .  

CHAIRPERSON:   In  the  t rus t .   

MR GAMA:   O r  in  the  employment  re la t ionsh ip .   But  Cha i r,  

in  te rms o f  tha t ,  I  th ink  there  is  a  case,  there  is  the  Louw 
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case tha t  we cou ld  probab ly  re fe r  to .   That  b reakdown 

app l ies  in  ins tances and c i rcumstances where  d i shonesty  

has been found.   

 In  th is  case,  the re  was no d i shonesty  tha t  had been 

found.   Yes,  there  was the  a l te rca t ion ,  words were  

exchanged and as  a  resu l t  o f  tha t ,  cer ta in  pa in  have been  

caused,  bu t  i t  i s  someth ing  wh ich  we be l ieve  tha t  d id  no t  

app ly  to  th is  par t i cu la r  se t  o f  c i r cumstances.   

 So when I  took the  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing ,  i t  was in  

c i rcumstances where  a l l  o f  those  th ings were  taken in to  10 

account ,  bu t  a lso  to  say i t  wou ld  no t  have been a  

d ismiss ib le  o f fence on i t s  own,  espec ia l l y  in  c i rcumstances  

where  there  was no f ind ing  o f  d ishonesty.  

 Yes,  there  was  a  breakdown in  t rus t  as  they  

ind ica ted  but  i t  was not  a  d ismiss ib le ,  the  sanc t ion  o f  

d ismissa l  on  i t s  own cou ld  no t  have he ld .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Gama . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   I  wou ld  probab ly  go  back to  tha t  law and 

ind ica te  some more  i f  you  wanted to ,  bu t  i t  was my and ou r  

be l ie f  tha t  the ,  tha t  b reakdown cou ld  no t  have resu l ted ,  20 

espec ia l l y  in  c i r cumstances where  i t  was not  myse l f ,  that  

had ac tua l ly  made whatever  those  u t te rances were ,  bu t  I  

d id  reconc i le  to  i t  to  say  i t  was my lega l  counse l ,  and I  

accepted tha t  and as  a  consequence o f  tha t ,  I  o f fe red  an  

apo logy to  Wel ls .   
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CHAIRPERSON:   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Gama,  there  i s  a  lo t  o f  labour  

lawyers  in  th is  room . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   There  is  what?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   There  are  a  lo t  o f  labour  lawyers  in  

th is  room,  as  you may know and i f  you I  do  no t  th ink  you 

are  go ing  to  pe rsuade them tha t  in  te rms o f  labour  law the  

employment  re la t ionsh ip  i s  on l y  b roken down i f  you ac t  

d ishonest ly.   

 That  i s  by  no  means the  law.   So tha t  i s  the  f i rs t  10 

propos i t ion .   The  second propos i t ion  wh ich  I  want  to  ask  

you about ,  i s  you say we l l ,  we  looked a t  th is  and we  

dec ided but  what  about  what  the  Cha i rperson had found.   A 

h igh l y  respected sen ior  counse l  who knows o f  labour  law,  

when you say we jus t  dec ided.   

 How d id  tha t  happen?  The th i rd  th ing  I  want  to  pu t  

to  you,  i s  i f  you  a re  ta lk ing  about  you and Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  sa id  many t imes tha t  he  in  fac t  fo rgo t  comple te l y  

about  th is  charge .   He never,  ever  cons idered i t  and in  fac t  

he  conceded tha t  i f  he  had then tha t  in  i t se l f  was su f f i c ien t  20 

to  susta in  your  d i smissa l  and ough t  to  have caused you not  

to  be  re ins ta ted .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  he  sa id  tha t .   

MR GAMA:   No,  he  may have sa id  tha t ,  bu t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  

does not  even know what  has been sa id  in  te rms o f  those  
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words,  those d i scuss ions because he had not  been the re  

when i t  happened .   So my sense Cha i r,  i s  tha t  i t  i s  a lways 

d i f f i cu l t  fo r  me to  re -v is i t  tha t  t ime per iod  in  my l i fe .   

 But  my sense is  Cha i r,  eve ry th ing  pu t  togethe r,  we  

d iscussed i t ,  we negot ia ted .   I  took  respons ib i l i t y,  even fo r  

th ings tha t  have not  been sa id  by  me.   I  took  tha t  

respons ib i l i t y.   I  went  fu r ther.   I  apo log ized to  Wel l s  fo r  

what  had happened.   

 Wel l s  accepted the  apo logy,  bu t  he  d id  no t  want  to  

accept  i t  on  beha l f  o f  the  company.   But  he  accepted i t  10 

persona l ly,  and so  I  am jus t  say ing  a l l  o f  those th ings  

taken togethe r,  and I  th ink  the  negot ia t ion ,  i t  i s  very  

d i f f i cu l t  fo r  me to  say what  was on  my oppos i te  s ide ’s  m ind  

when they agreed ,  because I  do  no t  know.  

 But  I  pu t  contex t  to  them and I  th ink  they were  ve ry  

recept ive  to  the  contex t  tha t  I  had put  to  them.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You see,  Mr  Gama,  I  mean the  th ing  

is  the  board  a lso  seem to  have fo rgo t ten  about  the  four th  

charge,  because as  you know,  your  re ins ta tement  i s  agreed 

to  fundamenta l l y  because o f  the  p rocurement  condonat ion  20 

issue.   

 I  mean,  was the re  any ta lk  a t  a l l  o f  th is  four th  

charge du r ing  these negot ia t ions ,  because Mr  Mkwanaz i  

sa id  no th ing  abou t  tha t .   In  fac t  he  sa id  he  fo rgo t  about  i t .    

MR GAMA:   Ja ,  i t  i s  such a  long t ime ago tha t  we in  fu tu re  
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I  wou ld  l i ke  to  take  maybe minutes  o f  the  negot ia t ions  so  

tha t  one can be ab le  to  re fe r  to  them.   I  do  no t  have any  

minutes  o f  the  ac tua l  negot ia t ions .   I  do  no t  know whethe r  

we d i scussed tha t  par t i cu la r  i ssue or  no t .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   Bu t  I  th ink  everyone was a l i ve  to  t he  fac t  tha t  I  

had ac tua l l y  o f fe red  an apo logy to  Mr  Wel ls .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe i t  wou ld  be  fa i r,  wou ld  i t  no t  be ,  to  

say tha t  maybe  a l l  o f  you fo rgo t  about  tha t  par t i cu la r  

charge,  because  Mr  Mkwanaz i  accord ing  to  Mr  Myburgh  10 

and I  th ink  he  is  r igh t ,  sa id  he  had fo rgo t ten  about  tha t  

charge and i f  he  had remember  i t ,  tha t  wou ld  have been 

enough to  susta in  the  d ismissa l .  

 There fore  he  wou ld  no t  have  agreed to  your  

re ins ta tement ,  and when i t  comes  to  you,  when you were  

re lay ing  to  me what  you were  d iscuss ing  w i th  h im,  my 

impress ion  was tha t  you were  a l so  focus ing  when you were  

g iv ing  your  ev idence,  you know,  you were   focus ing  on  tha t  

p rocu rement  one.   

 Not  on  th i s  one.   I s  i t  poss ib le  tha t  a l l  o f  you fo r  20 

whatever  reason,  d id  no t  focus on  th is  one?   

MR GAMA:   Ja ,  I  cannot  remember  Cha i r.   I  th ink  I  wou ld  

go  a long w i th  your  p ropos i t ion  Cha i r  tha t  we probab ly  d id  

no t   . . . [ in te rvenes ]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  
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MR GAMA:   Pu t  too  much focus on  i t .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   Mr  Myburgh? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Can we p lease go back  

to  the  se t t lement  agreement ,  Bund le  1  BB15,  page 38?   

CHAIRPERSON:   I  see  Mr  Myburgh we have . . . [ in tervenes]   

MR GAMA:   Sor ry,  BB? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Jus t  gone past  fou r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe we cou ld  take  a  shor t  ad journment  

now and then resume la te r.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Cha i r.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Sha l l  we take  a  ten  m inute  ad journment ,  

so  we w i l l  resume a t  quar te r  past  four?   We ad journ .    

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Let  us cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Chairperson.   Mr Gama 

Transnet Bundle 1 BB15 page 38 the Set t lement  Agreement.   

Are you there? 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  just  want to take you and I  th ink this  

might  be the last  paragraph that  I  need to take you to in the 

Set t lement Agreement.   Paragraph 3.5  

“Transnet wi l l  make a cont r ibut ion equivalent  to 75% 

of  Mr Gama’s taxed legal  costs incurred dur ing Mr 
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Gama’s high cour t  appl icat ion and in respect  of  his  

unfai r  d ismissal  dispute referred to the Transnet 

Bargaining Counci l . ”  

You see that? 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Just  so that  we – we understand and I  

ask you to conf i rm that  the reference to the high court  

appl icat ion that  was an appl icat ion that  you brought to stop 

your discipl inary hearing? 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  you lost  wi th costs?  Is that  r ight? 

MR GAMA:   Painful ly so Mr Myburgh yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Ja I  am sure – I  am sure – when I  – 

when I  count  out  the number of  at torneys and senior counsel  

I  fee l  your pain.   You – I  need not  take you to the judgment 

we have seen i t  before.   I  th ink there were two sets of  

at torneys or even more and senior counsel .   So despi te that  

what was agreed is you would get  75% of  your costs of  those 

proceedings.   Is that  r ight? 

MR GAMA:   Ja that  I  would be refunded 75%. 20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then you would be refunded as 

wel l  in  respect  of  your unfai r  d ismissal  dispute referred to 

the Bargaining Counci l  what  did you understand that  to  

mean? 

MR GAMA:   I t  was the discipl inary hearing.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Why would i t  include the discipl inary 

hearing? 

MR GAMA:   Sorry? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Why would i t  include the discipl inary 

hearing?  I t  ta lks about an unfair  d ismissal  dispute referred 

to the Transnet  Bargaining Counci l .  

MR GAMA:   Because the – the – you wi l l  have a discipl inary 

hearing and then i t  leads to that  dispute – the unfai r  

d ismissal  d ispute as wel l .   So both of  them – i f  the 

discipl inary hearing did not  take place there would not  be an 10 

unfai r  d ismissal  dispute.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  at  the same t ime that… 

MR GAMA:   So i t  was a lways our understanding and the way 

that  Transnet t reated i t  that  … 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight .  

MR GAMA:   I t  is both the labour dispute and the high court  

d ispute – that  is the most  elegant  way of  descr ib ing i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  just  want to put  to you – I  mean f i rst ly  

you are in  the company I  th ink of  Mr Mapoma and Mr 

Mkwanazi? 20 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  i t  is capable I  th ink on a – on a 

proper legal  construct ion for labour lawyers who are fami l iar  

wi th th is you get  dismissed and then a dispute that  is  

referred to the Bargaining Counci l  is a separate thing but  I  
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do not  know i f  you want to comment any further.   That  you 

say is how you and others interpreted i t  – fa i r  enough. 

MR GAMA:   Yes – ja,  no our interpretat ion is that  i t  is the 

whole labour dispute.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja I  th ink – I  th ink that  maybe – maybe 

there is room for non-lawyers maybe not  non-lawyers in 

general  maybe non-labour lawyers I  am not  sure to  

understand i t  in that  way but  I  th ink the – the correct  – I  

th ink the correct  understanding would be that  unt i l  you are 

dismissed there is  no unfair  d ismissal  dispute.   Ja.   So when 10 

he ta lks there for when the Set t lement Agreement ta lks about 

your costs in  respect  of  your unfai r  d ismissal  dispute 

referred to the Bargaining Counci l  i t  can only be talk ing 

about  costs that  you have incurred af ter the dismissal  

dispute had ar isen or had been referred to the Bargaining 

Counci l .   Anything that  happened before there was a 

dismissal  dispute is not  included.   That  – that  I  th ink is the 

correct  understanding.   But  you – you may say you 

understood i t  in a certain way together wi th whoever else. .  

MR GAMA:   Ja I  am – I  th ink a l l  the part ies who were 20 

negot iat ing Chai r  we understood i t  be the labour dispute in 

i ts ent i rety.   The way i t  is f ramed here is as you say i t  but  I  

th ink as you say when lay persons such as ourselves 

somet imes have a – but  I  certainly know what the intent  was.   

The intent  was to say the labour costs and the high court  
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costs yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  I  do not  know about Mr Langa who 

was your  at torney but  I  understand you know the at torneys 

who were represent ing Transnet .  

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And Mr Mkwanazi  and the board to have 

special ists labour law department and Mr Ghule who was in  

my law f i rm at  some stage I  know him to be a labour lawyer.   

So – so – ja okay.    

MR GAMA:   Ja,  no.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.  

MR GAMA:   I t  is a di ff icul t  one for us non-labour law people 

but  we – I  know what the intent  was at  least  – but  I  th ink 

maybe the way that  i t  could be f ramed may be sl ight ly  

unfortunate.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now Mr Gama you of  course lost  your 

high court  appl icat ion fai r ly and squarely and you did not  

appeal  – why? 20 

CHAIRPERSON:   You – I  am not  sure whether you have a 

reasonable expectat ion that  he wi l l  say fa i r ly and squarely.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes wel l  I  mean you lost  your high 

court  appl icat ion – you did not  appeal .   What  on earth 

caused Transnet to agree to pay 75% of  your costs in that  
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fa i led high court  appl icat ion? 

MR GAMA:   No Mr Myburgh before I  go there this is the 

other th ing wi th the law when you appeal  you go through the 

same Judge who – who b lew you and then he says no I  do 

not  – your chances of  succeeding elsewhere are not  there.   I  

d id appeal .   I  d id appeal  for … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja you did appeal .  

MR GAMA:   I t  was not  upheld.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Appl icat ion for leave to appeal .  

MR GAMA:   Yes,  yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MR GAMA:   I  d id ask for that  appl icat ion for  leave to  appeal  

but  i t  was exact ly the same Judge that  we went to but  that  is  

what I  do not  understand because the Judge – al l  the Judge 

says wel l  I  gave you my verdict  no other Judge wi l l  g ive you 

any other verdict .  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  of  course Mr Gama you do know that  

al l  – many of  appeals that  happen happen because the same 

Judge who found against  you whoever – or whoever appeals 

said wel l  I  wi l l  g ive you the – the r ight  to appeal  against  my 20 

judgment.  

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And somet imes they are successfu l  in the i r  

appeal  somet imes they are not .   So the system does work.  

MR GAMA:   Ja somebody was saying to me you know you 
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should have gone to the labour cour t  to ( inaudible).  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  Mr Gama what  caused Transnet  

f rom your  perspect ive to agree to this in ci rcumstances 

where they had won that  appl icat ion and i t  was separate 

f rom these proceedings – the labour court  proceedings who 

labour proceedings as you put  i t?  

 MR GAMA:   Ja I  th ink i t  came through f rom the fact  that  I  

was saying to them that  i f  there was not  th is intent ion to  

charge me and discipl ine me in  ci rcumstances where I  

bel ieved that  there could have been very uncost ly  re l ief  that  10 

could have been done inside the company i tsel f  wi thout  

having to  charge me and al l  of  those things.   I t  was real ly 

that  context  that  – that  permit ted to say I  only rea l ly  went to 

court  because I  had nowhere e lse to turn.   I  mean I  do not  

th ink people go to  court  because they want to go to court .   I f  

– i f  I  can get  re l ief  on a matter through mediat ion and a 

discussion that  is always my preference.   We only go to 

court  because we are no longer ta lk ing – we are no longer 

having a fai r  basis on which we could meet.   We do not  have 

– we do not  even have an arbi ter  so the court  becomes the 20 

arbi ter.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Are you moving away f rom th is cost  leaf? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes I  am.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   No I  just  want to say Mr Gama this 

Set t lement Agreement including this part  is one of  those 

things that  makes one say what  was going on wi th the 

board?  Because when they entered into this Set t lement  

Agreement wi th you this high court  appl icat ion had long been 

f inal ised and passed and then your appl icat ion for leave to  

appeal  had been dismissed there was not  r isk of  i t  being 

resusci tated as I  understand the posi t ion.   I t  was something 

that  had happened qui te some t ime earl ier and they had won 

and the court  had said you must pay their  costs.   Now they 10 

are only faced wi th a labour dispute where you have referred 

an unfair  d ismissal  d ispute to the Bargaining Counci l .   There 

is – there was no way that  the resul t  of  the Bargaining 

Counci l  the dispute in the Bargaining Counci l  could resul t  in  

the Bargaining Counci l  revers ing the high court  order about  

the costs.   The court  had said you must  pay them – the 

costs.   There was no r isk of  that  be ing changed.  So one 

would have expected that  they would – i f  you ever  raised 

that  issue they would say look that  is f inal ised you had an 

opportuni ty to appeal ,  you fai led we are not  entertaining that  20 

– that  has been f inal ised.   We can talk about  only th is  

dismissal ,  th is dispute because th is  one is st i l l  pending.   You 

see.   Now not  on ly the one opt ion may have been that  they 

say okay we are not  going to enforce our costs order against  

you even though we have a r ight  to do so.   Even that  would 
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have been problemat ic but  for them to say even though you 

lost  Mr Gama – even though the court  you – sa id you must  

pay us our legal  costs we are going to pay you 75% of  your  

legal  costs.   I t  is just  something unthinkable.   I t  is di ff icul t  to  

understand to those – to many lawyers you know who – who 

know how these things get  – how matters get  set t led.   So i t  

is one of  those things and you might  not  be able to explain i t  

you know because as you said ear l ier on you are not  – you 

were not  in their  minds when you were negot iat ing but  i f  you 

might  be able to say wel l  I  th ink i t  is what I  have al ready told 10 

you Chair  about  the unfai rness and so on and so on there 

was nothing else that  I  could but  i t  is one of  those things 

that  are just  di ff icul t  to explain and I  th ink Mr Mkwanazi  had 

di ff icul ty in explaining i t  h imsel f .   So you might  be able to 

say Chair  I  cannot say anything but  I  understand what you 

are saying but  you know the board must  explain i tse l f .  

MR GAMA:   Ja.   No Chai r  I  – I  do understand.   In fact  you 

have given me a lesson in terms of  some of  these costs 

because some of  i t  – we always read about the stats but  we 

do not  real ly understand how i t  works.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   And you would know in here there was costs of  

Counsel  and ever  shares and whatever.   I  had al ready paid 

some of  these to – to Transnet .   So because of  the 

restorat ion – I  do not  know whether we cal l  i t  restorat ive 
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just ice i f  there is such a word but  in terms of  the restorat ion 

they were t ry ing to meet me some – somewhere.   They did 

not  meet me the ful l  way because – also what I  found Chai r  

when people talk  about  taxed legal  bi l l  they are not  ta lk ing 

about your bi l l  they take your bi l l  and they reduce i t .   So 

al though I  –  I  had paid about  R5 mi l l ion in legal  costs in 

which 75% would have been R4 mi l l ion I  th ink – I  th ink I  only  

got  R2 mi l l ion back.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay alr ight .   Wel l  part  of  what  – why I  am 

put t ing this to you is to enable you to see that  th is is one of  10 

those features that  of  the Set t lement Agreement that  make 

one ask the quest ion was there something else other  than 

the meri ts of  the matter that  was inf luencing the board to 

set t le the matter on the terms of  which i t  has set t led.   Why 

were they going out  of  the ir  way to do something that  is  not  

usual ly done?  That  is the kind of  ( inaudible).  

MR GAMA:   No to  me I  th ink Mkwanazi  was qui te eager that  

we go and we f ix the business and I  th ink he was repaid 

wi thin six months.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  Hm. 20 

MR GAMA:   And – because that  business went to the moon 

Chai r.   I t  made a lot  of  money.    

CHAIRPERSON:   But  – but  I  am tempted to th ink that  even i f  

they did not  o ffer  to pay you 75% of  your  legal  costs in the 

high court  matter  i f  they reinstated – i f  they offered you 



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 186 of 242 
 

re instatement you would have come back?  You would not  

have said – because you… 

MR GAMA:   They offered me reinstatement in c i rcumstances 

where I  thought I  would get  much more compensat ion.   I  – I  

– i t  is me who asked for the … 

CHAIRPERSON:   The costs.  

MR GAMA:   The debt  to be met hal fway on the… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   I  was on a l imb I  was plant ing tomatoes and I  

was not  making enough money to pay my legal  costs f rom 10 

the tomatoes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   Ja.   Wel l  I  must  just  say to you 

something I  wanted to say ear l ier on.   You said that  you had 

demanded a very high amount of  compensat ion f rom them 

you did not  want  reinstatement i t  was Mr Mkwanazi  who 

made you change your mind and … 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Accept  that  maybe you should be 

re instated.   You did not  te l l  me how much you had demanded 

and you may not  need to ment ion i t  but  I  can tel l  you that  i t  20 

is general ly  accepted in these types of  disputes that  the 

Bargaining Counci l  would not  have had power in th is type of  

case to award you more than twelve months or compensat ion 

equal  to twelve months remunerat ion.   I f  you made a case of  

v ict imisat ion of  being dismissed because of  race and so on 
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the highest  i t  might  have done is to go to 24 max so I  am 

just  ment ioning that .  

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Because Mr Mkwanazi  i f  you demanded 

qui te a big amount he should have sought legal  advice and 

should have known that  at  the Bargaining Counci l  he could 

not  get  your i l l i c i t  number.  

MR GAMA:   Yes,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight .   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you.   Just  to add to what the 10 

Chairperson said about  costs I  just  want to point  out  as wel l  

that  a Bargaining Counci l  arbi t rator would never have been 

able to  award you your costs of  your discipl inary hearing.   

They have no such power.   So that  is why you got  a deal  i t  is  

so much bet ter than what the best  outcome would have been 

for  you at  the Bargaining Counci l .   You want to comment on 

that? 

MR GAMA:   Ja wel l  I  mean there was lots of  offers,  there 

was al l  k inds of  th ings.   I  am – I  am wel l  aware of  some of  

those things probably now as Chairperson has indicated and 20 

as you indicate the twelve months,  24 months type of  – so – 

but  I  had asked for  certain amount  based on my youth and 

the number of  years ahead of  me and – and the manner and 

way in which i t  had been done.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Perhaps just  one last  po int  as wel l  is 
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that  in  a Bargaining Counci l  arbi t rat ion where an employee 

admits gui l t  and is  prepared to  accept  the f ina l  wri t ten 

warning or is given one very seldom would that  person be 

re instated wi thout  any loss of  benef i ts at  a l l .  

MR GAMA:   Wel l  I  am – we were not  of  the Bargaining 

Counci l  we had a si tuat ion as I  say to you I  – we negot iated 

and this  – th is document is  the resul t  of  that  negot ia t ion.   At  

the moment you are giving me a master class on – on labour 

issues that  I  have always rel ied on other people.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes I  suppose in a way now you – you 10 

understand that  these were probably quest ions that  might  

have been harder  for  Mr Mkwanazi  to ask – answer than for  

you because you say you were on the other side of  the table.   

But  you understand how they require an interrogat ion 

certainly f rom Transnet ’s perspect ive.   I  am going to – I  am 

going to turn to a di fferent  topic and I  just  want to out l ine for  

you seven concessions that  Mr Mkwanazi  made in relat ion to 

the decision to reinstate you.  

 The f i rst  one was that  he accepted Mr Gama you 

might  have seen this that  fundamental ly what led the board 20 

to reinstate you was that  Mr Mkwanazi  to ld them that  he had 

a l ist  of  cont ravent ions comparable to your case that  were 

condoned.  You accepted that  that  is – was fundamental ly 

the cause of  the decision to reinstate you.  

 And the concession that  he made is he accepted that 
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that  was wrong.   He accepted that  your case were actual ly 

not  comparable to those on the l ist .   Want  to  comment on 

that? 

MR GAMA:   Yes he should not  have conceded to that 

because i t  was comparable.   I  do not  th ink he should have 

conceded to that  but  maybe i t  was late in the af ternoon and 

he was t i red. .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The second concession that  he made 

is that  the board could not  have come to your assistance on 

the grounds of  condonat ion because you never appl ied for i t .  10 

MR GAMA:   Yes I  could not  apply for condonat ion in 

ci rcumstances where the informat ion was not  be ing given to  

me.  I  th ink I  have indicated that  Chairperson ear l ier  today 

that  th is one was l ike going to war and you just  have a kni fe 

and your other hand is t ied at  the back and you know that  

you have to f ight  but  you – you not  sure what i t  is that  you 

are f ight ing wi th i t  was a bi t  fuzzy.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thi rdly… 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  – I  am sorry.   At  a certain  stage 

whether before the discipl inary hearing started or dur ing the 20 

discipl inary hearing you – you became aware that  you were 

charged with something that  could be taken care of  i f  you 

were – i f  you in i t iated or requested or appl ied for 

condonat ion is i t  not?  That  is correct .  

MR GAMA:  Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Is i t  not  t rue that  you did not  in i t iate that  

even i f  you got  to know i t  late because as long as you had 

not  been dismissed you remained an employee of  the 

company and therefore you should have been able to say 

wel l  now that  I  know that  th is is  something that  can be 

condoned I  am ini t iat ing the condonat ion process and let  

them refuse i t  i f  they refuse i t .  

MR GAMA:   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  in i t iate.  

MR GAMA:   No,  no the – Chair  that  could have been done 10 

except  that  when we are so standard Chai r  you do not  come 

to work.   You go to your 00:24:19 and that  is al l  you do.   So 

i t  was dur ing my suspension that  I  was now given the 

informat ion and I  was being given the bundles l ike this to  

say here is the informat ion and that  is when you can then 

say okay now I  have the informat ion now I  know what I  

should have done.  But  why did you not  g ive me the 

informat ion?  So – but  at  that  t ime there is nothing that  you 

could do.   By the t ime I  came back to the company the 

contract  i tsel f  had long expired or  been cancel led so i t  was 20 

not  – i t  was no longer – so there is  not  the condonat ion that  

you go and ask for because i t  was no longer in place that  

contract  has been cancel led or i t  had expi red.   I  th ink i t  was 

cancel led in January of  2010 I  on ly came back in February of  

2011 so i t  is th i r teen months later.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no I  th ink – I  th ink af ter you had been 

dismissed I  do not  th ink i t  would have appl ied.  

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The issue of  condonat ion.  

MR GAMA:   Yes,  ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You know.   

MR GAMA:   So i f  – i f  before I  have been charged that  is why 

I  was saying I  would not  have been charged i f  I  had been 

told what was going on wi th th is.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.   But  you accept  the point  do you 10 

not  that  even i f  you got  to know this whi le the disc ipl inary 

process was on you had the opportuni ty nobody could 

prevent  you you were st i l l  an employee of  the company to 

say now that  I  know that  you are charging me with something 

that  could be condoned and the pol ic ies of  the company 

al low me to apply for condonat ion I  am now applying – let  us 

postpone this discipl inary hearing pending the outcome of  

my condonat ion appl icat ion.   And then you put  al l  the 

mot ivat ion you – you could put  to them and see how they 

could dismiss i t  in the l ight  of  the evidence that  you – you 20 

say there was.  

MR GAMA:   I f  one could remedy the s i tuat ion l ike that  one 

could have done that  but  th is is a si tuat ion now people say 

no,  no you have now been charged you must  just  deal  wi th  

th is but  – al l  you can raise is that  no but  you are being 
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inconsistent  in  the manner and way in  which you do things 

because i f  you had told me because l ike I  said to you Chair  

before these types of  th ings that  –  we have got  a system of  

internal  controls in the company.   The part  of  the system of  

internal  cont rols is that  the internal  audi t  i f  there is  such a 

thing they wi l l  p ick i t  up and then they wi l l  a lert  you and then 

they are able to  deal  wi th i t .   With this one the internal  

audi tors we used as forensic audi tors to invest igate a case 

where I  had to  be charged.   I t  was not  a matter – i t  was not  

the normal manager ial  management  th ing and – so they were 10 

not  shar ing wi th  me because they were deal ing wi th th is  

th ing in a part icular way.   Because as I  say my charges were 

in the ser ious ci rcumstances.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you and the thi rd concession 

made by Mr Mkwanazi  that  seems to me maybe of  some 

importance is that  the board had fai led to consider the fourth 

charge which was deserving of  dismissal  in i tse l f .   I  th ink we 

have al ready deal t  wi th that .   

MR GAMA:   Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The fourth concession is he said that  

condonat ion could never  be granted – never have been 

granted in relat ion to the 50 l ike locomot ive charge.   So i t  

was not  something that  could be condoned.   

MR GAMA:   No i t  could be condoned.  Condonat ions apply in  
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four di fferent  c i rcumstances.   You ask for a condonat ion 

where you have paid some monies wi thout  a contract  being 

in p lace.   You ask for a condonat ion where you went into a 

conf inement when you should not  have.   You apply for a 

condonat ion where you enter into a cont ract  for a  longer 

per iod than i t  should be and you apply for a condonat ion 

where i t  – I  th ink i t  is cal led management oversight  where 

there has been management oversight  of  course you could 

apply for a condonat ion.   And i t  was an overs ight  matter and 

as soon as i t  gets picked up – the most  important  th ing is 10 

that  in management i t  is the dynamic si tuat ions that  th ings 

happen.  I t  is what you do as soon as you know what is 

happening that  is  important .   But  you cannot do anything i f  

you do not  know.  And this one as I  said i t  had been cured in  

2008 by August  2008 we had cured this and now you wi l l  

even see when they were present ing the ev idence,  they were 

saying no we know that  th is th ing has been cured but  we 

now went  ou t  o f  our  way to  f ind  ou t  how i t  cou ld  have  

happened.   Who  shou ld  we ho ld  respons ib le  fo r  i t .   And 

tha t  i s  what  happened on the . . .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And he a lso  conceded tha t  the  f i rs t  

charge. . .   Oh,  sor ry.   That  i t  wou ld  have been inappropr ia te  

to  g rant  condona t ion  in  respect  o f  the  GNS charge .   Your  

case was tha t  there  was a  f raud tha t  was commi t ted  and 

you were  found to  have ac ted  neg l igent ly  by,  i t  seems,  
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hav ing  s igned,  e f fec t i ve ly,  b l ind  document .    

MR GAMA :    There  was a  m isrep resenta t ion  tha t  was made 

to  me and I  s igned the  document  in  c i rcumstances where  I  

was not  aware  tha t  they had abandoned the  ac tua l  tender  

p rocess tha t  we had asked them to  fo l low and they  moved  

i t  in to  a  conf inement .    

 I  then sa id ,  when I  found out  what  the  issues 

were ,  tha t  indeed i t  was some k ind  o f  scam tha t  the 

employees and the  GNS peop le  had done and tha t  i t  shou ld  

have been dea l t  w i th  much,  much d i f fe ren t ly.  10 

 But  i t  was not  a  f raud tha t  was perpet ra ted  by  

me.   I t  was a  f raud tha t  I  wanted to  pursue tha t  was  

perpet ra ted  by  about  s ix  o r  seven  employees,  in  fac t .   And 

I  know tha t  eventua l l y  they –  they had d isc ip l ined on ly  two 

employees but  there  were  many peop le  in  tha t  cha in .  

 In  te rms o f  our  in te rna l  cont ro l s ,  aga in ,  who 

shou ld  have p i cked th is  up  to  say :   No,  we were  asked to  

go  ou t  on  tender.   Now they say,  no ,  somebody  a t  the  

group leve l  s topped the  tender  p rocess bu t  they never  

came back to  us  a t  the  d iv is ion  to  say the  g roup has 20 

s topped the  tender  p rocess.   What  do  we do? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  o f  course  you accept ,  do  you not ,  

c r i t i c i sm tha t  you were  wrong to  s ign  such an impor tan t  

document  w i thout  read ing  i t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 195 of 242 
 

CHAIRPERSON :    You accept  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then the  s ix th  concess ion  was 

tha t ,  and I  th ink  we accept  th is  be tween us ,  tha t  the  th i rd  

charge,  o f  course ,  had noth ing  to  do  w i th  p rocu rement  a t  

a l l .  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  th ink  i t  i s  ac tua l l y  the  four th  charge  

but  you know which  one you a re  speak ing  about .  10 

MR GAMA :    I t  used to  be  the  four th  charge but  the  th i rd  

charge had fa l len  away as  i t  became the  th i rd  charge.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then u l t imate ly  what  

Mr  Mkwanaz i  conceded is  tha t  the  board ’s  dec i s ion  to  

re ins ta te  you was indec is ive  and tha t  in  h inds igh t  you  

ought  no t  to  have  been.    

MR GAMA :    H ’m.   I  do  no t  know what  o ther  board  

members  w i l l  say  because they had app l ied  the i r  m ind.   So 

I  do  no t  know i f  o ther  board  members  wou ld  agree  to  h is  

concess ion .   I  do  no t  know i f  you have canvassed the  20 

v iews o f  o ther  board  members  because he d id  no t  make the  

dec is ion  on  h i s  own.    

 And I  th ink  when you have go t  more  m inds  

dea l ing  w i th  the  mat te r,  i t  ass is t s  you in  te rms o f  ge t t ing 

tha t  input .   So I  do  no t  know i f  o ther  board  members  o f  
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Transnet  wou ld  agree w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i .    

 Bu t  I  th ink  i t  i s  ne i ther  he re  nor  there .   I t  i s  what  

he  says.   I  cannot  d isag ree w i th  tha t  he  says.   I  do  no t  

know the  contex t  and the  c i r cumstances under  wh ich  he  

says tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The impor tan t  th ing ,  I  th ink ,  i s  tha t  

he  accepts ,  Mr  Gama,  tha t  fundamenta l l y  what  led  the  

board  to  re ins ta te  you is  tha t  he  to ld  the  board  tha t  he  has 

go t  a  l i s t  o f  s im i la r  cont ravent ions  wh ich  he  accepted was  

wrong.    10 

 I  th ink  –  we see –  we know as a  mat te r  o f  fac t ,  i f  

you  go to  the  m inute ,  we know who – I  th ink  –  perhaps you  

remember  –  was  i t  a  unan imous dec is ion  o f  the  board  to  

re ins ta te  you?  You can have a  look a t  the  m inutes .    

 So when we accept  tha t  there  was  tha t  dec is ion .   

Of  cou rse ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  was he re  and he gave ev idence 

and we dea l t  on l y  w i th  h im but  I  am qu i te  sure  tha t  we  

know the  o ther  board  members  suppor ted  th i s  dec i s ion  bu t  

on ly  he  has . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Maybe what  we can te l l  Mr  Gama as  20 

we l l ,  Mr  Myburgh ,  i s  tha t  be fore  Mr  Mkwanaz i  came to g ive  

ev idence in  the  Commiss ion  about  th is  mat te r,  he  was sent  

cor respondence  f rom the  Commiss ion  and the  same 

cor respondence was sent  to  many  o ther  board  members  o f  

tha t  t ime,  maybe  a l l  bu t  i t  m igh t  no t  be  a l l  bu t  qu i te  a  
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number.    

 And one o f  the  th ings tha t  he  was asked to  do  

and the  o ther  members  o f  the  board  were  asked to  do  is  to  

depose to  an  a f f idav i t  and dea l  w i th  your  re ins ta tement  o r  

the i r  dec is ion  to  re ins ta te  you and  jus t i f y  i t  and jus t i f y  the  

te rms o f  the  se t t lement  agreement .    

 There  a re  some a f f idav i t s  tha t  the  Commiss ion  

rece ived f rom some members  who  –  I  th ink  there  may have 

been two members  o f  the  board  who were  aga ins t  the  

se t t lement  o r  the  re ins ta tement .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja ,  tha t  i s  r igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  cannot  remember,  there  were  two but  

the  o thers  were  in  favour.   There  are  members  o f  the  

board ,  who in  the i r  a f f idav i t s  say,  they th ink  the i r  dec is ion  

was jus t i f ied  bu t  I  do  no t  know whethe r  a f te r  they wou ld  

have l i s tened to  what  Mr  Mkwanaz i  be ing  quest ioned on  

these mat te rs  and hear ing  h is  answers ,  I  do  no t  know how 

many o f  them might  say :   Look,  in  the  l igh t  o f  th is  

par t i cu la r. . .   Because he was the  one who was negot ia t ing  

w i th  you,  maybe they m ight  change the i r  m inds bu t  there  20 

may be some who  w i l l  no t  change the i r  m inds.    

 But  I  jus t  want  to  say,  we do have  a f f idav i t s  and 

i f  they  have never  been sent  to  you,  i f  you  wou ld  l ike  to  

see a f f idav i t s  f rom them,  tha t  can be ar ranged and you can  

get  them where  they seek to  ind ica te  the i r  reasons .   But  I  
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th ink  luck i l y  the  reasons seem to  be  the  same.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    The i r  reasons.   So,  bu t  no  o ther  board  

member  has come to  tes t i f y  o ther  than Mr Mkwanaz i  and 

we do not  know what  they –  how they wou ld  dea l  w i th  the  

quest ions tha t  were  pu t  to  Mr  Mkwanaz i .   Ja .  

MR GAMA :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay Mr  Myburgh.  

MR GAMA :    Noted.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja .   I  th ink  tha t  was the  las t  10 

concess ion  tha t  I  wanted to  pu t  to  you in  re la t ion  to  the 

dec is ion  to  re ins ta te .   Then in  re la t ion  to  the  te rms o f  the  

se t t lement  ag reement .   These are  the  concess ions tha t  

Mr  Mkwanaz i  made.    

 He sa id  tha t  you shou ld  no t  have got  –  and th is  

i s  on  the  assumpt ion  tha t  you were  then to  be  re ins ta ted  –  

he  sa id  you shou ld  no t  have got ten  fu l l  back pay as  i f  you  

were  innocent  o f  every th ing .   You want  to  comment  on  

tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Wel l ,  I  do  no t  know.   I  mean,  i f  he  says I  20 

shou ld  no t  have got ten  fu l l  back pay,  tha t  i s  what  

re ins ta tement  i s  about .   But  i f  maybe he wanted to  

pena l ise  me somehow,  he  shou ld  have done so  a t  the  

negot ia t ion .   I  do  no t  th ink  –  maybe he t r ied  tha t  o r  no t .   I  

cannot  remember  the  aspects  o f  the  . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  he  was quest ioned w i th  regard  to  

th is  i ssue w i th in  th is  contex t ,  namely,  tha t  the  Barga in ing  

Counc i l ,  i f  the  un fa i r  d i smissa l  had not  been se t t led  and 

had proceeded to  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l ,  the  Barga in ing  

Counc i l  a rb i t ra to r  who wou ld  have  arb i t ra ted  the  d ispute ,  

wou ld  no t  have been bound to  g i ve  you fu l l  back pay even  

i f  he  re ins ta ted  you.    

 He wou ld  have had –  he  or  she wou ld  have had  

power  to  re ins ta te  you,  g ive  you fu l l  back pay i f  he  or  she  

thought  tha t  the  case –  tha t  you deserved tha t  in  the  l igh t  10 

o f  a l l  the  c i rcumstances.    

 But  he  cou ld  a lso  have dec ided  to  make the  

re ins ta tement  no t  to  be  fu l l y  re t rospect ive  and he cou ld  

a lso  have sa id :   Wel l ,  in  the  l igh t  o f  the  fac t  tha t  the  

app l i cant  accepts  tha t  he  was proper ly  found gu i l t y  o f  th ree  

charges,  ser ious charges,  I  am no t  go ing  to  re ins ta te  h im 

wi th  any back pay.   I  w i l l  re ins ta te  h im on ly  w i th  – 

prospect ive l y  wh ich  means you w i l l  ge t  no  back pay  and so  

on .    

 O f  course ,  i t  wou ld  have –  o ther  op t ions m ight  20 

have been there .   So tha t  -  Mr  Mkwanaz i  was be ing  asked 

quest ions around  th is  i ssue in  the  l igh t  o f  tha t ,  tha t  o f  –  

jus t  because you  may have deserved to  be  re ins ta ted ,  the 

lega l  reg ime not  wou ld  no t  have  fo rced the  arb i t ra to r  to  

g ive  you fu l l  back  pay.   He or  she wou ld  have had the  w ide  
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d iscre t ion  and he  wou ld  have had to  take  in to  account  tha t  

you were  no t  innocent .    

 You yourse l f  admi t ted  gu i l t  in  regard  to  ser ious 

charges.   There fo re ,  hav ing  regard  to  the  need to  be  fa i r  to  

the  employer  and the  employee,  the  arb i t ra to r  may have  

awarded re ins ta tement ,  maybe w i thout  the  –  i f  he  went  the  

rou te  o f  re ins ta tement .   That  was the  contex t .  

MR GAMA :    Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GAMA :    No,  in  fac t ,  a  good po in t . . .   [ laughs]    10 

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   Mr  Gama,  then he a lso  

conceded tha t  you shou ld  –  Transnet  shou ld  no t  have  

under taken to  pay your  IP (?)  cos ts .   I  th ink  we have 

a l ready addressed tha t .   And tha t  you shou ld ,  s im i l a r ly,  no t  

have been pa id  your  cost  in  the  labour  mat te r.   Th is ,  in  

c i rcumstances,  where  you had admi t ted  gu i l t  on  three  ac ts  

o f  m isconduct .  

MR GAMA :    Ja ,  i t  was the  ou tcome o f  the  negot ia t ions .   I  

mean,  we cons idered a  lo t  bu t  we  negot ia ted  th i s .   So I  am 20 

not  su re  where  we are  –  where  tha t  pu ts  us  bu t . . .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  he  may have cons idered a  lo t  in  

the  negot ia t ions  too .   [ laughs]    

MR GAMA :    [ laughs]   I  mean,  we s tar ted  a  new negot ia t ion  

w i th  the  Commiss ion .   [ laughs]    
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CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]   Yes?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  Gama,  in  fac t ,  i f  my read ing  o f  

the  t ranscr ip t  i s  cor rec t .   Mr  Mkwanaz i  went  so  fa r  as  to  

s ta te  tha t  he  wou ld  no t  be  opposed to  cha i rman 

recommending to  the  Pres ident  in  h is  repor t  tha t  s teps 

shou ld  be  taken  to  recover  the  costs  o f  se t t lement  f rom 

members  o f  the  board .   I  mean,  tha t  I  show. . .  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  i s  how he . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .ex tens i ve  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .h is  concess ion  were ,  u l t imate ly.  

MR GAMA :    Yes,  yes .   Which  is  why I  th ink  i t  i s  impor tan t  

to  canvass the  v iews o f  the  board  because I  do  no t  have 

contex t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    . . . to  a l l  o f  the  concess ions.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Then,  and I  th ink  th is  h igh l igh ts ,  tha t  

you are  no t  the  imp l ica ted  par ty  here .  

MR GAMA :    Okay?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  was in  l i gh t  o f  these concess ions,  20 

concess ion  in  re la t ion  to  re ins ta tement ,  concess ions i n  

re la t ion  to  se t t lement  agreement .   E f fec t i ve ly,  he  concedes 

the  dec is ion  to  re ins ta te  was indefens ib le .   He,  e f fec t i ve ly,  

concedes tha t  the  dec i s ion  to  g rant  you a l l  those benef i t s  

under  the  se t t lement  agreement  was indefens ib le .    
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 The quest ion  tha t  was then canvassed w i th  h im,  

i s  we l l ,  you  know,  what  made you do th is .   And he was  

asked by  the  Cha i rperson:   In  the  l igh t  o f  the  concess ions 

tha t  you made,  how do you se t t le?   How do you re ins ta te  

h im?  How do you  g ive  h im back pay?  

 Of  course  –  and I  read f rom page 242 o f  

Day 285:  

“Of  course ,  how do you even under take to  pay 

h is  lega l  fees?  I t  i s  someth ing  tha t  i s  so 

d i f f i cu l t  to  unders tand.   Except  i f  one says tha t  10 

there  was some o ther  agenda.   That  the  board  

was pu rsu ing  in  want ing  to  ge t  Mr  Gama back.   

I t  was not  a  quest ion  o f  the re  is  some 

unfa i rness in  the  d ismissa l .   I t  was not  jus t  a  

quest ion  o f :   A re  we l i ke ly  to  l ose  th is  case o f  

a rb i t ra t ion .   I t  was o the r  cons idera t ions.   Can  

you unders tand why I  am say ing  tha t? . . . ”  

 And Mr  Mkwanaz i  sa id :  

“ I  unders tand  what  you  are  say ing  

Cha i rperson. ”  20 

 The Cha i rpe rson says:  

“Can you fau l t  i t? ”  

 He says:  

“ I  cannot  fau l t  i t  Cha i rperson. ”  

 So jus t  to  make the  po in t  tha t  he  sa id  tha t  in  the  
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l i gh t  o f  the  concess ions tha t  he  made.   I  unders tand  

ent i re l y  tha t  you  do not  agree w i th  them but  he  h imse l f  

accepted i n  th is  hear ing  tha t  when you look a t  th is  and i t  i s  

p laced under  the  m icroscope f rom h is  pe rspect ive  as  the  

cha i rperson o f  the  board  and  a lso  the  pe rson who  

negot ia ted  w i th  you,  i t  was  cons idera t ion ,  care fu l  

cons idera t ion  as  to  whether  there  was not  perhaps  

someth ing  e lse  a t  p lay.  

MR GAMA :    H ’m.   Wel l ,  I  do  no t  know.   I  mean ,  he  was 

negot ia t ing .   So.   D id  he  say there  was someth ing  e lse  a t  10 

p lay?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    No,  I  pu t  a  p ropos i t ion  to  you.   He 

says –  the  Cha i rperson asked h im can you fau l t  i t  and he  

says:   I  cannot  fau l t  i t .   And fundamenta l l y,  what  was put  to  

h im is :   Except  i f  one says the re  i s  some o ther  agenda tha t  

the  board  was  pursu ing  in  want ing  to  re ins ta tement  

Mr  Gama.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  in  o ther  words,  what  I  was put t ing  to  

h im is .   One hoped tha t  as  the  cha i rperson o f  the  board  a t  

the  t ime and hav ing  be ing  i nvo lved in  the  negot ia t ions ,  he  20 

wou ld  be  ab le  to  exp la in  these th ings and make us  

unders tand tha t  there  was noth ing  wrong w i th  the  

se t t lement  agreement .   That  the  te rms tha t  appeared very  

s t range,  the re  was good jus t i f i ca t ion  fo r  them to  be 

inc luded in  the  se t t lement  agreement .  
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 Bu t  a f te r  he  g i ven ev idence and made a l l  these 

concess ions,  cer ta in ly  I  was s t i l l  l e f t  w i th  the  quest ion :   

Why d id  you  agree to  se t t le  the  mat te r  on  these  te rms?  

Because he was not  ab le  to  exp la in  them proper ly.    

 And then I  was say ing :   Wel l ,  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  

we seek to  es tab l i sh  why i t  i s  tha t  Mr  Gama tha t  was  

re ins ta tement  in  the  f i rs t  p lace  and re ins ta ted  on these  

te rms.   The ques t ion  s t i l l  remains .   Was i t  because  o f  the  

mer i t s  o f  h i s  case or  was i t  because o f  someth ing  e lse  tha t  

maybe we have not  been to ld .    10 

 That  bas i ca l l y  was the  contex t  o f  the  quest ion .   

And you might  no t  be  ab le  to  say much about  tha t .   

MR GAMA :    Yes,  Cha i r  thank you  very  much.   I  m igh t  no t  

be  ab le  to  say much about  i t  except  tha t  I  th ink  I  have sa id  

much and enough  in  te rms o f  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    The negot ia t ions .  

MR GAMA :    . . . the  fac t  tha t  even the  charg ing  I  have  

ta lked to ,  Cha i r,  about  the  contex t .   I  th ink  he  might  no t  

remember  now because i t  i s  a  b i t  some t ime ago when we 

were  negot ia t ing .   I t  i s  more  than ten  years  ago.   He might  20 

no t  remember  the  contex t .  

 But  I  a lso  th ink  tha t  the  fac t  tha t  you have more  

than one board  member,  i t  i s  to  g ive  checks and ba lances  

in  te rms o f  the  dec i s ion  you a re  mak ing .   And they cou ld  

no t  be  –  or  i f  the re  were  15  board  members ,  you cou ld  no t  
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have had 13 o f  them agree ing  and two d isagree ing ,  you  

know.  

 I  know you a lways have somebody  d issent ing  bu t  

i f  the  13  o f  them had agreed,  I  th ink  i t  i s  in  the  contex t  o f  

what  was happen ing .   As  I  sa id  to  you.   No one,  no  Ch ie f  

Execut ive  a t  Transnet  has eve r  been charged fo r  the  th ings  

tha t  I  had been charged fo r.   No one.   And i t  w i l l  remain  

l i ke  tha t .    

 And then one day  I  w i l l  wr i te  a  book and I  w i l l  be  

c lea rer  in  tha t  book in  te rms o f  what  was a t  p lay.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  Gama,  jus t  when you wr i te  your  

book,  do  no t  fo rge t  about  the  fou r th  charge because aga in  

you have missed i t  ou t .    

MR GAMA :    Uhm . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  Mkwanaz i  conceded tha t  he  and 

a l l  the  board  members ,  they d id  no t  –  and you see tha t  

f rom the  minute  –  they re ins ta ted  because o f  the  

condonat ion  issue.   There  is  no  cons ide ra t ion  o f  the  four th  

charge.    

MR GAMA :    Ja ,  I  w i l l  wr i te  tha t  down too .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .  

MR GAMA :    Maybe I  was lucky.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Can I  then tu rn  to  the  issue o f  cos ts  

and I  do  no t  wan t  to  de ta in  you long in  re la t ion  to  th ings  

where  we know some o f  the  fac ts .   You may be ab le  to  he lp  
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us  w i th  a  few o thers .   Cou ld  I  ask  you to  tu rn  to  

Mr  Mapoma’s  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay before  you got  there  Mr Myburgh.   

Mr  Gama,  I  see tha t  in  C lause 4  o f  the  se t t lement  

agreement ,  you and Transnet  agreed to  tha t ,  tha t  the  te rms 

o f  th is  ag reement  w i l l  be  kept  conf ident ia l  and wou ld  no t  

be  d i sc losed to  any th i rd  pa r ty  un less  tha t  was requ i red  by  

law or  by  an  orde r  o r  in  o rder  to  en force  the  cond i t ions .    

 Why d id  you th ink  these te rms o f  the  se t t lement  

agreement  shou ld  be  conf ident ia l  and not  be  known by 10 

th i rd  par t ies?   Th is  Transnet  i s  a  government  en t i t y.   I t  i s  

taxpayers ’ money  tha t  was invo lved in  se t t l ing  the  mat te r.   

Why shou ld  tha t  remain  conf ident ia l  be tween the  par t ies?  

MR GAMA :    I t  i s  a  s tandard  c lause  tha t  we have.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  h ’m.   There  was no pa r t i cu la r  

d iscuss ion  on  i t?  

MR GAMA :    No .   I t  i s  jus t ,  you  do not  want  anyone to  

wake up and g i ve  th is  the  pub l i c  and say th is  i s  –  i t  i s  jus t  

a  s tandard  c lause where  we have i t  in  a l l  se t t lement  

agreements  a t  Transnet  to  say you keep i t  conf ident ia l .   I t  20 

is  an  employer /employee re la t ionsh ip .    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MR GAMA :    That . . .   i f  a  cour t  o f  law wanted to  have a  

copy o f  i t ,  we w i l l  g ive  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   No,  no .   I  th ink  the  . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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MR GAMA :    So  I  th ink  s im i la r l y  the  Commiss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   I t  i s  fa i r  to  say tha t  the  c lause d id  

have someth ing  to  a l low fo r  tha t  to  say. . .   But  even i f  i t  

was not  there ,  when there  is  an  o rde r  o f  cou r t ,  then there  

is  an  orde r  o f  cou r t .  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  i s  jus t  tha t ,  par t i cu la r ly,  when the  

se t t lement  agreement  has some o f  the  te rms and 

cond i t ions  tha t  we are  ta lk ing  about  wh ich  appears  

unusua l .   When you see th i s  c lause,  i t  i s  l i ke  the  pa r t ies  10 

d id  no t  want  anybody e lse  to  know tha t  your  re ins ta tement  

was on these te rms because they are  unusua l .  

MR GAMA :    H ’m.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  okay a l r i gh t .  

MR GAMA :    No a l l  o f  them are  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you  DCJ.   Cou ld  I  ask  you,  

p lease,  to  go  to  Mr  Mapoma’s  a f f idav i t  where  he  

summar ises . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    A t  wh ich  page are  we? 20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The f i r s t  two cross-payments  a t  

Bund le  13 ,  Exh ib i t  BB-16,  page 29.   Sor ry,  page 31.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  I  have found i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Do you have i t  Mr  Gama? 

MR GAMA :    Page 31,  yes .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sor ry,  can I  jus t  say,  i f  i t  any  t ime 

you fee l  you want  to  re fe r  to  your  a f f idav i t  tha t  you put  up ,  

you are  more  than we lcome to  ask  me and I  w i l l  d i rec t  you 

i t .   A l r igh t?  

MR GAMA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  what  Mr  Mapoma says a t  

parag raph 12 is  tha t :  

“Two payments  were  made to  Langa A t to rneys 

when I  was a t  Transnet .   F i rs t l y,  they  were  

pa id  R 1  016 000,00.    10 

On 28 March 2011 be ing  75% of  the  tax  costs  

incu r red  by  Transnet  w i th  bone f ide . . .  in  the 

h igh  cour t  l i t i ga t ion .    

Second ly,  they were  pa id  R 1  720 000,00 on 

9  June be ing  75% of  the  tax  costs  by  a  pr i va te  

tax  consu l tan t  incur red  by  Mr  Gama in  the  h igh  

cour t  l i t i ga t ion ,  h is  d isc ip l inary  inqu i ry  and h i s  

re fe r ra l  to  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l . . . ”  

 Now can we jus t  dea l  w i th  the  f i rs t  and can you –  

do  you know anyth ing  about  th is ,  how you came to  be  pa id  20 

75%,  no t  o f  your  costs  in  the  h igh  cour t ,  bu t  75% of  the  

costs  incur red  by  Transnet  w i t h  two d i f fe ren t  se ts  o f  

a t to rneys in  the  h igh  cour t?  

MR GAMA :    I  am not  sure  I  fo l low the  quest ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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MR GAMA :    I f  you  say i t  was pa id  –  incu r red  by  Transnet .   

I f  you  are  ta lk ing  about  the  cost  o rde r.   There  is  a  cost  

o rder  aga ins t  me and I  pa id  to  Transnet  an  amount .   I  th ink 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink  Mr  Myburgh . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    . . .and I  th ink  th is  i s  75% of  tha t  amoun t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   I  th ink  jus t  a l low Mr  Myburgh to  

exp la in  h i s  quest i on  to  you.  

MR GAMA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You know,  I  th ink  be fore  I  do  tha t  10 

Cha i rman,  i f  you  do not  m ind?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You sa id  someth ing  wh ich  we have  

not  heard  be fore .   I  am not  suggest ing  you are  ac t ing  

improper ly  in  any  way.   I t  i s  jus t  in  our  i nvest iga t ion ,  i t  has  

no t  come out  tha t  you ever  pa id  someth ing  and tha t  i s  why  

th is  i s  such a  rad ica l  p rocess.   A re  you say ing  tha t  you had  

ac tua l l y  met  the  cost  o rder  in  the  h igh  cour t  judgment  and 

tha t  you were  now be ing  re imbursed fo r  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   And then . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  he  a lso  ment ioned tha t  a  l i t t le  ear l ie r  

th is  a f te rnoon.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  made a  no te  in  want ing  to  come 

back to  tha t .    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  h ’m.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Cou ld  you jus t  exp la in  tha t  to  us?  I  

mean,  do  you have records and  the  l i kes?  Because,  

Mr  Gama,  i t  i s  someth ing ,  obv ious ly,  i f  we can ge t  to  the 

bo t tom o f  tha t ,  then our  invest iga t ion  has come to  an  end.   

I s  tha t  what  happened he re?  

MR GAMA :    Ja ,  tha t  i s  what  happened.   In  fac t ,  I  t r ied  to  

go  to  the  bank so  tha t  I  cou ld  ge t  th is  bu t  the  bank says  10 

they on ly  keep th is  in fo rmat ion  up  to  ten  years .   So when I  

asked fo r  th is  in fo rmat ion ,  I  th ink  i t  was in  November  2020 

and so  they say they cou ld  on l y  g ive  me up to  –  my bank 

s ta tement ,  up  to  November  2010.    

 These h igh  cour t  cos t s  were  incur red  between  

September  2009  and befo re  I  was d ismissed,  p robab ly  

a round Apr i l .   And du r ing  tha t  t ime,  I  pa id  because 

Transnet  was send ing  me a  sher i f f .    

 So  I  pa id  th rough  the  bank but  un for tunate ly  I  do  

no t  have the  –  those records.   I  do  no t  know i f  – the  bank 20 

jus t  sa id  to  me:   Look,  we cannot  –  we can  on ly  back ten  

years .   They have shown up to  the  ten  years  bu t  th is  was 

more  than ten  years  ago.   I t  happened. . .  

 In  fac t ,  I  know tha t  the  payment  took p lace in  

December  o f  2009 when I  pa id  th is  to  Transnet .   They 
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ac tua l l y  d id  an  o rde r  in to  my bank and I  pa id  a t  tha t  t ime.   

So I  was look ing  fo r  those bank s ta tements  so  tha t  I  cou ld  

show tha t  I  pa id  tha t  c ross  orde r  there ,  the  Eversheds.   

The cost  o rder  p lus  some –  what  was i t  –  they had  a  sen ior  

counse l  and a l l  o f  tha t ,  tha t  was,  ja  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Eversheds  and Bowmans because  

they were  two separa te  f i rms.  

MR GAMA :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And do I  unders tand cor rec t l y  f rom 

what  you say . . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

MR GAMA :    No,  Bowmans was s t i l l  say ing  tha t  I  s t i l l  owed 

them some money a t  some po in t  in  2011,  I  th ink .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Oh,  I  see.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .  

MR GAMA :    But  the  o thers  . . . [ in tervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . you  had se t t led .  

MR GAMA :    No,  I  d id  then se t t led  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Do you remember  about  how much you  

had pa id  to  se t t le  Eversheds ’ cos ts  inc lud ing  

counse l . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

MR GAMA :    I t  was c lose  to  a  m i l l ion  rands Cha i r.   I  jus t  

cannot  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  you cannot  remember.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And had you pa id  Bowman Gi l f i l l an 

anyth ing  because  we know –  jus t  so  tha t  in  fa i rness to  you,  



11 MARCH 2021 – DAY 359 
 

Page 212 of 242 
 

le t  me jus t  te l l  you  the  chrono logy,  Mr  Todd ea r ly  on  says 

tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  had ins t ruc ted  h im to  ho ld  o f f  on  the  

execut ion  I  th ink  o f  the  cost  o rde r,  they were  on  the  po in t  

o f  do ing  tha t .   That  wou ld  have been in  ear l y  2011 .   I  can  

take  you to  the  a f f idav i t .   So d id  you …[ in tervenes]  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  I  have seen tha t ,  I  am aware  o f  tha t ,  I  

…[ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH:    D id  you ever  se t t le  the  Bowmans ’ b i l l?  

MR GAMA:    I  guess i t  wou ld  have  been se t t led  a t  the  t ime  

when I  was re funded.  10 

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes,  bu t  you d id  you ever  pay anyth ing?   

As you say,  you pa id  Eversheds,  d id  you eve r  pay anyth ing  

to  Bowman and G i l f i l l an?  

MR GAMA:    I  cannot  remember  how much they had been  

pa id .   My sense is  p robab ly  tha t  there  must  have been a  

shor t fa l l  and they were  now –  I  th ink  tha t  there  was 

R400 000 tha t  they were  pu rsu ing  a t  some po in t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I s  tha t  Bowmans  …[ in tervenes]  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  a t  the  t ime when we were  do ing  the  

se t t lement ,  yes .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes bu t  say  as  fa r  as  Bowmans were  

concerned you do not  remember  hav ing  made any  payment  

to  them.  

MR GAMA:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Or  you say –  ja ,  i t  i s  Eversheds tha t  you 
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remember  tha t  you made payment .  

MR GAMA:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH:    So  noth ing  to  Bowmans?  

MR GAMA:    I  do  no t  know,  I  do  no t  remember  –  they 

cannot  g ive  me –  and i t  was a lways good those  t imes,  

there  were  s t i l l  cheques,  you cou ld  see the  cheque  on your  

s ta tement .  

ADV MYBURGH:    So ,  Mr  Gama,  jus t  so  tha t  we can  

perhaps fo l l ow th i s  up  fu r ther.   The  R1-odd mi l l ion  payment  

tha t  you made,  d id  you make tha t  phys i ca l l y  to  Eversheds 10 

A t to rneys,  you d id  no t  make i t  to  Transnet?  

MR GAMA:    I t  went  to  Transnet  and then Transnet  pa id  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Because tha t  i s  someth ing  tha t  I  have 

asked Transnet  to  look  a t  and they have hunted h igh  and 

low and they cannot  f ind .  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  they must  look f rom the  1  December  2009  

to  the  31  December  2009,  they w i l l  f ind  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH:    And i t  wou ld  come f rom you,  no t  f rom 

Langa A t to rneys?  

MR GAMA:    No,  they go t  i t  f rom my account .  20 

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t ,  we w i l l  have a  look a t  tha t .   And 

then you a re  aware  o f  the  th i rd  [ ind is t inc t  –  d ropp ing  vo i ce ]  

MR GAMA:    Sor ry?  

ADV MYBURGH:    That  you see  a t  BB17,  i t  i s  the  next  

d iv ider.   Cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  tu rn  to  page 842 s t i l l  i n  
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bund le  3 ,  the  same one you have there ,  tu rn  to  842,  i t  

shou ld  be  r igh t  a t  the  back.    

 Now th is  i s  the  a ff idav i t  o f  Mr  Todd  a t  842,  you w i l l  

see  i t  dea ls  w i th  the  f i rs t  payment  a t  paragraph –  sor ry,  I  

w i l l  l e t  you get  there .   I  dea ls  a t  842,  pa ragraph 6(a)  dea ls  

w i th  the  f i rs t  payment  tha t  we have dea l t  w i th .    (b )  dea ls  

w i th  the  second  payment  and then pe rhaps jus t  to  fas t -

fo rward  th i s ,  i f  you  go to  page 844,  so  those were  –  those 

f i rs t  two payments  were  made in  2011.   Then he dea ls  w i th  

the  fac t  tha t  in   -  a t  844,  paragraph 7 ,  four  years  la te r,  in  10 

Apr i l  o f  2015,  Transnet  then made a  fu r ther  payment  to  

Langa A t to rneys,  fo r  an  add i t iona l  amount  you see o f  1 .399 

mi l l ion .   Do you know anyth ing  about  th is?  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  know tha t  there  have been some monies  

tha t  Langa had been compla in ing  very  b i t te r l y  tha t  cer ta in  

mon ies  remained  outs tand ing  fo r  a  long t ime and those he 

had sa id  re la ted  to  h is  own b i l l .   So  I  have seen th is ,  I  

never  rea l l y  en tang led  myse l f  w i th  these mat te rs .  

ADV MYBURGH:    D id  you ever  rece ive  th is  money? 

MR GAMA:    Sor ry?  20 

ADV MYBURGH:    D id  you rece ive  the  money o r  was i t  

pa id  to  Langa and d id  they keep i t?  

MR GAMA:    No,  th is  one was not  fo r  me.  

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t ,  so  your  exp lanat ion  is  tha t  i s  

rea l l y  someth ing  tha t  they need to  exp la in ,  no t  you,  as  I  
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unders tand.  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH:    The o the r  two payments  you accept  you  

rece ived.  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Can I  jus t  take  you,  wh i l s t  we are  there ,  

to  page 854 o f  bund le  3 ,  so  i t  i s  jus t  a  few pages on.   Th i s  

i s  a  le t te r  f rom Langa A t to rneys a t tached to  Mr  Todd ’s  

a f f idav i t .   I  jus t  want  to  d i rec t  your  a t ten t ion  to  paragraph  

2 .   I t  says  tha t :  10 

“We conf i rm. . . ”  

And th is  dea ls  w i th  the  issue o f  cos ts  in  th is  par t i cu la r,  the  

th i rd  payment :  

“We conf i rm tha t  when th is  mat te r  was se t t led  i t  

was ag reed in  wr i t ing  w i th  the  then Min i s te r  o f  

Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses  tha t  the  costs  incur red  by  Mr  

Gama,  ou r  c l ien t ,  wou ld  be  borne  by  Transnet .   I t  

was fu r ther  agreed tha t  Transnet  wou ld  cont r ibu te  

75% towards the  b i l l  i ncur red  by  Mr  Gama. ”  

I  jus t  want  to  ask  you about  the  s ta tement  tha t  i t  was agree  20 

w i th  the  Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses .  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  am not  aware  tha t  i t  was ag reed w i th  the  

m in is te r,  I  know tha t  i t  was agreed  w i th  Transnet .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Do you have any idea where  you  

a t to rney might  have got  th is  f rom? 
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MR GAMA:    No ,  you are  go ing  to  have to  ask h im.   He 

probab ly  meant  tha t  Transnet  i s  a  pub l i c  en terp r ise ,  I  am 

not  su re .   You are  go ing  to  have to  ask  h im.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  see  tha t  he  says i t  was ag reed in  

wr i t ing  w i th  the  Min is te r  o f  Pub l i c  Enterp r ises .   So there  

must  be  a  document  somewhere .  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ref lec t ing  tha t  agreement  invo lv ing  the  

Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses .  

ADV MYBURGH:    So ,  Mr  Gama,  what  then happens,  you 10 

were  re ins ta ted  in  February  o f  2011 and fou r  years  la te r  o r  

so  you become the  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive ,  co r rec t?  

MR GAMA:    Ac t i ng .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Ac t ing ,  a  year  a f te r  tha t .   Apr i l  to  Apr i l  

you  then became – you were  appo in ted  in to  tha t  pos i t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  has  been a  long day,  I  th ink  maybe  

everybody ’s  vo i ce  has gone down except  m ine,  so… 

ADV MYBURGH:    I  w i l l  speak up,  thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t .   Now I  want  to  tu rn  to  another  20 

top ic  p lease and tha t  i s  GNS and Aba loz i .  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Mr  Gama,  I  th ink  i t  i s  impor tan t  fo r  us  to  

look  a t  th is  th ing  qu i te  nar rowly  and pe rhaps a lso  jus t  to  

…[ in tervenes]  
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MR GAMA:    Sor ry,  we look a t  th is  th ing?  

ADV MYBURGH:    To  look a t  i t  nar rowly.  

MR GAMA:    Nar rowly.  

ADV MYBURGH:    And to  focus rea l l y  on  the  paragraphs  

where  i t  i s  s ta ted  in  the  3 .3  no t ice  where  i t  i s  a l leged tha t  

you are  imp l i ca ted  because a  lo t  o f  the  events  in  re la t ion  

to  GNS and Aba loz i  t raversed in  Mr  Todd ’s  a f f idav i t s  do  no t  

dea l  w i th  you a t  a l l .  

MR GAMA:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH:    So ,  fo r  example ,  what  we know is  –  and 10 

I  w i l l  j us t  ask  you  to  conf i rm th is  …[ in tervenes]  

MR GAMA:    Sor ry,  wh ich  bund le  a re  we a t  now.  

ADV MYBURGH:    We wi l l  come to  tha t  now.  

MR GAMA:    Okay.   Jus t  le t  me sketch  the  k ind  o f  genera l  

a rch i tec tu re  o f  GNS.   What  we know i s  tha t  l i t i ga t ion  was  

ins t i tu ted  aga ins t  them,  I  th ink  tha t  m ight  have been a t  a  

t ime when you were  suspended or  no t  there .   Then you 

came back in to  t he  o rgan isa t ion ,  you p layed a  l im i ted  ro le  

–  and we w i l l  come to  tha t  –  bu t  u l t imate ly,  there  was a  so -

ca l led  Newpin  and what  the  r i sk  commi t tee  dec ided,  o f  20 

wh ich  you were  no t  a  member,  was tha t  the  l i t iga t ion  – the  

ac t ion  shou ld  be  w i thdrawn.  

 And then,  what  we a lso  know,  and we dea l t  w i th  

th is  w i th  Mr  Mole fe ,  i s  tha t  he  then negot ia ted  w i th  Aba loz i ,  

no t  you,  and u l t imate ly  the re  was  a  se t t lement  conc luded 
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and i t  was I  th ink  a  p rocess by  Mr  S ingh.   So r i sk  

commi t tee  you a re  no t  invo l ved in ,  se t t lement  and u l t imate 

payment  you are  no t  invo lved in .   Le t  us  de t rac t  one or  two  

th ings re la t i ve  to  the  t ime tha t  you came back in to  the  

organ isa t ion  un t i l  i t  i s  dea l t  w i th  by  the  r i sk  commi t tee .  

 So cou ld  I  take  you then to  Mr  Todd ’s  a f f idav i t?   I  

want  to  …[ in tervenes]  

MR GAMA:    I s  i t  in  bund le  3?  

ADV MYBURGH:    Ja ,  i t  i s  in  bund le  3  and i f  you can go to  

page 486 to  beg in  w i th .   In  fac t  i f  I  cou ld  ask  you to  tu rn  10 

fo rward ,  you know,  he  gave more  than one a f f idav i t  dea l ing  

w i th  th is .   Cou ld  you –  jus t  g ive  me a  second p lease?  Yes,  

what  happened –  and Mr  Todd dea ls  w i th  th is  a t  page 63.   

Cou ld  you go there?  I  jus t  wan t  to  ge t  the  chrono logy 

r igh t .   You w i l l  see  tha t  a t  …[ in te rvenes]  

MR GAMA:    Page?  

ADV MYBURGH:    Page 63(e) .  

MR GAMA:    63 ,  oh  so  we are  mov ing  away f rom 

…[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH:    Ja ,  we are  go ing  to  the  beg inn ing  o f  tha t  20 

f i le .   S t i l l  bund le  3 ,  bu t  63 .   You need to  tu rn  …[ in tervenes]  

MR GAMA:    633? 

ADV MYBURGH:    63 .  

MR GAMA:    Oh,  a t  the  beg inn ing?  

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes.  
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MR GAMA:    Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  2486,  I  though you sa id  486.  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  I  was a lso  there ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Okay,  so  63 ,  paragraph (e)  he  says tha t :  

“Transnet  te rm inated the  cont rac t  w i th  GNS and  

la te r  i ssued summons to  recover  95 .5  m i l l ion  tha t  i t  

had pa id  to  GNS. ”  

And he a t taches the  summons as  annexure  8  and tha t  you 

f ind  –  perhaps I  cou ld  ask  you to  go  there ,  a t  page 142 and  10 

you w i l l  see  tha t  tha t  summons  was issued on  the  27  

October  2010.  

MR GAMA:    146?  144?  

ADV MYBURGH:    142.  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    You w i l l  see  tha t  i t  was issued on  the  27  

October  2010.    Do you see tha t?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Now,  as  I  unders tand,  you were  

suspended a t  tha t  t ime.  20 

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t .   So you d id  no t  have anyth ing  to  

do  w i th  th is ,  p resumably.   You then,  we know,  re ins ta ted  in  

2011.  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH:    Now,  i f  I  cou ld  take  you p lease to  Mr  

Todd ’s  a f f idav i t  on  GNS and to  –  t here  are  two pa ragraphs 

where  you are  imp l ica ted  and tha t  i s  parag raph 39 and 47.  

MR GAMA:    Which  a f f idav i t  now? 

ADV MYBURGH:    Paragraph 39 you f ind  a t  page 497.  

MR GAMA:    497.   

ADV MYBURGH:    So  you were  in  the  3 .3  no t ice  a l so  

re fer red  to  pa rag raphs 4  –  perhaps we shou ld  s ta r t  there ,  

parag raph 4  o f  th is  a f f idav i t .   I  am sor ry,  tha t  i s  a t  page 

486 and these are  a l l  jus t  h is to r i ca l  mat te rs ,  pa rag raph 4  10 

a t  486 he a t taches a  copy o f  the  in i t ia l  approved 

appo in tment  o f  GNS and tha t  was  s igned by  you on the  5 

December  2007.   I  take  i t  you  wou ld  agree w i th  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH:    And then in  paragraph 5  he  says :  

“Mr  Gama’s  approva l  o f  th is  appo in tment  on  

conf inement  was one o f  the  mat te rs  tha t  led  to  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  p roceed ings . ”  

We know tha t  tha t  i s  h is to ry.   And then a t  paragraph 6  he  

a t taches ce r ta in  t ranscr ip ts  and then he summar ises them 20 

a t  7 ,  tha t  i s  h is tory.   In  paragraph 8  he  ta lks  about  the  fac t  

tha t  two peop le  were  d i smissed a t  the  Kasse l  inqu i ry,  tha t  

i s  h is to ry.   And paragraph 9  he  makes the  po in t  tha t  what  

then fo l lowed were  c i v i l  p roceed ings and I  have taken you 

to  those ins t i tu ted  on  27 October  2010.  
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 So  what  I  rea l l y  want  to  do  is  then to  focus just  on  

the  o the r  two pa ragraphs ment ioned in  the  3 .3  no t ice ,  tha t  

i s  parag raphs 39  and 47 and they  re la te  to  the  t ime when  

you came back in to  the  organ isa t ion .   So i t  i s  a  b i t  o f  a  

longwinded in t roduct ion ,  bu t  do  you fo l low what  I  say ing?  

39  is  a t  page 497 ,  bund le  3 .  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t ,  thank  you,  Mr  Gama.   So a t  

parag raph 39,  497,  th is  i s  a  t ime now you are  back ing  the  

organ isa t ion  on  14 January  2013,  Mr  S iza  Mthethwa  10 

genera l  manager   Ra i l  Network  fo r  Transnet  Fre igh t  Ra i l  

add ressed a  memorandum to  Ms  –  I  am not  su re  how you  

pronounce tha t ,  Cha i rperson,  you  w i l l  g ive  me an e locut ion  

lesson,  I  am sure .   Ms Mbanda la .  

CHAIRPERSON :    A re  you look ing  a t  Ms Mband la?  

ADV MYBURGH:    Mband la .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  second l ine .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes,  the  second  l ine ,  Mband la .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  Mband la ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH:    So  on 14 January  Mthethwa addresses a  20 

memorandum to  Mband la  and cop ies  you as  the  Ch ie f  

Execut ive .   A copy o f  tha t  memorandum is  a t taches marked 

W.   A l r igh t?   Can you we jus t  have a  look a t  tha t?   You f ind  

tha t  a t  678,  the  memorandum and on the  face  o f  i t  the 

memorandum is  f rom Mr  Mthethwa i t  i s  to  Ms Mband la  and  
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i t  i s  cop ied  to  you,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Then Mr  Todd says a t  parag raph 39:  

“ I  po in t  ou t  tha t  Mr  Mthethwa had been the  f ina l  

approver  o f  the  second ex tens ion  o f  the  scope o f  

serv i ces  prov ided  by  GNS re fer red  to  ear l ie r. ”  

Do you accept  tha t ,  tha t  tha t  be  so?  

MR GAMA:    That  i s  in  annexure  what?   Annexure  O?  

Where  is  tha t  annexure?  

ADV MYBURGH:    G ive  me a  second?  Le t  me come back  10 

to  tha t ,  I  w i l l  ask  my jun io r  to  look  fo r  i t .   Bu t  do  you have 

any par t i cu la r  d i f f i cu l t y  w i th  tha t  s ta tement?  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  do  no t .  

ADV MYBURGH:    And th is  was fo r  the  appo in tment  o f  t ra in  

c rew moni to rs  and rap id  response  and then what  Mr  Todd  

seeks to  do  in  (a ) ,  (b )  and (c )  i s  to  summar ise  what  the  

memorandum says.   Do you see tha t?   He says (a )  the  

purpose o f  the  memorandum,  (b )  he  dea ls  w i th  in  the  

memorandum and then (c )  I  po in t  ou t  tha t  the  

memorandum.   Do you see tha t?  20 

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    So  the  on ly  reason tha t  you are  g iven a  

3 .3  no t ice  he re  in  re la t ion  to  th is  paragraph i s  rea l l y  s imp ly  

because you were  cop ied  on th i s  memorandum and you  

accept  you were ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  
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MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    So  le t  us  then go to  the  on ly  o ther  

parag raph tha t  you were  re fer red  to  and tha t  i s  paragraph  

47.   Now here  th ings m ight  have got  m ixed up.   47 :  

“ In  a  memorandum dated 8  October  2013 s igned by  

Mr  Gama…” 

Says on 22 October  2010,  I  th ink  tha t  shou ld  be  ’13 ,  we  

w i l l  come to  the  memo.  

“Mr  Gama sought  approva l  f rom Mr  Mole fe  fo r  TFR 

to  present  i t s  response to  the  Transnet  Group R isk  10 

Commi t tee  to  quest ions ra i sed by  the  commi t tee  in  

respect  o f  GNS/Aba loz i .   Copy o f  the  memorandum 

is  a t tached marked CC. ”  

Now tha t  you f ind  a t  page 705.  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    And you accept  tha t  tha t  i s  the  

memorandum at  705 and tha t  i t  i s  da ted  the  8  October  and  

tha t  you s igned i t  and i t  i s  jus t  inc identa l l y,  i t  i s  da ted  the  

8  October  2013,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH:    Which  shows tha t  paragraph 47 needs to  

be  amended.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja .   I  p rev ious ly  wro te  2013  next  to  

o r  above 2010.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  there  shou ld  be  a  proper  

…[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH:    We wi l l  a t tend to  tha t  l i ke  yesterday.   

A l r igh t ,  so  th is  i s  a  memorandum dated the  8  October,  as  

Mr  Todd sa id  and  i t  was s igned by  you,  as  he  says,  on  the  

22  October  and he says tha t  you  sought  approva l  f rom Mr  

Mole fe  fo r  TFR to  present  i t s  responses to  Transnet  R isk  

Commi t tee .   Now i f  you have a  look  a t  page 705:  

“The purpose o f  the  submiss ion  is  to  request  

approva l  f rom the  GCE…” 10 

That  be ing  Mr  Mole fe ,  fo r  TFR to  present  i t s  responses to  

the  Transnet  Group R isk  Commi t tee .  Would  you ag ree tha t  

the  f i rs t  sentence then o f  Mr  Todd ’s  parag raph 47  but  fo r  

the  2013 ins tead o f  2010 is  in  fac t  accu ra te?  

MR GAMA:    Bu t  can you read the  en t i re  sentence,  Mr  

Myburgh,  i t  wou ld  be  in te res t ing  to  read,  [ inaud ib le  –  

speak ing  s imul taneous ly ]  

ADV MYBURGH:    I  thought  I  had read the  en t i re  sentence.  

MR GAMA:    No read on.  

ADV MYBURGH:     20 

“To present  i t s  response to  the  Transnet  R isk  

Commi t tee  to  quest ions ra i sed by  the  commi t tee  in  

respect  o f  GNS/Aba loz i . ”  

A re  you say ing  i t  i s  m isquoted?  

MR GAMA:    No,  i t  i s  impor tan t .   No,  you on ly  wen t  up  to  
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R isk  Commi t tee  to  quest ions ra ised.  

ADV MYBURGH:    No,  fa i r  enough.  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  I  jus t  want  you to  read the  en t i re  

sentence.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Bu t  i t  s t i l l  accords  w i th  the  purpose o f  

your  memorandum.  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    I t  i s  an  accura te  quota t ion .  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    So  you do not  have any d i f f i cu l t y  w i th  10 

tha t?  

MR GAMA:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH:    And then what  Mr  Todd does ,  i s  he  

seeks then to  –  he  a t taches the  memorandum and he says:  

“The background to  th is  request ,  as  exp la ined in  the  

memorandum is  th is :  

(b )   The memorandum s ta tes  th is .  

(c )   The memorandum went  on  to  exp la in  th is .  

(d )  In  the  memorandum Mr  Gama recorded  tha t   

responses to  these quest ions had been prov ided.  20 

(e )  Aga in  he  re fe rs  to  the  memorandum and ( f )  he  says:  

“Consequent ly  Mr  Gama requested…”  

And he repeats  the  request .   Do  you have any d i f f i cu l t y  

w i th  Mr  Todd ’s  summary,  tha t  i s  a l l  he  seeks to  do ,  o f  th is  

memorandum?  I  mean,  i t  e i ther  acco rds w i th  the  
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memorandum or  i t  does not .  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  I  go t  a  number  o f  d i f f i cu l t ies .  

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t ,  so  in  what  respect  i s  h is  

summary wrong?  

MR GAMA:    So can we s tar t  w i th  –  you sa id  tha t  Mr  

Mthethwa wr i tes  a  memo on the  8  October  o r  i t  i s  da ted  the  

8  October.  

ADV MYBURGH:    R igh t?  

MR GAMA:    And he s igns i t  on  the  8  October.   

ADV MYBURGH:    R igh t?  10 

MR GAMA:    I  then recommend the  memo on  the  22  

October.  

ADV MYBURGH:    That  seems cor rec t ,  yes .  

MR GAMA:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Ja .  

MR GAMA:    I  th ink  i t  has  been read in to  the  reco rd .  

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes.  

MR GAMA:    So  Mr  Mthethwa compi les  the  repor t .  

ADV MYBURGH:    R igh t .  

MR GAMA:    And i t  i s  what  i s  ca l led  an  accompany ing  20 

memo.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Fa i r  enough.  

MR GAMA:    Mr  Mthethwa cannot  wr i te  to  the  GCE.  

ADV MYBURGH:    So ,  in  o the r  words,  he  wro te  i t ,  no t  you,  

i f  tha t  i s  what  you are  say ing?  
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MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    A l r igh t ,  fa i r  enough.  

MR GAMA:    So  Mr  Mthethwa wr i tes  the  memo and  he says 

I  am wr i t ing  the  memo.  

ADV MYBURGH:    R igh t .  

MR GAMA:    And he says i t  i s  because the  Group R isk  

Commi t tee  has asked me –  has ra ised ce r ta in  ques t ions in  

a  meet ing  so  I  am now wr i t ing  th is  –  I  now have th is  

p resenta t ion  tha t  I  w ish  to  make.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes.  10 

MR GAMA:    To  the  Group R isk  Commi t tee  as  a  resu l t  o f  

the i r  quest ions and i t  i s  Mr  Mthethwa a l l  the  way,  he  wr i tes  

th is  th ing .  

ADV MYBURGH:    So ,  in  o ther  words,  what  you are  say ing 

is  tha t  Mr  Todd a t t r ibu tes  you to  be ing  the  au tho r  o f  the 

memorandum but  i t  i s  ac tua l l y  Mr  Mthethwa and tha t  has a  

ser ies  o f  knock-on er rors ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR GAMA:    Yes and there  he  has a  se r ies  o f  th ings  where  

he  says Mr  Gama then …[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH:    Ins tead o f  Mr  Mthethwa?  20 

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  everywhere  where  he  put  Mr  Gama i t  

shou ld  be  Mr  Mthethwa.  

ADV MYBURGH:    Wel l ,  …[ in te rvenes]  

MR GAMA:    He  knows who the  au thor  i s .   I f  he  says Mr  

Gama recorded tha t  the  responses to  the  quest ions have 
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been p rov ided to  the  Group Execut ive  Ms Mband la  on  3  

October.   I  d id  no t ,  on  3  October  I  was cop ied  a  memo 

between Mr  Mthe thwa and Ms Mband la  and Mr  Mthethwa 

cou ld  no t  wr i te  to  the  Group Execut ive  d i rec t l y  w i thout  

…[ in tervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes bu t  …[ in tervenes]  

MR GAMA:    …le t t ing  h is  Ch ie f  Execut ive  be  aware  tha t  

…[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH:    Bu t ,  Mr  Gama,  i t  i s  a  s imp le  er ro r,  I  

mean …[ in tervenes]  10 

MR GAMA:    I t  i s  no t  a  s imp le  er ro r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    A re  we ta lk ing  about  –  I  am sor ry,  a re  

we ta lk ing  about  the  memo a t  page  705 to  706? 

ADV MYBURGH:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    And Mr  Gama is  po in t ing  ou t ,  

Cha i rperson,  tha t  i f  you  look  a t  706 i t  i s  compi led  by  -  in  

o ther  words,  i t  i s  wr i t ten  by  Mr  Mthethwa.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    I t  i s  then recommended by  Mr  Gama.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:    I t  seems tha t  the  cont roversy  i s  tha t  

when Mr  Todd summar i ses the  memorandum,  he  is  say ing  

th is  i s  Mr  Gama who sa id  (a ) ,  (b )  and (c ) .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH:    Whereas he shou ld  have sa id  tha t  i t  i s  

Mr  Mthethwa who  had sa id  (a ) ,  (b )  and (c ) .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  I  th ink  th is  is  one o f  the  issues I  was 

ra is ing  there  w i th  counse l  fo r  Mr  Gama to  say I  was not  

sure  what  the  issue was.   So bas ica l l y  your  compla in t  

about  what  Mr  Todd sa id  about  th is  memo is  tha t  he  

rep resents  i t  as  i f  you  were  the  au tho r.  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  you are  say ing  a l though your  

s ignature  does appear  on  the  memo,  as  fa r  as  you are  10 

concerned,  the  au thor  i s  the  compl ie r,  namely  Mr  

Mthethwa.  

MR GAMA:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   So tha t  is  the  po in t  you seek to  

make.  

MR GAMA:    Yes  bu t  the  in fe rence is  –  tha t  a re  then made 

as  a  resu l t  o f  tha t  and i t  goes onto  the  reco rd  tha t  he  

makes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR GAMA:    Where  the  in fe rences tha t  Mr  Gama is  now 20 

t ry ing  to  i n f luence someth ing  about  Aba loz i  when  in  fac t  I  

am not  even in  the  p layground,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  le t  us  ge t  th is  c lear.   Whi le  on  page  

706 there  is  no th ing  tha t  exp ress ly  says wr i t ten  by,  so  the  

au thor  i s  so  and so ,  I  mean express ly,  there  is  no th ing  tha t  
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…[ in te rvenes]  

MR GAMA:    I t  says  compi led  by.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  says  compi led  by  and then i t  i s  

compi led  by  S iza  Mthethwa.  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Genera l  Manager  Ra i l  Network .   And 

then be low tha t  i t  says  recommended by  S iyabonga Gama,  

TFR Chie f  Execut ive  and you s ign .   A l though you have tha t  

on  page 706,  on  page 705 the  memo represents  to  Mr  Br ian  

Mole fe  and whoever  sees tha t  page,  sees the  page 1  o f  10 

tha t  memo,  as  the  memo coming f rom you go ing  to  Mr 

Mole fe .  

MR GAMA:    Yes because …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  i s  what  appears .  

MR GAMA:    Yes  because a l l  o f  the  memos tha t  wou ld  go  

Group Ch ie f  Execut ive ,  they have  to  come f rom h is  d i rec t  

repor t  because o therwise  you w i l l  ge t  everybody  in  the  

organ isa t ion  wr i t ing  to  the  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  accept  tha t  in  te rms o f  p ro toco l  

whatever  a r rangements ,  I  accept  tha t .  20 

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  the  quest i on  tha t  a r ises  f rom my 

mind is  anyone who never  sees the  second page  o f  the  

memo,  tha t  i s  what  page 70 seeks  here ,  who jus t  sees the  

f i rs t  page,  the  face  o f  the  memo,  wou ld  be  cor rec t  to  say 
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th is  i s  a  memo f rom Mr  Gama to  Mr  Mole fe ,  I  th ink  we  

wou ld  be  agreed on tha t ,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  i f  they  on ly  saw tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I f  they  on ly  saw tha t  page ja ,  bu t  i f  they  

saw both  pages  they wou ld  see tha t  the  memo was 

compi led  by  Mr  Mthethwa and tha t  you were  recommending  

whatever  Mr  Mthe thwa had sa id  in  the  memo.  

MR GAMA:   Correc t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And you were  recommending i t  to  Mr 

Mole fe .  10 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   Now,  so  –  so  wou ld  we –  wou ld  you  

agree tha t  the  one page,  the  f i rs t  page,  g ives  one the  

impress ion  tha t  i t  i s  you r  memo? 

MR GAMA:  That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   But  our  po in t  i s  when both  pages 

are  looked a t  one  shou ld  say –  one shou ld  no t  say  tha t  the  

memo comes f rom you.    

MR GAMA:   H’m.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  the  memo comes f rom you  even i f  20 

you look a t  the  second page,  you  s imp ly  say,  I  th ink  your  

po in t  you want  to  s imp ly  say the  ideas in  the  memo d id  no t  

o r ig ina te  f rom you.  

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  once they were  p laced befo re  you,  
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you  had no p rob lem embrac ing  them? 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  fa i r?  

MR GAMA:   That  i s  fa i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t ,  okay.  

MR GAMA:   And Cha i r  jus t  to  add  to  tha t ,  a t  parag raph 47 

Mr  Todd i s  a l i ve  to  the  fac t  tha t  the  memo is  p repared and  

compi led  by  Mr  Mthethwa and s igned by  h im on the  8 t h  o f  

October,  where  he  a lso  says,  and we agreed tha t  i s  a  typo,  

and then he says i t  i s  s igned by  Mr  Gama on the  22n d  o f  10 

October,  so  he  knows both  o f  these th ings.   So he  is  a l i ve  

to  i t ,  so  he  has no t  jus t  read the  cover ing  pages,  he  a lso  

read the  second page.  

COURT:   Yes,  bu t  I  jus t  want  to  say –  we l l  I  haven ’ t  looked  

more  c lose ly  to  what  i s  –  to  wha t  i s  on  th is  page  and the  

o ther  pages,  bu t  my impress ion  is  tha t  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  i t  

may be sa id  tha t  i f  he  sa id  i t  was  a  memo f rom you to  Mr  

Mole fe  i t  wou ld  seem to  me to  tha t  i f  tha t  sough t  was a  

m is take i t  shou ld  be  unders tandab le  in  the  contex t  o f  what  

we have jus t  po in ted  out .   Would  you take  issue w i th  tha t?  20 

MR GAMA:    I f  you say . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  you might  want  to  say . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   I t  wou ld  be  unders tandab le  i f  Mr  Todd  was not  

seek ing  to  make in fe rence.  

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m,  h ’m.  
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MR GAMA:   He makes in fe rences  in  c i r cumstances  where  

he  is  ve ry  c lear,  and he says i t  h imse l f ,  on  pa ragraph 47 

where  he  s ta r t s ,  to  say Mr  Mthethwa addressed th is  and in  

any event  there  i s  no th ing  in  the  memo i t se l f  tha t  ta lks  to  

anyth ing ,  i t  i s  jus t  a  cover ing  memo.   The memo says 

background,  we  have been asked by  the  Board  R isk  

Commi t tee  to  ta lk  about  GNS,  we requested in  January  

2013 to  ta lk  about  cos ts ,  subsequent  to  tha t  the  R isk  

Commi t tee  wants  to  asce r ta in  cer ta in  i ssues ,  KPI ’s ,  

e tce te ra ,  e tce te ra ,  and then a f te r  he  has f in ished tha t  10 

background he then says the  d i scuss ion  I  am t ry ing  to  

b r ing  th is  mat te r  to  f ina l i t y,  because secur i t y  res ides w i th in  

my area,  and I  wou ld  l i ke  to  go  and exp la in  to  the  

commi t tee  the  background to  the  prob lem so tha t  we can  

so l ve  the  issue re la ted  to  spec ia l i sed  secur i t y  se rv i ces  and  

then i t  c loses,  and then i t  says  recommended but  you see  

. . . [ ind is t inc t  –  aud io  d is to r ted ]  the  request  tha t  we address 

the  R isk  Commi t tee ,  so  he  sends i t  to  me,  I  recommend i t ,  

then i t  i s  up  to  the  GCE to  then make su re  tha t  i t  ge ts  on to  

the  R isk  Commi t tee  pack.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR GAMA:   At  the i r  request ,  bu t  here  th is  i s  be ing  sa id  by  

Mr  Todd in  c i r cumstances where  h is  on l y  reason fo r  say ing  

i t  in  the  manner  in  wh ich  he  says i t ,  i t  i s  because he wants  

to  say tha t  I  was now t ry ing  to  in f luence the  Aba los i  
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se t t lement  and i t  was not  my space,  I  was not  there ,  I  was  

not  in  tha t  f ie ld .   Th is  i s  a  mat te r  wh ich  was be ing  dea l t  

w i th  by  the  Group Lega l  and Group R isk  peop le .   A l l  I  was 

do ing  here  was to  recommend the  memo so tha t  the  work  

tha t  they wanted to  do  can be done.  

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m.  

MR GAMA:   Of  course  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  course  i t  i s  t rue  tha t  when  you  

recommend someth ing  tha t  o r ig ina tes  f rom somebody e lse  

you –  o ther  than to  say i t  d id  no t  o r ig ina te  f rom you,  10 

o therwise  i f  there  i s  someth ing  bad about  the  con tent ,  the 

suggest ions or  the  po in t s  you can a lso  be  cr i t i c i sed fo r  

tha t ,  because you embraced the  contents  bu t  tha t  i s  apar t  

f rom say ing  look  I  d idn ’ t  o r ig ina te  these ideas tha t  came 

f rom somebody e l se .  

MR GAMA:   This  one Cha i r  i s  no t  one o f  those memo’s  

wh ich  have the  content  in  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR GAMA:   This  i s  one o f  those  memo’s  tha t  says I  have 

rep resenta t ion  to  make,  i t  i s  a t tached and a l l  I  need f rom 20 

you is  to  be  aware  tha t  I  am go ing  to  be  making  a  

presenta t ion ,  and  i t  i s  no t  one o f  those where  you then say 

-   ja ,  i t  i s  jus t  a  cover  memo and i t  i s  a l l  i t  i s ,  i t  i s  a l l  o f  

two pages long.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  okay.  
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MR GAMA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And perhaps jus t  go ing  fo rward ,  and 

we know you were  no t  invo lved  in  the  r i sk  commi t tee ’s  

dec is ion  to  w i thd raw the  l i t iga t ion  aga ins t  Aba los i  d id  you  

come to  learn  in  t ime o f  the  te rms o f  the  se t t lement  w i th  

Aba los i  the  R20mi l l ion  payment?  

MR GAMA:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You have no ins igh t?  

MR GAMA:    No I  have no ins igh t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    In to  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Gama cou ld  I  then take  you to  

your  open ing  address.  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Your  open ing  address.  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Do you  have i t  w i th  you?  The  

wr i t ten  document?  

MR GAMA:    Yes i t  i s  in  my bag,  le t  me . . .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Th is  bund le  can  be taken away?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  th ink  so  DCJ.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  okay.  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  I  wan t  to  jus t  dea l  w i th  the  
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compla in t s  tha t  you make aga ins t  the  Transnet  Lega l  –  

Transnet  S t ream Lega l  Team,  le t  me say tha t  any  

compla in t s  tha t  a re  ra i sed by  someone in  your  pos i t ion  are  

obv ious ly  taken very  ser ious ly.   I  want  to  jus t  dea l  w i th  

th ree  th ings tha t  fa l l  w i th in  my watch ,  and I  want  to  s ta r t  

w i th  pa ragraph 2 .3 .    You are  r igh t  tha t  you were  no t  

p rov ided w i th  a  Ru le  3 .3  Not ice  or  the  A f f idav i t  o f  Mr  

Mkhwanaz i  and Mr  Mhlangu[? ]  a t  the  t ime,  and the  reason  

why you were  no t  i s  because you are  no t  an  imp l ica ted  

par t y  in  your  re ins ta tement .    Mr  Mkhwanaz i ’s  a f f idav i t  10 

dea ls  w i th  why d id  the  Board  dec ide  to  re ins ta te  you and 

tha t  i s  the  focus o f  our  invest iga t ion .   The same app l ies  to  

Mr  Mhlangu,  you have in  t ime then rece ived  those 

a f f idav i t s ,  bu t  tha t  i s  why you d id  no t  rece ive  them a t  the  

t ime.    In  fac t  you rece ived Mr  Todd ’s  a f f idav i t ,  the  in i t ia l  

a f f idav i t  dea l ing  w i th  your  re ins ta tement  bu t  you rece ived i t  

because he re fe r red  to  GNS tw ice ,  so  when you were  g iven  

Mr  Todd ’s  a f f idav i t  i t  was not  g iven because you were  an 

imp l ica ted  par ty  i n  your  re ins ta tement ,  so  I  hope tha t  tha t  

c la r i f ies  tha t  i ssue.  20 

 Then a t  2 .6  and 3 .1  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:    Sor ry  be fore  you move o f f  there ,  Mr  Todd was 

a t  th is  Commiss ion  approx imate ly  the  10 t h  to  16 t h  o f  

October,  p resent ing  ev idence.    I  never  rece ived anyth ing  

about  Mr  Todd,  I  was jus t  to ld  tha t  there  is  somebody on 
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te lev is ion  ta lk ing  about  you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  I  can  on ly  dea l  now 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:    I  on ly  rece ived i t  on  the  28 t h  o f  October  when 

I  wro te  to  the  Commiss ion  and I  sa id  I  have now seen tha t  

Mr  Todd has been ta lk ing  about  me,  can I  p lease have – I  

rece ived i t  two weeks now.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  le t  me –  I  w i l l  i nvest i ga te  tha t  

and I  w i l l  come back to  you when we resume,  bu t  I  am 

dea l ing  now wi th  parag raph 23,  he re  you don ’ t  dea l  w i th  Mr  10 

Todd.   A t  paragraph 2 .6  and 3 .1  you say you d id  no t  ge t  

the  Fundudz i  Repor t  and 3 .2  you say there  is  seven 

documents  tha t  were  d i scovered la te ,  bu t  you wou ld  accept  

tha t  u l t imate ly  the  par t ies  have  reached agreement  tha t  

your  ev idence is  de fer red  in  tha t  regard ,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR GAMA:    Abso lu te ly  Mr  Myburgh,  I  th ink  I  d id  say,  and I  

a lso  sa id  to  Cha i r  tha t  o f  la te  there  has been a  huge 

improvement  and  we are  ab le  to  coopera te  and to  rece ive  

documents  and where  we have not  rece ived them we have  

been ab le  to  de fe r  and I  th ink  as  a  resu l t  o f  tha t  we  w i l l  be 20 

f i l i ng  a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  by  the  19 t h  o f  March,  tha t  i s  

the  agreement  tha t  we reached w i th  your  consent .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  a lso  jus t  want  to  make ment ion  o f  

the  Fundudz i  Repor t ,  tha t  was a  repor t  tha t  was in t roduced  

very  ear l y  on  in  the  Commiss ion  and 3 [3 ] ’s  were  no t  i ssued  
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in  re la t ion  to  i t  and i t  i s  rea l l y  in  t ha t  contex t  tha t  i t  has  no t  

been g iven to  you before  and was produced in  the  run-up  

to  th is  hear ing .   So tha t  then remains  fo r  me to  dea l  w i th  

your  d ia ry  and th is  i s  someth ing  tha t  perhaps requ i res  

more  work  and maybe even . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am so r ry  Mr  Myburgh,  I  cannot  

remember  every th ing  c lear l y  about  the  Fundudz i  Repor t  

and o the r  repor ts  such as  M &  S  Repor ts  wh ich  have been 

rece ived by  the  Commiss ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  i t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  a t  tha t  s tage the  

th ink ing  m ight  have been tha t  the  Fundudz i  Repor t  o r  the  

invest iga to rs  who were  conduct ing  the  invest iga t ion  tha t  

resu l ted  in  the  Fundudz i  Repor t  wou ld  have –  were  thought  

to  have a f fo rded  a f fec ted  par t ies  the  oppor tun i ty  to  dea l  

w i th  mat te rs  tha t  ended up in  the  repor ts  so  i t  i s  poss ib le  

tha t  the  th ink ing  m ight  have been we l l  those who  

conducted tha t  invest iga t ion  wou ld  have a f fo rded  those  

peop le  a f fec ted  by  the  Fundudz i  Repor t  the  oppor tun i ty  to  

comment  on  the  mat te rs  tha t  the  repor t  dea l t  w i th  and the 20 

peop le  wou ld  have known about  those f ind ings,  so  there  

m ight  have been tha t ,  un l i ke  a  s i tua t ion  where  a l legat ions  

are  made fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime.    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then the  f ina l  th ing  I  wanted to  

dea l  w i th  Mr  Gama . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON:    I  am so r ry,  Mr  O ldwadge d id  you want  to  

say someth ing?  

ADV OLDWADGE:   I  do  indeed Mr  Cha i r,  and I  w i l l  be  very  

br ie f .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV OLD WADGE:   I  am not  go ing  to  accept  that  

exp lanat ion  and what  i s  be ing  pu t  to  my c l ien t ,  s imp ly  fo r  

th is  reason,  th is  repor t  was dated 2018,  i t  has  come to  our  

a t ten t ion  tha t  some o f  the  imp l ica ted  par t ies  in  th is  repor t ,  

you f ind  i t  on  the  ve ry  f i rs t  page  o f  th is  repor t ,  and our  10 

c l ien t  seems to  be  one o f  the  imp l ica ted  pa r t ies .   A number  

o f  these o ther  imp l ica ted  pa r t ies  were  in te rv iewed in  

re la t ion  to  th is  invest iga t ion  and  dur ing  th is  invest iga t ion  

so  i t  must  have been w i th in  the  contempla t ion  o f  th is  lega l  

team for  some t ime.    Our  c l ien t ’s  compla in t  as  per   h i s  

open ing  s ta tement  i s  s imp ly  th is ,  you he ld  back  on  th is  

repor t ,  you knew I  was an imp l ica ted  par ty,  I  was never  

in te rv iewed in  th is  p rocess,  ye t  –  and th i s  i s  the  contex t  

ye t  aga in  –  I  am expected to  dea l  in  de ta i l  w i th  

in te r rogato r ies  posed to  me in  re la t ion  to  the  locomot ives  20 

issue when in  t ru th  you knew a l l  a long tha t  th is  was a  

document  tha t  I  ought  to  cons ide r  fo r  tha t  very  purpose.     

 I t  i s  in  tha t  contex t  tha t  Mr  Gama says 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no .  
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ADV OLDWAGE:   . . . th is  i s  no t  accepted.  

CHAIRPERSON:    No tha t  –  as  I  sa id  I  cannot  remember  

c lea r ly  whether  the  th ink ing  tha t  I  ment ioned might  have 

been the  th ink ing  what  wou ld  be  necessary  wou ld  be  fo r  

somebody to  go  back and check what  happened,  because i f  

fo r  example  o ther  peop le  were  a f fo rded then i t  wou ld  

requ i re  a  d i f fe ren t  exp lanat ion  bu t  I  th ink  what  i s  a lso  good 

is  tha t  in  the  end when tha t  was po in ted  out  an  

ar rangement  has  been made wh ich  w i l l  a l low Mr  Gama an 

oppor tun i ty  to  dea l  w i th  the  mat te r  p roper ly.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Just  to  po in t  ou t  someth ing ,  Mr  

Gama was in  fac t  in te rv iewed by  Fundudz i  bu t  Cha i rpe rson  

I  make no excuses fo r  th i s ,  th is  i s  someth ing  tha t  shou ld  

have been done  ear l ie r,  we accept  tha t .   When  i t  was 

brought  our  a t ten t ion  we came to  the  agreement  tha t  we 

d id ,  we have ident i f ied  a  much more  l im i ted  t ranche o f  

pages tha t  we wou ld  l i ke  Mr  Gama to  dea l  w i th  and we  

don ’ t  even expec t  h im to  pu t  up  an  a f f idav i t ,  we asked h im 

i f  he  chooses –  we inv i ted  h im to  dea l  w i th  them and he  

can dea l  w i th  them to  the  ex ten t  tha t  he  i s  imp l ica ted  and i f  20 

he  chooses to  do  so .   We are  no t  ask ing  h im fo r  a  10 .6  

a f f idav i t ,  we a re  s imp ly  ask ing  h im tha t  p repare  yourse l f  

we wou ld  l i ke  to  dea l  w i th  tha t  in  due course .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then f ina l l y  in  re la t ion  to  th is  
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d ia ry  Mr  Gama I  t r ied  to  b roker  a  d iscuss ion  be tween your  

lega l  team and my invest iga tors  so  tha t  some 

unders tand ing  is  shared on what  we have g iven you here  

e lec t ron i ca l l y  and we have not .    A re  you comfor tab le  tha t  

th is  i ssue can be  reso lved or  i s  i t  someth ing  tha t  we need  

to  dea l  w i th  fu r ther  on?  

MR GAMA:    No,  no  I  suspect  tha t  i t  i s  an  issue tha t  can be  

reso lved,  we w i l l  ge t  the  IT teams to  look  a t  i t  aga in  and I  

th ink  there  is  some unders tand ing  tha t  i t  may perhaps be 

reso lved and tha t  wou ld  ass i s t  us .   So we jus t  need to  10 

make sure  tha t  i s  i t  in  fac t  reso lved and I  th ink  i f  i t  i s  then  

we a re  f ine ,  bu t  I  th ink  there  are  a t tempts  by  bo th  s ides.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  the  long and the  shor t  o f  th is  and  

i f  necessary  we  can put  up  an  a f f idav i t  and  exp la in  

every th ing ,  bu t  we have made over  a  lo t  o f  e lec t ron ic  da ta ,  

in  fac t  there  was  so  much tha t  Mr  Ben jamin  saved i t  on  a  

f lash  d i sc  and hand de l i vered i t  to  Br ian  Khan A t to rneys.   

We accept  tha t  we hadn ’ t  been ab le  to  p rov ide  Mr  Gama 

wi th  the  Microsof t  Out look pages tha t  we are  a l l  used to ,  

bu t  we have g iven h im the  under l y ing  da ta  and we  I  th ink  20 

are  in  a  pos i t ion  to  be  ab le  to  use  tha t  so  tha t  we can he lp  

h im rec reate  the  d ia ry,  and tha t  is  someth ing  tha t  I  th ink  

bo th  par t ies  a re  commi t ted  to .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  no  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cha i rperson I  ment ioned  a t  the  
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ou tse t  tha t  we in tend to  r ing  fence  a l l  i ssues in  re la t ion  to  

the  locomot ives  and the  t ransact ion  adv isors .   There  is  

on ly  one th ing  o ther  than tha t ,  tha t  I  in tend as  th ings s tand  

to  dea l  w i th  next  t ime when we reconvene and tha t  re la tes  

to  the  t ransact ion  invo l v ing  Nkonk i ,  bu t  apar t  f rom tha t  I  

have no fu r ther  quest ions today.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay no,  tha t  i s  f ine .  I  th ink  we w i l l  

ad journ  fo r  the  day because I  th ink  we have a  common 

unders tand ing  tha t  whatever  re -examinat ion  maybe des i red  

can be dea l t  w i th  when Mr  Gama has g iven  a l l  th is  10 

ev idence,  so  I  thank eve rybody fo r  a l l  the i r  coopera t ion ,  a l l  

your  coopera t ion  fo r  us  to  work  t i l l  th is  t ime.  

 We wi l l  ad jou rn ,  thank you Mr  Gama,  we w i l l  

ad journ  and then  a  new date  w i l l  be  de termined fo r  you to  

come back.  

MR GAMA:   Thank you very  much  Mr  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    We ad journ .  

REGISTRAR:   Al l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 12 MARCH 2021     
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